

VU Research Portal

Which factors drive training of standing balance in older adults?

Alizadehsaravi, Leila

2021

document version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication in VU Research Portal

citation for published version (APA) Alizadehsaravi, L. (2021). Which factors drive training of standing balance in older adults?.

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

E-mail address: vuresearchportal.ub@vu.nl

Which factors drive training of standing balance in older adults?



Leila Alizadehsaravi

ABSTRACT

In many countries, aging of the population and increasing medical problems due to aging lead to increasing fall incidents. Increased medical costs and reduced life quality of a portion of the population are the side effects of this problem. Balance training is one of the most effective means to prevent falls among the older adults, but the mechanisms behind it are largely unknown, and this precludes optimization of balance training. The main accomplishment of this thesis is to improve our insight into the mechanisms underlying effective balance control and training, considering neuromuscular and biomechanical factors.

Which factors drive training of standing balance in older adults?

Leila Alizadehsaravi

The research was funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 721577.



© Alberto Giacometti Estate / Pictoright Amsterdam 2021.

VRIJE UNIVERSITEIT

WHICH FACTORS DRIVE TRAINING OF STANDING BALANCE IN OLDER ADULTS?

ACADEMISCH PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad Doctor of Philosophy aan de Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, op gezag van de rector magnificus prof.dr. V. Subramaniam, in het openbaar te verdedigen ten overstaan van de promotiecommissie van de Faculteit der Gedrags- en Bewegingswetenschappen op maandag 10 mei 2021 om 9.45 uur in de aula van de universiteit, De Boelelaan 1105

door

Leila Alizadehsaravi

geboren te Sary, Iran

promotor: copromotor: prof.dr. J.H. van Dieën dr. S.M. Bruijn

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1	
The mystery of balance control in older adults	9
Balance control	
Environmental challenges	
Balance training	
Mechanisms underlying improved balance control	
Main questions	
Outline	
Chapter 2	17
Modulation of soleus muscle H-reflexes and ankle musc	les co-contraction with
surface compliance during unipedal balancing in young a	and older adults17
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Participants	
Instruments and data recordings	
Experimental procedures	
Data analysis and statistics	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Balance performance	
Soleus H-reflex excitability	
Co-contraction	
Discussion	
Limitations of the current study	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgments	
Chapter 3	35
The underlying mechanisms of improved balance after	one and ten sessions of
balance training in older adults	35

Introduction	
Methods	
Participants	
Experimental procedures	4
Data analysis	4
Statistics	4
Results	
Balance robustness	4
Balance performance	4
Duration of Co-contraction	4
Reflexes	4
Associations of balance robustness with co-contraction and reflexes	5
Associations of balance performance with co-contraction and reflexes	5
Discussion	
Limitations	5
Perspective	5
hapter 4	5
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan	ce in older adult
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan	ce in older adult 50
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract	ce in older adult 50
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract Introduction	ce in older adult 50 5
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract Introduction	ce in older adult 50 51 51
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract Introduction Data analysis	ce in older adult 50 57 57 58 59
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract Introduction Data analysis Statistics	ce in older adult 50 57 57 59
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract Introduction Methods Data analysis Statistics Results	ce in older adult 50 57 57 57 57
Abstract	ce in older adult 50 51 51 51 51 6 6 6
Abstract	ce in older adult 50 51 51 51 51 6 6 6
Abstract Abstract Introduction Methods Data analysis Statistics Balance performance. Muscle Synergies. Discussion.	ce in older adult 50 51 51 51 51 6 6 6 6
Abstract	ce in older adult 5(5) 5(5) 5(5) 5(
alance training improves feedback control of perturbed balan Abstract	ce in older adult 50 51 51 51 6 6 6 6 6

Neuromuscular control of gait stability in older adults is adapted to environmental demands but not improved after standing balance training74

Methods	
Participants	
Experimental procedures	
Instrumentation and data acquisition	
Data analysis	
Statistics	
Results	
Gait performance	
Muscle synergies	
D1	95
D1scuss10n	
Discussion	
Acknowledgment	
Acknowledgment Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion	
Acknowledgment Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary	
Acknowledgment Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes	
Acknowledgment Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction	87
Acknowledgment Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction Muscle synergies and balance strategy	87
Acknowledgment. Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction Muscle synergies and balance strategy Other mechanisms	87
Acknowledgment. Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction Muscle synergies and balance strategy Other mechanisms Implication for clinical practice.	87 88 88 88 88 89
Acknowledgment. Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction Muscle synergies and balance strategy Other mechanisms Implication for clinical practice. Supplementary material; chapter 2	87 88 88 88 89 92 93 93 93 93 93 93
Acknowledgment. Chapter 6 Summary and General Discussion Summary Reflexes Co-contraction Muscle synergies and balance strategy Other mechanisms Implication for clinical practice. Supplementary material; chapter 2	87 88 88 88 89 92 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93

Chapter 1

The mystery of balance control in older adults

Balance Control



Closed-loop balance control system ¹

Balance control

Human babies learn to move from one place to another to explore their surroundings and their potential in these new places. As such, they discover new possibilities ². In the beginning, locomotion is difficult, and obstacles, including a limiting knowledge of one's own body (i.e., limb masses and inertias), make moving around challenging ³. The learning process often starts with crawling, progresses via learning to stand upright with, and later without support and making supported steps, finally resulting in independent walking. The first steps challenge the baby, particularly in the single support stance phases of walking. Therefore they show shorter steps, prolonged double support, and a shorter swing time ⁴. From 2 to 6 years of age, there is a rapid development of balance control ⁵. Strength and coordination, along with cognitive function, develop during these years, and it takes at least seven years to perfect balance control strategies to reach levels as seen in mature adults ⁶. As walking becomes easier over the years, a child learns many more dynamic motors skills, such as running, climbing, and turning. One core skill required for all of these movements is balance control.

Balance control might seem an automated process, but it requires continuous effort for humans to stabilize upright postures. Balance control is proper when one can maintain a posture and resist challenges, which might lead to a loss of balance ⁷. Balance loss occurs when the body center of mass exceeds and cannot be returned within the stability limits defined by the base of support ^{1,8,9}. Balance functions as a closed-loop system; sensory information from visual, vestibular, and somatosensory receptors are integrated in the central nervous system, which then generates efferent motor control commands ¹⁰. Motor commands activate the muscles, which in turn correct movements, leading to new information from the sensory systems being fed back to the central nervous system ¹⁰. Thus, balance control strategy in neural centers, controlling muscles' activations in the legs, trunk, and arms. Therefore, the effectiveness of balance control depends on several factors, such as visual, vestibular, proprioceptive acuity, muscle strength, joint mobility, and fast and adequate neural processing.

Balance control continuously evolves until we slowly start to lose it. Balance control is negatively affected by aging and several diseases ^{11–16}. With aging, sensory (visual, vestibular, proprioceptive, and exteroceptive sensitivity), motor (number of motor units and muscle fibers), and central nervous system (white and grey matters) functions all degrade, which leads to impaired balance control, and as a result, increases the probability of falling ^{1,17–20}.

Thanks to adequate facilities and health care in developed countries, the older population is increasing in size, and by 2050, 40% of the EU population will be older than 55 years ¹⁷. Falls

of older adults constitute one of the leading health concerns. A sharp increase in the relative and absolute number of old and very old adults leads to an epidemic of falls with large societal costs ²¹. Also, experiencing falls leads to fear of falling and avoiding physical activity, negatively impacting older adults' independence and quality of life ¹. In brief, to "Keep Control", older adults need to stay active and balanced. Understanding how balance control works, how it changes as we age, and how age-related consequences can be prevented will help older adults and their associates.

Environmental challenges

As we age, we may gradually adapt to the declining function of our organ systems. Looking at balance control as an adaptive closed-loop control system, as the system ages, it may learn to adapt to the involved organs' malfunctioning. This may be why older adults with sensory-motor degradation can still control balance in less challenging situations and reasonably known environments. However, this adaptation may not be flawless. Problems may arise when there is a change in the environment, and the control is not robust or responsive enough to deal with this. Then, a fall may occur before the system can adapt itself to fit this new condition. Some examples of such challenges could be inadequate lighting, slippery or compliant surfaces (icy surfaces, sand, or carpets), unevenness of the surface (tree roots or broken-up pavement), foot placement constraints (holes or puddles), and support surface accelerations (on busses or trains) ^{22,23}.

Adaptations in balance control to environmental demands can be seen in sensory weighting. This is, the process by which sensory sources are integrated in a way that those sources most likely to contain the most accurate information, obtain higher importance ²⁴. Reweighting of information can be used to adapt to changing circumstances. For example, when walking on a compliant surface, the stance foot can be tilted while the body is oriented vertically. This implies that there is no direct association between ankle proprioception and balance control. In such conditions, vestibular and visual information are upweighted relative to proprioceptive information ²⁵. Older adults weigh visual input highest ^{11,26} and weigh proprioceptive input higher than vestibular input ²⁷. This may reflect differences between age groups in challenge experienced in the same task given differences in quality of the balance control system, but may also reflect more pronounced age-related degradation of the vestibular and proprioceptive systems compared to the visual system.

Sensorimotor processing for balance control was commonly thought to be executed predominantly at subcortical levels, with an important role of spinal cord circuits, based on animal studies ²⁸. However, even simple balance tasks require intensive cortical involvement ^{29–}

³¹. With increasing challenges, a shift from spinal to supraspinal control has been suggested ³². When challenged, young adults increase transmission of proprioceptive inputs to cortex ³³, and their H-reflex, a marker of spinal feedback gain, is down-modulated ³⁴. Probably because of higher relative demands in the same task, older adults appear to rely more on corticospinal inputs for balance control than young adults ³¹. For example, older adults were found to use higher prefrontal cortex activity compared to young adults even when performing a task at the same difficulty relative to age-related maximum capacity ^{35,36}, and older adults show lower H-reflexes ³⁴. Older adults, however, do not seem to show adaptation of their H-reflexes with an increase in balance challenge ³⁴, possibly reflecting that further down-modulation is not possible.

Adaptation to environmental challenges has also been observed in the tuning of muscle synergies. The central nervous system is assumed to simplify motor control and, as such, balance control, by reducing the dimensionality of its motor output in muscle synergies ³⁷. Such synergies can be estimated by decomposition of the activity of a number of muscles into a lower number of synergies consisting of an activation profile, reflecting the temporal pattern of activation of the synergy, and weighting factors, reflecting the extent to which the muscles are activated by the synergy ^{38,39}. In young adults, walking on an uneven surface or facing unpredictable perturbations widened activation profiles, which was assumed to increase robustness ^{40,41}. Aging appears to coincide with less consistent muscle synergies ⁴². The literature on muscle synergies in older adults in relation to balance control is missing, but given the fact that the same task would be more challenging for older adults, we may expect to see wider activation profiles in older compared to young adults ^{43,44}.

In addition, when confronting balance challenges, individuals tend to stiffen their joints by increasing co-contraction of antagonistic muscles ⁴⁵. This has been observed specifically around the ankle joints ^{46,47}, which play a key role in balance control in standing and walking ^{48–51}. While both young and older adults may increase co-contraction when facing balance challenges, in the same task, older adults were found to use more co-contraction than younger adults, possibly because the task is more challenging for them ⁵².

From a mechanical point of view, during standing balance, two balance strategies can be used to control acceleration of the center of mass ⁵³. The ankle strategy involves a shift of the center of pressure induced by ankle moments. The hip or counter-rotation strategy involves redirecting the ground reaction forces through changes of the angular momentum of the body around its center of mass. This is often achieved through upper body rotation around the hip, hence in the literature, the name is called "hip strategy". Although rotations of other segments

than the upper body around the hip can also be used to change angular momentum, therefore, we will use the name counter-rotation strategy. When balance is challenged, balance strategies are adapted. With increasing perturbation magnitude and decreasing base of support, counter-rotation strategies become more dominant ⁵⁴. In addition, older adults tend to use the counter-rotation strategy more often than young adults ^{54,55}, again possibly because for them the same task is more challenging.

Decreased balance control and increased fall risk indicate that older adults do not show optimal adaptations to environmental challenges of balance. Adaptation to environmental challenges can possibly be improved by repeated exposure to challenging situations. The abovementioned environmental challenges can be-, and often are used as training tools to improve balance control. How fast, and transferrable skill acquisition is, and what sensory and neuromuscular mechanisms contribute to improved balance performance is still unclear.

Balance training

Balance control in individuals without diseases that affect balance can be improved in all phases of the lifespan. Balance training, specifically balance training that strongly challenges balance by means of unstable support surfaces, improves the balance performance of both young and older adults ^{25,56–58}. Such improvements occur faster than when training on a stable support surface ⁵⁹. Training programs often aim to prepare trainees for a sudden change in environmental demands, for instance, through training to maintain balance despite perturbations induced by waist-level pulls ⁶⁰, with multidirectional platform translations ⁶¹, or platform rotations ^{25,62–66}. These training methods often use robot-controlled platforms, but more applicable conventional balance training equipment, such as balance boards, with several degrees of freedom and challenge levels, serve a similar purpose. Possibly, these methods are effective because they improve the ability to respond effectively to unexpected perturbations ⁶⁷, slips, trips or collisions, turning, bending, and reaching.

A recent systematic review concluded that adaptations to balance training performed under strictly defined conditions are highly task-specific ⁶⁸. Nevertheless, one common aim in balance training is to increase the mobility and gait stability in older adults. Thus, finding the optimal training method to transfer balance skills to gait and daily living conditions is relevant.

While training is known to improve balance control in older adults, the optimal training duration and the mechanism underlying the balance improvement, and its transfer to tasks that challenge balance are not well-defined in older adults. Therefore, obtaining a comprehensive overview of balance control in older adults might shed light on training methods and determine training frequency and duration in the future.

Mechanisms underlying improved balance control

Balance training allows the central nervous system to regulate and retrain the body and optimize balance control. In this thesis, I aimed to understand whether training can reverse a poor balance to a good one, regardless of the organs' degradation. Alternatively, maybe there is no age-reversing process engaged in balance control after training, and it is just a matter of finding perfection in imperfection. After training, older adults could learn to modify their control, considering their impairments. They could learn to make the best use of control gains out of their impairments, to update the internal models of balance control considering their age-related degradation of sensory inputs.

Balance improvements in young adults coincide with adaptations in motor strategies, muscle activity, sensory weights, gains of neural feedback loops, cortical excitability, functional connectivity, and white and gray matter volume ^{25,56,57,69–71}. In line with the outcomes addressed in this thesis, it has been shown that after the balance training, young adults improved their balance performance. They showed decreased H-reflexes ^{57,72} and reduced the duration of co-contraction ⁷³. Also, older adults with poorer balance control showed higher co-contraction in the ankle joint than older adults with better balance control ⁷⁴. Furthermore, long-term training led to the use of more consistent muscle synergies while performing a balance task, which was seen in the temporal and spatial structure of the muscle activations ⁷⁵. Also, in patients with movement disorders and impaired balance, a temporal structure of the synergy showed to be broader ⁷⁶ and more variable ⁷⁷.

Which of these changes are determinants or consequences of improved performance in older adults? Aging might shift the control strategy from feedback to more feedforward. This way, older adults can overcome the delay in responding to unpredictable situations. However, that might need a continuous cortical and muscular effort and lead to fatigue. We aim to understand which control older adults prefer in response to varying environmental conditions and if training can alter that. Likewise, it is unclear whether foreseen improvements in balance control would transfer to daily life activities.

Main questions

This thesis addresses the following questions:

- How is balance control on surface of varying compliance different between older and young adults?
- Do older adults adapt H-reflex gains and co-contraction to varying surface compliance?

- Does balance training on unstable surfaces cause persistent improvements of balance performance and robustness in older adults?
- How fast does balance performance in older adults improve after balance training on unstable surfaces?
- Do H-reflex gains and co-contraction change after balance training on unstable surfaces in older adults?
- How are changes in balance performance related to changes in H-reflex gains, paired reflex depression, co-contraction, and synergies?
- Does balance training on unstable surfaces improve reactive balance control?
- Do the improvements in balance performance and potential mechanisms transfer to changes in gait stability?

Outline

Chapter two studies whether the reduced capacity to modulate reflex gains and cocontraction underlies balance control problems in older adults. We investigated the effect of age and varying surface compliance on spinal excitability reflected on the soleus muscle during unipedal standing. The results of this chapter led us to design a balance training program and investigate the effect of training on neural (H-reflex, co-contraction duration, paired reflex depression, and muscle synergies) and biomechanical factors underlying improvements in balance control in older adults in the next three chapters.

Obtaining a better insight into the pace of balance improvement helps to optimize balance training. In chapter three, the main goal was to reveal the changes in balance control and underlying neural and biomechanical factors after short- and long-term training. We investigated balance training effects on balance performance and robustness and potential underlying factors, including neural (H-reflex and co-contraction duration) and biomechanical factors. Also, paired reflex depression was used to give more insight into the potential peripherally induced alteration in the H-reflex mechanism after training. In chapter four, we explored the control mechanisms and changes of mechanical balance recovery strategies and muscle synergies as a result of short- and long-term training in perturbed balance.

One of the issues in balance training is transferability. This issue motivated us to study whether improvements in balance performance and robustness, as found in chapters three and four, are transferred to gait in chapter five. Thus, in this chapter, we addressed the effect of short- and long-term standing balance training on potential gait stability improvements and the neural and biomechanical factors underlying these. We investigated the changes in gait stability and muscle synergies, and kinematics during normal and narrow-base walking. The results of this chapter shed light on the transferability of improved balance after standing balance training to gait.

Finally, in chapter six, the findings of this thesis are summarized, and directions for future research and recommendations for balance training programs are given.

This thesis is unique in that it combines a cross-sectional and longitudinal approach to the study of balance control. Longitudinal studies may provide deeper insights into the determinants of proper/good balance performance and how and when training can reduce balance impairments.

Chapter 2

Modulation of soleus muscle H-reflexes and ankle muscles co-contraction with surface compliance during unipedal balancing in young and older adults

Leila Alizadehsaravi, Sjoerd M. Bruijn, Huub Maas, Jaap H. van Dieën

Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Institute for Brain and Behaviour Amsterdam and Amsterdam Movement Sciences, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Published at Experimental Brain Research: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-020-05784-0

17

Abstract

This study aimed to assess modulation of lower-leg muscle reflex excitability and cocontraction during unipedal balancing on compliant surfaces in young and older adults. Twenty healthy adults (ten aged 18-30 years and ten aged 65-80 years) were recruited. Soleus muscle H-reflexes were elicited by electrical stimulation of the tibial nerve while participants stood unipedally on a robot-controlled balance platform, simulating different levels of surface compliance. In addition, electromyographic data (EMG) of soleus (SOL), tibialis anterior (TA) and peroneus longus (PL) and full-body 3D kinematic data were collected. The mean absolute center of mass velocity was determined as a measure of balance performance. Soleus H-reflex data were analyzed in terms of the amplitude related to the M wave and the background EMG activity 100 ms prior to the stimulation. The relative duration of co-contraction was calculated for soleus and tibialis anterior, as well as for peroneus longus and tibialis anterior. Center of mass velocity was significantly higher in older adults compared to young adults (p < 0.001) and increased with increasing surface compliance in both groups (p < 0.001). The soleus Hreflex gain decreased with surface compliance in young adults (p = 0.003), while cocontraction increased $(p_{sol,ta} = 0.003 \& p_{pl,ta} < 0.001)$. Older adults did not show such modulations, but showed overall lower H-reflex gains (p < 0.001) and higher co-contraction than young adults $(p_{sol,ta} < 0.001 \& p_{pl,ta} = 0.002)$. These results suggest an overall shift in balance control from the spinal level to supraspinal levels in older adults, which also occurred in young adults when balancing at more compliant surfaces.

Keywords: Balance control, postural control, spinal excitability, H-reflex, aging, co-contraction

Introduction

In upright stance, balance is challenged by gravity and the relatively high position of the body center of mass (CoM) over a small base of support. This challenge increases with impairments in neuromuscular control resulting from age or disease ¹¹. But even for young, healthy individuals, maintenance of balance can become challenging when their base of support is reduced or when compliance of the surface they are standing on is increased ^{78,79}.

In balancing on a rigid surface, moments around the ankle joint instantaneously and proportionally change the position of the center of pressure and therewith cause moments that accelerate the body center of mass ⁵³ On a compliant surface, moments around the ankle joint change the center of pressure by moving or deforming the support surface. Consequently, the relation between the ankle moment and the center of mass acceleration is different than on a rigid surface, with changes in scaling of the effect of changes in ankle moment as well as in the temporal relation between the moment and the resulting center of mass acceleration. When standing on a compliant surface, also the relationship between sensory information from the calf muscles and the orientation of the body relative to the vertical changes. For example, with the body perfectly vertical, the ankle can still be in any orientation, as body orientation on body orientation. Balance control could potentially be adapted to such a challenge in various ways.

Considering the above, one would expect proprioceptive afference from sensors in the lower extremities to be less used when standing on a compliant surface compared to a rigid surface. In line with this, effects of calf muscle vibration, triggering muscle spindle afference, are less pronounced when standing on a compliant compared to a rigid surface ^{80,81}. This effect could be accounted for by sensory reweighting ²⁵ or supraspinal suppression of motoneuron excitability. Supporting the latter mechanism, long-term training on compliant surfaces does suppress H-reflexes ^{57,82}, but it is not clear whether immediate modulation of H-reflexes to surface compliance occurs. Experiments using a reduced base of support show indications of immediate modulations in reflex sensitivity, i.e. a negative correlations between postural demands (standing with wide or narrow base of support, prone or standing, and bipedal or unipedal stance) and H-reflex amplitudes have been reported (Koceja et al. 1995; Tokuno et al. 2009; Kawaishi and Domen 2016; Pinar et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2013). Koceja and Mynark (2000) revealed that down-modulation of the H-reflex was associated with greater postural stability, underlining the adaptive nature of this modulation. Increased postural demands also coincide with increased cortical activity ³². These findings suggest inhibition of peripheral (spinal) control mechanisms and an increased supraspinal contribution to balance control with

increasing task difficulty ³¹, and considering the above, this might apply specifically to increasing surface compliance. The ability to adapt balance control to surface conditions is a prerequisite to safely move through a variable environment.

Ageing causes impairments of the balance control system due to degeneration of gray and white brain matter and peripheral nerves, decreased acuity of the sensory systems and diminished muscular capacity ^{31,89}. Age-related reductions in H-reflex amplitudes ⁸³ and increased cortical engagement in motor control ⁹⁰, indicate an increased contribution of cortical relative to spinal inputs to balance control ³¹ which may reflect a bigger postural challenge in this group. Presumably, older adults need more cortical control to cope with the same task in view of age-related changes in balance control mechanisms. Older adults are also known to display increased co-contraction in postural tasks ⁴⁶, which may be caused by inadequate inhibition of antagonistic muscles leading to increased joint stiffness, possibly resulting in an increased susceptibility to fall ⁹¹. In contrast, increased co-contraction could be a compensatory strategy for impaired balance control ⁹², as it reduces delays in feedback control through pretensioning of muscle-tendon complexes ⁹³.

In addition to experiencing an overall increase in the challenge of controlling balance, older adults appear to be less able to adapt balance control to varying environmental conditions ¹¹. Young adults were shown to down-modulate the soleus H-reflex between prone and standing, while older adults showed no modulation ⁸⁸ or even up-modulation with postural demands ^{83,94}.

The aim of this study was to investigate effects of varying surface compliance in mediolateral direction on single leg balance control by assessing modulation of spinal excitability and duration of co-contraction of lower-leg muscles in older compared to young adults. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study comparing immediate adaptation in mediolateral balance control to variations in surface compliance between young and older adults. We hypothesized that balance performance decreases with increasing surface compliance and that young adults show down-modulation of spinal reflexes with increasing surface compliance. In addition, we hypothesized that older adults show less modulation of spinal reflexes and more co-contraction than young adults.

Methods

Participants

Ten young (28.2 \pm 1.3 years (Mean \pm SD), 2 females, weight 70.4 \pm 16.3 Kg (Mean \pm SD), height 176.2 \pm 10.0 cm (Mean \pm SD)) and ten older (71.4 \pm 3.9 years (Mean \pm SD), 3 females, weight 79.0 \pm 11.9 Kg (Mean \pm SD), height 173.3 \pm 10.0 cm (Mean \pm SD)) healthy volunteers

participated in this study. All younger participants were recruited through flyers distributed at Faculty of Behavioral & Movement Sciences, VU Amsterdam. All older participants were recruited through a list of older adults who previously participated in the research at our faculty, flyers, and information sharing meetings at European science night. Individuals with peripheral neuropathy, self-reported orthostatic complaints, severe visual or hearing impairments and use of medication that may negatively affect balance, were excluded. All participants provided written informed consent before participation and the procedures were approved by the ethical review board of the Faculty of Behavioral & Movement Sciences, VU Amsterdam (VCWE-2018-038).

Instruments and data recordings

Surface conditions were induced using a custom-made robot-controlled (HapticMaster, Motekforce Link Amsterdam, the Netherlands) platform with a footplate rotating in the frontal plane (Figure 2.1.a). Rotational stiffness of the footplate and damping was tunable and controlled with a simulated spring. Maximal rotation of the footplate was $\pm 17.5^{\circ}$.

Full-body kinematics were acquired with one Optotrak camera array (Northern Digital, Waterloo, ON, Canada) at 50 samples/s. Six Optotrak LED marker clusters were placed on the posterior surface of the thorax, pelvis, arms and calves. The markers were tracked by the camera and anatomical landmarks were digitized in an upright posture, using a pointing probe with six markers.

Electromyographic (EMG) data were collected at 2,048 samples/s by a TMSi Refa 128channel amplifier (TMSi, Twente, The Netherlands) data acquisition system. EMG data of the soleus, peroneus longus and tibialis anterior muscles of the stance leg were collected using bipolar, disposable adhesive surface electrodes bipolar (Ag/AgCl EMG electrodes, Ambu blue sensor N, Ambu, Ballerup, Denmark). Electrode sites were prepared by shaving the area when needed. To reduce the impedance at the skin-electrode interface, the electrode sites were cleaned with 70% isopropyl alcohol swabs. The electrode placement was chosen according to the Surface EMG for Non-Invasive Assessment of Muscles (SENIAM) recommendations ⁹⁵. A reference electrode was placed on the lateral malleolus of the stance leg.

H-reflexes were elicited using an electrical stimulator delivering 1-ms square-wave pulses (Digitimer, DS7A UK). A large rectangular anode, roughly 6cm \times 9cm, constructed of aluminum foil and conducting gel was fixed on the patella ⁹⁶. The cathode for unipolar stimulation was placed over the tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa to elicit an H-reflex in the soleus muscle. The optimal stimulation location was determined in each subject by probing the

popliteal fossa with a custom-made probe for the location where the largest soleus H-reflex amplitude appeared ~ 25 ms after the stimulation.

Experimental procedures

Explanation and familiarization of the peripheral nerve stimulation procedure and postural conditions were provided prior to testing. To control for potential attentional and anticipatory influences on spinal reflex excitability, consistent lighting and minimal auditory input were ensured throughout the experiment. First, soleus H-reflex threshold intensity was determined using percutaneous electrical stimulation of the posterior tibial nerve during quiet, bipedal stance, and then stimulus intensity was progressively increased, with a minimum 4 sec interval, to determine the maximum H-reflex response (H_{max}) and maximal M wave (M_{max}) (Figure 2.1.b and Figure 2.1.c) ⁹⁷. During this phase, participants were instructed to visually focus on a target, while standing on both legs with their hands on their hips. Although soleus is not the most dominant muscle contributing to mediolateral balance control, it has a critical role to maintain the dynamic balancing in the frontal plane ^{98,99} and also soleus activation is crucial to keep the body upright while the other muscles are stabilizing the body in the frontal plane ¹⁰⁰. Moreover, H-reflexes can be reliably elicited in the soleus ¹⁰¹, therefore, we selected this muscle for studying H-reflexes.

Subsequently, ten H-reflexes were elicited using the H_{max} constant current stimulus, during unipedal stance on the balance platform at various levels of surface compliance, with three repetitions. It should be noted that during the dynamic balancing there could be changes in electrode location with respect to the nerve. Because the recruitment curve of the H-reflex is least steep around H_{max} , H-reflexes are less likely affected by such changes. Thus, by using the maximum H-reflex, we attempted to reduce errors caused by movements.

During the testing phase, participants were instructed to focus on a target in front of them, with their arms slightly abducted and their hands above the handrails of the platform, while trying to stabilize the platform in a horizontal position (Figure 2.2.a).



Figure 2.1: a) Experimental setup, showing a participant in bipedal stance, receiving electrical stimulation to establish the recruitment curve, b) Time series of the EMG response of the soleus muscle to the stimulation, showing traces at different stimulus intensities, each with a stimulus artefact (Stim), an M wave and an H-reflex. c) Recruitment curves, showing peak-to-peak values of M waves and H-reflexes as a function of stimulus intensity.

Participants were instructed to avoid flexing their stance leg knee during the task. A ten to fifteen seconds rest was provided between stimuli to avoid influences of post-activation depression. Thus, in total 12 balance trials were performed, of 140 seconds each, grouped into three identical blocks (randomized per subject), each consisting of four varying levels of surface compliance (rotational stiffness set at 100%, 40%, 20% and 10% of body weight multiplied by CoM height) randomized within blocks. Additionally, 4 trials of 60 seconds without stimulation at each compliance level were performed, to assess balance performance without stimulation.

23

Participants were given a break of 2 minutes between trials, or as long as needed to avoid any effects of fatigue.



Figure 2.2: a) The kinematic model used to assess balance performance during the unipedal balance task. b) Epoched EMG data synchronized to stimulation artefacts (Stim) obtained during a balance task, showing background EMG 100 ms prior to the stimulation (bEMG), M wave and H-reflex.

Data analysis and statistics

Measures of balance performance:

Missing samples of marker coordinates were interpolated by cubic spline interpolation, and marker coordinates were low-pass filtered with a cut-off frequency of 5 Hz. The trajectories of the segments were calculated using a 3D linked segmented model (Figure 2.2.a; Kingma et al. 1996) based on the coordinates of markers and anatomical landmarks. The total body CoM position and velocity (derivative of CoM position with respect to time, vCoM) were calculated ²⁵. The arm segments were excluded, in view of invisibility of markers at time that participants moved their arms in front of their bodies. Supplementary material 1 chapter 2 shows that our analysis with arms included yielded similar results. The mean absolute vCoM, equivalent to the total excursion of the CoM divided by trial length, was used as a measure of balance performance (Raymakers et al. 2005; Figure 2.3). This was done both for trials during which stimulation took place, and for trials without stimulation. In trials with stimulation the results were averaged over repeated trials at an identical surface compliance.

a) Young adult without stim

b) Young adult with stim



Figure 2.3: Time series of CoM velocity in one young and one older participant as a function of surface compliance in trials with and without stimulation at four levels of surface compliance (rotational stiffness set at 100%, 40%, 20% and 10% of body weight multiplied by CoM height), a) Young adult without peripheral nerve stimulation, b) Young adult with peripheral nerve stimulation, c) Older adult without peripheral nerve stimulation, d) Older adult with peripheral nerve stimulation. In both with/without peripheral nerve stimulation conditions, older adults display higher CoM velocity than younger adults, and both older and younger adults show increased CoM velocity with surface compliance.

Measures of soleus H-reflex excitability

All EMG signals were high-pass filtered at 10 Hz (2nd order bi-directional Butterworth filter) to remove movement artifacts. The amplitude of the M wave was determined as the peak to peak amplitude of the EMG from 0 to 25 ms after the stimulus artefact, the H-reflex amplitude was calculated as the peak to peak amplitude from 25 to 70 ms after the stimulus artefact. The amplitude of the background EMG (bEMG) was determined as the average rectified EMG signal over 100 ms before the stimulation (Figure 2.2.b). H/M ratio, the ratio of H-reflex amplitude and corresponding M wave amplitude, and the H-reflex gain (defined as the ratio of H-reflex amplitude divided by the bEMG ¹⁰³), were calculated. Applying bEMG normalization,

we aimed to remove the effect of pre-existing motoneuron excitation ^{104,105}. Since the amplitude of the H-reflex linearly increases with the level of excitation of the motoneuronal pool up to 60% of maximal excitation ^{106,107}, the H-reflex gain was considered the main outcome. Although we have not measured the maximal voluntarily activation of the soleus, excitation higher than 60% of maximal activity is not expected in the current tasks ¹⁰⁸.

To check for consistency with previous work 86,87 , we compared H-reflex amplitudes between unipedal and bipedal stance. Then we calculated the above parameters for each surface compliance condition in unipedal stance. Note that during all unipedal stance trials, the H-reflex was elicited at the stimulus intensity of H_{max} in bipedal stance.

Measure of Co-contraction

All EMG signals were first high-pass filtered at 10 Hz (2nd order bi-directional Butterworth filter) to remove movement artifacts, then rectified and low-pass filtered at 5 Hz (2nd order Butterworth). We assessed the duration of co-contraction of soleus and tibialis anterior as well as peroneus longus and tibialis anterior antagonistic muscle pairs. To this end, we determined the percentage of data points during the balance tasks without stimulation of the tibial nerve during which both muscles in a pair exceeded 10% of their maximum activation over all trials (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4: Cocontraction; results are displayed as scatter plots of tibialis anterior (TA, y-axis) and soleus (SOL, x-axis) activity of one young participant for two surface compliances, 100% and 10% of the product of body mass, gravity and the height of the CoM (mgh). All data points were normalized to the maximum activity over all trials. Data points in red indicate co-contraction (both muscles active over 10% of maximum). Data points in blue indicate no co-contraction. a) SOL TA in a young adult at 100%mgh, b) SOL TA in a young adult at 10%mgh.

Statistical analysis

All data are reported as means \pm SDs. For all independent variables (absolute mean of vCoM, H-reflex excitability, co-contraction), we evaluated the effect of surface compliance and age using a 2-way mixed model ANOVA with Age (young, old) as between-subjects factor and Surface Compliance (high to low stiffness, 4 levels) as within-subjects factor. In case of interactions, post-hoc one-way ANOVAs were performed to test for effects of surface compliance within groups.

To verify that our H-reflex protocol replicated previous studies ^{86,87}, we additionally performed a 2-way mixed model ANOVA with factors Age (young, old) and Stance Condition (bipedal to unipedal). All analyses were done in JASP version 0.9.2 (University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands), and p<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Balance performance

CoM velocity in the trials without and with tibial nerve stimulation was smaller in young than older adults (F $_{(1,16)} = 12.724$, p = 0.003; F $_{(1,16)} = 20.013$, p < 0.001 respectively) and increased with increasing surface compliance (F $_{(3,48)} = 3.540$, p = 0.021; F $_{(3,48)} = 10.772$, p < 0.001 respectively) (for typical examples see Figure 2.3). No significant interaction effect of surface compliance and age group was observed (F $_{(3,48)} = 0.928$, p = 0.435; F $_{(3,48)} = 0.696$, p = 0.599 respectively). Thus, the compliant surface increased the balance challenge with decreasing stiffness, and the challenge was always greater in older than in young adults (see Figure 2.5.a and Figure 2.5.b).

b)



Figure 2.5: CoM velocity was higher in older than younger adults and increased with surface compliance. Displayed are group averaged values of the mean absolute CoM velocity as a function of surface compliance in trials a) without stimulation of the tibial nerve ($n_{old} = 9$, $n_{young} = 9$) and b) with stimulation of the tibial nerve ($n_{old} = 10$, $n_{young} = 8$) in young and older adults. Error bars represent standard deviations. Stiffness of the surface is expressed in % of subject weight multiplied by the height of the CoM.

Soleus H-reflex excitability

A typical example of the H-reflex responses is shown in Figure 2.2.b. The results of H-reflex amplitude, H/M ratio and H-reflex gain modulation due to surface compliance (see Figure 2.6.b, 2.6.d and 2.6.f) and stance condition (see Figure 2.6.a, 6c and 2.6.e) are presented in Tables 2.1 and 2.2 respectively.

Table 2.1: Statistical results of the comparison of H, H/M, and H-reflex gain between age groups and surface conditions.

Reflex	df1	df2	Н		H/M		H-reflex gain	
unipedal			F	р	F	р	F	р
Surface Compliance	3	51	0.221	0.881	0.659	0.581	4.679	0.006
Age	1	17	10.56	0.005	2.926	0.105	22.42	< .001
Surface Compliance *	3	51	0.420	0.074	0.639	0.593	4.895	0.005
Age								

Table 2.2: Statistical results of the comparison of H, H/M, and H-reflex gain between age groups and standing conditions.

Reflex	df1	df?	Н		H/M		H-reflex gain	
bipedal to unipedal		uiz	F	р	F	р	F	р
Stance Condition	1	18	26.45	<0.001	8.220	0.010	57.79	< .001
Age	1	18	6.435	0.021	0.386	0.542	12.16	0.003
Stance Condition * Age	1	18	1.922	0.183	0.056	0.815	6.505	0.020

There was no significant effect of surface compliance nor an interaction of surface compliance and age group, on H-reflex amplitude (F (3,51) = 0.221, p = 0.881; F (3,51) = 0.420, p = 0.074 respectively, see Figure 2.6.b). However, there was a significant effect of age group on H-reflex amplitude, indicating higher H-reflex amplitudes in young than older adults (F (1,17) = 10.56, p = 0.005, see Figure 2.6.b). There was no significant effect of surface compliance, age group, nor an interaction of surface compliance and age group on H/M ratio (F (3,51) = 0.659, p = 0.581; F (1,17) = 2.926, p = 0.105; F (3,51) = 0.639, p = 0.593 respectively, see Figure 2.6.d). Significant effects of surface compliance, age group and an interaction of surface compliance and age group on the H-reflex gains were found (F (3,51) = 4.679, p = 0.006; F (1,17) = 22.42, p < 0.001; F (3,51) = 4.895, p = 0.005 respectively, see Figure 2.6.f) and post-hoc testing indicated there was no significant effect of surface compliance on H-reflex gain in the older participants (F (3,27) = 1.738, p = 0.186). This is in contrast to the young adults who showed smaller H-reflex gains on more compliant surfaces (F (3,27) = 1.738).

5.929, p = 0.003, see Figure 2.6.f). In summary, our hypothesis that reflex sensitivity would be down-modulated with increasing surface compliance in young but not in older adults was supported by the H-reflex gains. In addition, note that no significant M-wave variation was observed with different compliance (F (3,51) = 1.153, p =0.337).

There were significant effects of stance condition and age group on H-reflex amplitudes, indicating smaller H-reflex amplitude in unipedal compared to bipedal stance and smaller Hreflex amplitude in older compared to young adults (F (1,18) = 26.45, p < 0.001, F (1,18) =6.435, p = 0.021 respectively, see Figure 2.6.a). There was no significant interaction effect observed (F (1,18) = 1.922, p = 0.183). There was a significant effect of stance condition on H/M ratio indicating smaller H/M ratio in unipedal compared to bipedal stance (F (1,18) = 8.22, p = 0.010, see Figure 2.6.c), but no significant effect of age group nor an interaction of age group and stance condition on H/M ratio (F (1,18) = 0.386, p = 0.542, F (1,18) = 0.056, p = 0.815 respectively). We found smaller H-reflex gains in unipedal stance than in bipedal stance in both age groups and smaller H-reflex gains in older than young adults ((F (1,18) = 57.79, p) < 0.001); F (1,18) = 12.16, p = 0.003 respectively, see Figure 2.6.e). However, a significant interaction of stance condition and age was found F (1,18) = 6.505, p = 0.020) and post-hoc tests revealed a stronger effect of stance condition in the young participants (F (1,9) = 41.582, p < 0.001) than in the older participants (F (1,9) = 16.774, p = 0.003) (Table 2.2). Overall, these results indicate reduced H-reflex sensitivity in unipedal compared to bipedal stance and decreased sensitivity in older compared to young adults, in line with previously reported findings.

29



Figure 2.6: H-reflex amplitude, H/M ratio and H-reflex gain as a function of stance condition ($n_{old} = 10$, $n_{young} = 10$) in panels a, c, and e respectively and as a function of surface compliance ($n_{old} = 10$, $n_{young} = 9$) in panels b, d, and f respectively, in young and older participants. Note that decreasing stiffness from left to right on the x-axis equates increasing surface compliance. H-reflex gain was higher in younger than older adults and decreased with stance condition. H-reflex gain is down-modulated with surface compliance only in young adults.

30

Co-contraction

The duration of co-contraction for both muscle pairs on average was higher in older adults and increased by surface compliance, but only in young adults. The duration of co-contraction of SOL, TA and PL, TA were higher in older compared to young adults (F $_{(1,17)}$ = 18.37, p < 0.001; F $_{(1,17)}$ = 14.22, p = 0.002 respectively, see Figure 2.7.a and Figure 2.7.b) and increased by surface compliance (F $_{(3,51)}$ = 6.069, p = 0.001; F $_{(3,51)}$ = 7.544, p < 0.001 respectively, see Figure 2.7.a and Figure 2.7.b). A significant interactions of age group and surface compliance were found for the duration of co-contraction of SOL, TA and PL,TA and post-hoc testing indicated an effect of surface compliance in young participants (F $_{(3,24)}$ = 5.725, p = 0.004; F (3,24) = 9.537, p < 0.001 respectively), but not in older participants (F $_{(3,27)}$ = 0.909, p = 0.449; F (3,27) = 0.471, p = 0.705 respectively, see Figure 2.7.a and Figure 2.7.b).



Figure 2.7: Co-contraction was not modulated with surface compliance in older adults but higher than younger adults. While in younger adults, Co-contraction increased with surface compliance. Displayed are group relative duration of cocontraction of a) soleus and tibialis anterior and, b) peroneus longus and tibialis anterior as a function of surface compliance in trials without peripheral nerve stimulation in young and older adults ($n_{old} = 10$, $n_{young} = 10$). Note that decreasing stiffness from left to right on the x-axis equates increasing surface compliance.

Discussion

We investigated differences in balance control between young and older adults on surfaces with varying compliance. In line with our hypothesis, we found that (i) balance performance decreased with increasing surface compliance in both young and older adults, (ii) older adults showed poorer balance performance than young adults, (iii) young adults showed downmodulation of H-reflex gains, although absolute H-reflex amplitudes and H/M ratios were not affected, and an increase in co-contraction with increasing surface compliance, (iv) older adults showed no modulation of H-reflex gains or co-contraction with increasing surface compliance, but lower H-reflex gains and more co-contraction than young adults in all surface conditions.

Balance performance has previously been shown to be poorer in older compared to young adults ⁷⁹ and to decrease when standing on a compliant surface (foam) compared to a firm surface ⁷⁹. Similarly, our results showed a poorer balance performance, i.e. higher CoM velocities in older than in young adults and when standing on compliant surfaces in both age groups. These findings highlight that age-related impairments and surface compliance both challenge balance control and likely require adaptations in the neural control of balance to maintain stability.

One of the ways in which balance control can be altered with increasing challenge is by down-modulating spinal reflexes. A number of studies have shown down-modulation of the soleus H-reflex with increasing postural instability, such as for instance when decreasing the base of support in standing ⁷², or when comparing walking to standing relaxed ¹⁰¹ or beam walking to treadmill walking ¹⁰⁹. Similar down-modulation was found between bipedal and unipedal standing ^{86,87}, as replicated in this study. Furthermore, lower H-reflexes in older compared to young adults have been found ^{110,111}, in line with the age effects in the present study. In unipedal stance on the balance platform young adults down-modulated the H-reflex gain further with increasing challenge. As lower H-reflexes can be interpreted as a sign of reduced spinal control 92, our findings are in line with a shift in balance control from spinal to more supraspinal levels when standing on the more compliant surfaces in young adults, and more supraspinal control overall in older adults. More direct support for a shift from spinal to supraspinal control when standing on unstable surfaces was provided by Solopova et al. (2003) who showed that in adults (aged between 25-52 yrs.) TMS-evoked EMG responses of soleus muscle increased whilst, when controlled for background EMG activity, the H-reflex decreased when standing on an unstable platform compared to a stable platform. However, comparing supported versus unsupported standing, Papegaaij et al.(2016a) found decreased intracortical inhibition but no concurrent changes in H-reflexes.

Interestingly, between unipedal and bipedal stance, both age groups showed downmodulation of the H-reflex. This is in contrast with Koceja et al. (1995), who showed reduced H-reflexes in young, but not in older adults, when decreasing the base of support (prone to standing). However, these authors did find modulation of the H-reflex in a subgroup of older adults with better balance performance ⁸³. The older participants in the present study downmodulated their H-reflexes to some extent and, hence, may have had relatively good balance control. Why they did not further down-modulate H-reflexes in the compliant surface conditions is unknown, but it may simply be because they already had very low reflex amplitudes during unipedal stance on a fixed surface. However, an alternative explanation for the decrease in H-reflex gains across stance conditions or surface compliances could be saturation due to increased bEMG. To assess this explanation, we normalized the bEMG amplitudes to bEMG during Bipedal standing. This did not support the alternative interpretation as there were no significant age and stance effects, nor an interaction of age and stance condition, nor did we observe age or surface compliance effects, or an interaction of age and surface compliance on normalized bEMG (supplementary material 2 chapter 2).

When increasing surface compliance, young adults showed an increase in co-contraction of ankle plantar and dorsi-flexors, while older adults showed higher co-contraction overall compared to young adults. In other studies, increases in co-contraction with increasing task difficulty have been reported for young adults ^{93,114} as well as for older adults ^{115–117}. It is well known that increasing co-contraction may enhance control in some conditions ¹¹⁸. However, when balancing on a compliant surface, a rigid ankle control induced by co-contraction may limit the flexibility that might be needed on such a surface. On the other hand, it may decrease response times which would benefit control ⁹³. Our results support an adaptive role of muscle co-contraction as we find evidence of increased co-contraction with increasing surface compliance in the young adults, as reported previously ⁹³, but obviously this is not definitive proof of the adaptive nature of this change in control.

It is known that long-term balance training using compliant surfaces leads to improved balance in both young and older adults ^{119,120}. Our results suggest that such improvements would involve changes in control of the lower leg muscles and findings of decreased H-reflex gains in young adults ⁹⁷ are in line with this. For older adults, it is unclear what the mechanisms behind such improved balance could be, as we found no changes in H-reflexes and co-contraction with changing surface compliance and also in long-term training no changes in H-reflexes and co-contraction along with other potential mechanisms of balance improvement are measured could elucidate the how training on compliant surfaces can improve balance control.

Limitations of the current study

This study has some limitations to be noted. First of all, the number of participants was limited. Next, In the current experimental setup, we could not use a second Optotrak camera array, to ensure uninterrupted collection of coordinates of arm markers. Consequently, we lost some kinematics data due to markers being obscured. For consistency, the arm motion data for all subjects were excluded from the analysis. However, the analysis was redone with arms included for a smaller sample size of subjects ($n_{old} = 7$, $n_{young} = 8$) without missing marker data and very similar results were obtained (as shown in the supplementary material 1 chapter 2). Another limitation of our study was that, the H-reflex is a very sensitive measure, known to be affected by several factors, such as a mental state of the participant, stimulation intensity or the muscle orientation during movement ^{117,122}. The recommended intensity of peripheral nerve stimulation is at 15-25% or 20-40% of M_{max} ^{123,124}. In line with other studies ^{72,125}, we elicited the H-reflex at H_{max}, because the recruitment curve for the H-reflex around H-max is least steep, and thus, any potential changes in electrode location with respect to the nerve (as may occur during balancing), are likely to have less effect. Moreover, H_{max} coincided with 15-40% of M-max for most of the participants. We did not control for movement in our H-reflex analysis. A recent study used a system in which peripheral nerve stimulations were movement triggered during slackline balancing ¹²⁶, which may increase reliability of outcomes. Lastly, we measured H-reflexes of the soleus, not because it has the greatest contribution in mediolateral balance control, but it does have a role in maintaining mediolateral balance ^{98,99} and also the H-reflex in soleus is more reliable than for other ankle muscles ¹⁰¹. For a further understanding of mediolateral balance control, studying H-reflexes of other lower leg muscles may be needed.

Conclusion

In conclusion, our study reveals differences in balance control between young and older adults during a unipedal balance task and effects of surface compliance. When faced with a compliant surface, young adults decreased the soleus H-reflex gain, while increasing cocontraction. Older adults did not show such modulation in H-reflex and co-contraction.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Cassandra Thompson for helpful advice on H-reflex measurements. This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 721577. SMB was funded by a VIDI grant (016.Vidi.178.014) from the Dutch Organization for Scientific Research (NWO).
Chapter 3

The underlying mechanisms of improved balance after one and ten sessions of balance training in older adults

Leila Alizadehsaravi, Ruud A.J. Koster, Wouter Muijres, Huub Maas, Sjoerd M. Bruijn, Jaap H. van Dieën

Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Institute for Brain and Behaviour Amsterdam and Amsterdam Movement Sciences, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

bioRxiv 2020.10.01.322313; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.01.322313

35

Abstract

Training improves balance control in older adults, but the time course and neural mechanisms underlying these improvements are unclear. We studied balance robustness and performance, H-reflex gains, paired reflex depression (PRD), and co-contraction duration (CCD) in ankle muscles after one and ten training sessions in 22 older adults (+65yrs). Mediolateral balance robustness, time to balance loss in unipedal standing on a platform with decreasing rotational stiffness, improved (33%) after one session, with no further improvement performance, absolute after ten sessions. Balance mediolateral center of mass velocity, improved (18.75%) after one session in perturbed unipedal standing and after ten sessions (18.18%) in unperturbed unipedal standing. CCD of soleus/tibialis anterior increased (16%) after ten sessions. H-reflex gain and PRD excitability did not change. H-reflex gains were lower, and CCD was higher in participants with more robust balance at the last time-point, and CCD was higher in participants with better balance performance at several timepoints. Changes in robustness and performance were uncorrelated with changes in CCD, Hreflex gain, or PRD. In older adults, balance robustness improved over a single session, while performance improved gradually over multiple sessions. Changes in co-contraction and excitability of ankle muscles were not exclusive causes of improved balance.

Keywords: Balance training, center of mass velocity, co-contraction, H-reflex, paired reflex depression, motor learning, balance performance, postural balance

Introduction

Balance control is essential to avoid falls during daily-life activities. Impaired balance control due to aging results in falls, injuries, and loss of independence in older adults ¹²⁷. To resolve this issue, it is important to understand how balance control works and when and how it improves as a result of training. Balancing requires the central nervous system to act rapidly and accurately on an array of sensory inputs ¹²⁸, consisting of visual, vestibular, and tactile information, as well as proprioceptive sensory feedback ¹²⁹. Balance training leads to improved balance performance in older adults ¹²⁰, observed as a reduction in mediolateral center of mass velocity during unipedal stance ⁷⁹. However, the question of how balance training induces changes in neuromuscular control remains unanswered. Hence, it is important to investigate the relation between improved balance control in older adults with changes in neural mechanisms at central and/or peripheral nervous system components.

Changes in balance control with training appear to occur at short-time scales, with substantial improvements after a single trial and over a single session ^{25,130,131}. Previously a rapid improvement of balance control in young adults after one session of balance training has been shown ²⁵, while results of short-term training in older adults were inconsistent ^{132,133} and most studies have focused on training over several sessions spread over multiple weeks¹²⁰. Since training effects mainly were measured before and after the entire training period only, the difference between a single session and several sessions effects of balance training in older adults is unclear.

In addition, most studies assess balance control with measures that capture balance performance, which quantifies how good people are at minimizing disturbances from an equilibrium position (often in a non-challenging condition like bipedal stance or unipedal stance on a flat surface), for instance, by measuring postural sway, in which lower values indicate better performance ^{63,134–136}. There are two problems with this. Firstly, subjects may choose not to minimize their sway, as higher sway values may be unproblematic and require less energy ¹³⁷. Secondly, even if subjects choose to minimize their sway, balance performance does not reflect the capability to avoid balance loss when challenged, i.e., the balance robustness, which quantifies the largest perturbation that can be resisted. Robustness has received limited attention in training literature, and if it is measured, it is mostly done in a dichotomous way (ability to perform a task, e.g., stand on one leg with eyes closed for 10 s, or not) ¹⁴. For practical purposes, improved robustness may be more important than improved performance. While improved balance performance may not necessarily prevent falls, it may indicate improvements

37

in balance control. Hence, we here chose to study the effects of training on both these aspects of balance control.

Age-related degenerative processes in the sensory and motor systems induce a shift from reliance on feedback control to reliance on feedforward strategies, such as co-contraction ⁴⁷. Antagonistic co-contraction can compensate for impaired sensory feedback ¹³⁸. Increasing antagonistic co-contraction when confronted with a challenging balance task is a strategy that is also used by inexperienced young adults ^{45,139}. Higher co-contraction in older adults with poor balance control compared to young adults with better balance control has been shown previously ^{74,139}. Balance training can potentially reduce levels of antagonistic co-contraction⁷³. Thus, it could be expected that balance training will reduce co-contraction in older adults. We note here that many different methods have been used to assess co-contraction in the literature. In the studies mentioned above, the index of co-contraction reflected either the magnitude of antagonistic co-contraction⁴⁵ or its magnitude and duration combined ^{73,74,139}.

Alterations of the H-reflex indicate an adjusted motoneuron output after processing of Ia afferent input at the spinal cord ¹⁴⁰. With age, postural modulation of H-reflexes is reduced ^{19,24–26,} and this may be functionally related to a declined balance performance in older adults ¹⁴². Balance training in young adults has been reported to decrease the soleus (SOL) H-reflex ^{56,57,143,144}. While both young and older adults are capable of down-training the SOL H-reflex ¹⁴⁵, it is unclear whether balance training also causes such down-regulation of the H-reflex in older adults. Unfortunately, only a few studies have addressed the effect of training on the Hreflex in older adults. Scaglioni et al. showed no changes in the H-reflex after 16 weeks of strength training in older adults ¹⁴⁶, Ruffieux et al. found no effects of training on H-reflex after five weeks ¹²¹, and Lauber et al. showed an enhanced H-reflex after 12 weeks of alpine skiing ¹⁴⁷. Decreases in the H-reflex are thought to reflect a reduced effect of spinal feedback circuitry on motor control, coinciding with increased supraspinal control ^{56,148}. However, supraspinal mechanisms also affect the excitability of the alpha motoneuron pool and, therefore the Hreflex gain. This hampers the interpretation of the H-reflex. Therefore, measurements of paired reflex depression (PRD) were added in this study to provide an insight into peripherally induced inhibition which would more exclusively reflect changes in peripherally induced presynaptic inhibition ^{149–151}. The second H-reflex in PRD measurements is assumed to be influenced by the synchronous activation of the spindle's afferents during the first H-reflex. Using PRD, the influence of primary spindle afferent feedback and therefore, activation history of the Ia afferents on the motoneuron pool output can be studied¹⁴⁹. Among middle-aged adults (~44 years), subjects with long-term Tai Chi practice showed better balance performance and,

despite a similar H-reflex, a larger PRD¹⁵². These authors assumed that a reduced second H-reflex avoids overcorrection and prevents unwanted oscillations. Hence, increased PRD might be expected as a result of balance training.

The aims of the present study were twofold; first, we aimed to assess the functional benefits of one session and ten sessions of balance training in older adults. To do so, we assessed changes in balance robustness (as the duration that participants were able to keep their body balanced while surface stiffness was decreased) and balance performance (measured as the mean absolute value of the mediolateral center of mass velocity during unipedal balancing). Second, we aimed to explore the associations between the changes in balance robustness and balance performance with co-contraction duration, H-reflex gain, and PRD after one session and ten sessions of training. We hypothesized that balance robustness and performance would be improved slightly after one session, and significantly after ten sessions of training and that such improvements would be accompanied by changes, such as decreased co-contraction duration, lower H-reflex gains, and stronger PRD.

Methods

Participants

Twenty-two healthy older adults (age: 72.6 ± 4.2 years, length: 1.71 ± 0.09 m, weight: 75.6 \pm 13.3 kg; mean \pm SD, 11 females and 11 males) participated in this study. This is comparable to similar studies ^{153,154} and in accordance with a required sample size of twenty-two based on power analysis for an F test of a within factor repeated measure, assuming an effect size of 0.44 ¹²⁰ and correlation among repeated measures of 0.6 ($\beta = 0.8$, G*power 3.1.9.2, Düsseldorf, Germany). To ensure participant safety and data reliability, exclusion criteria included: an inability to stand and walk for 3 minutes without walking aid, cognitive impairments (MMSE < 24), depression (GFS > 5), obesity (BMI > 30), orthopedic, neurological, and cardiovascular disease, use of medication that affects balance, and severe auditory & visual impairments. To prevent ceiling effects in balance robustness and performance and limited training gains, participants practicing sports that explicitly include balance components (e.g., Yoga, Pilates) were excluded as well ¹⁵⁵. To prevent obscuring any training effects, participants were asked to keep their normal activity levels in their daily life throughout the experiment. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation, and the experimental procedures were approved by the ethical review board of the Faculty of Behaviour and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VCWE-2018-171).

Experimental procedures

The protocol included an initial measurement session to determine baseline state (Pre), a measurement after one session of balance training (30 min; Post1), and after ten sessions (45 minutes per session; Post2). The protocol was concluded with a Retention assessment two weeks after the last training session. The Pre-measurements, the 30-min training session, and the Post1 measurements were performed on the same day. The measurements consisted of blocks of tests after the familiarization in the following order: assessment of balance robustness, baseline electromyography measurement (EMG, only at Pre and Post2), assessment of H-reflex, and a series of unipedal balance performance tests. During the assessments of the H-reflex and the series of unipedal balance performance tests, kinematic and EMG data were recorded. The Retention measurement consisted solely of the assessment of balance robustness (see Figure 3.1 for an overview).



Figure 3.1: Diagram illustrating the experimental procedures.

Instrumentation and data acquisition

For all unipedal tasks, a custom-made balance platform controlled by a robot (HapticMaster, Motek, Amsterdam, the Netherlands) was used. This platform can rotate 17.5° to either direction in the frontal plane. The rotation of the platform can be controlled by the robot, simulating a tunable stiffness and damping or applying position-control. For safety reasons, the balance platform was equipped with bars in front and on both sides of the participant, and there was ample space to step off the rotating part of the platform (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Participant in unipedal stance on the robot-controlled balance platform. This article is a part of a larger study; EEG data will be reported later.

Surface EMG data were collected from three muscles on the preferred stance leg: m. tibialis anterior (TA), m. peroneus longus (PL), and m. soleus (SOL). Bipolar electrodes were placed in accordance with the SENIAM recommendations ⁹⁵. The EMG signals were sampled at 2000 Hz and amplified using a 16-channel TMSi Porti system (TMSi, Twente, The Netherlands). The baseline EMG was measured during unipedal stance on a rigid surface. The preferred stance leg was reported by the participant prior to the experiment and confirmed by the experimenter by asking the participant to kick an imaginary soccer ball. The supporting leg was considered the preferred stance leg.

Kinematic data were obtained from 8 active marker clusters containing three markers each, placed on the posterior surface of the thorax (1), pelvis (1), arms (2), calves (2), and feet (2). The trajectories of these clusters were tracked by one Optotrak camera array (Northern Digital, Waterloo, Canada). A kinematic model of the participant was formed by relating the cluster positions to anatomical landmarks in an upright position, using a four-marker probe ¹⁵⁶. To elicit the H-reflex in the SOL, the tibial nerve was stimulated using an electrical stimulator

(Digitimer, DS7A UK). A large diameter anode, roughly 6×9 cm constructed of aluminum foil and conducting gel, was fixed on the patella of the standing leg ⁹⁶. The cathode was placed

over the tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa of the same leg. The optimal cathode position was determined in each subject by probing the popliteal fossa and delivering 5-10 mA stimulations to find the location that resulted in the largest SOL H-reflex amplitude ~ 25 ms after stimulation.

Balance robustness

Unipedal balance robustness was assessed using the balance platform. At Pre and Post2 timepoints, participants were familiarized with standing on the platform on their preferred leg in two trials. In the first familiarization trial, the platform imposed ten 8° rotational perturbations at a rate of 16°/s in random direction and returned to horizontal state, every 3 s, to familiarize the subjects with perturbed unipedal balancing. For tests with varying stiffness, the rotational stiffness of the platform was normalized to percentage of *mgh* (body weight multiplied by center of mass height) of each participant, to factor out differences in participant height and mass. In the second familiarization trial, the platform was set at a stiffness of 100% *mgh* for 30 s. After familiarization and rest, the participants had to stand on their preferred leg until balance loss occurred, while the stiffness of the platform decreased stepwise every 5 s, asymptotically approximating 0 Nm/rad at the maximum trial duration of 100 s (see EQ. 1, Figure 3.3). The time an individual could stay balanced without grabbing the bar or putting down the other foot, was used to assess balance robustness. This was repeated three times, with ample rest (2-5 minutes) in between, and results were averaged over three trials.

for time(T) = [5 * T : 5 * (T + 1)]; [s]

 $T = 0, 1, 2, ..., n; n \in Z$

Stiffness(T) =
$$\frac{100}{\sqrt{2^{T}}} * \text{mgh}; \frac{N.m}{rad}$$
 (EQ. 1)



Figure 3.3: The duration of balancing in [s], and corresponding stiffness as a function of mgh (body mass times gravity times the height of the body center of mass) and time.

Unipedal balance tasks

A unipedal trial on a flat rigid surface as a baseline measurement and 2 unipedal balance tasks on the robot-controlled platform were performed: an unperturbed and a perturbed task. In the unperturbed task, the stiffness of the platform was set at a constant value. To normalize task difficulty to balance robustness, this value was set at 1.3 times the stiffness at which balance loss occurred during the assessment of balance robustness in the Pre-measurement. This task was repeated three times with two minutes rest between trials. In the perturbed task, twelve perturbations were imposed by the platform in the form of mono-phasic sinusoidal rotations either in medial or lateral direction (amplitude of 8°, angular speed of 16°/s). The perturbation direction was randomized, and the inter-perturbation duration was randomly selected between 3-5 s. This task was performed five times with two minutes rest in between trials.

H-reflexes and Paired Reflex Depression

Assessment of the H-reflex consisted of three parts: determining the recruitment curve to find H_{max} and M_{max} , measuring the H-reflex and PRD in bipedal stance, and measuring H-reflex and PRD in unipedal stance, with the intensity of the stimulator set at H_{max} . To obtain the recruitment curve, participants were subjected to low-amplitude (~5 to ~120 mA) electrical stimuli. Participants were instructed to stand still bipedally, with the feet placed at shoulder width, arms besides their body, and to focus on a target in front of them. Subsequently, 1 ms single square pulses with a minimum 4 s inter-stimulus duration were delivered to the tibial nerve at increasing amplitudes to elicit H-reflexes in the SOL and EMG data were recorded. H_{max} is the maximum peak-to-peak amplitude of the SOL EMG, between 25 and 50 ms post stimulation, and M_{max} is the maximum peak-to-peak amplitude of SOL EMG between 0 and 25 ms post stimulation.

Subsequently, H-reflex and PRD were assessed in two stance conditions ¹⁵¹. In these conditions, participants were subjected to ten double-pulse stimulations of the tibial nerve. Here, inter-pulse duration was 100 ms, inter-train duration was randomized between 4-8 s, and stimulation intensity was set to the level that previously elicited the H_{max} . This stimulation protocol was delivered once in stable bipedal stance and once in unipedal stance on the balance platform, with the stiffness set at 100% mgh.

Balance training

In the first session, the participants were trained individually. The nine sessions of the 3week training program took place in a group setting (6-8 participants). The training program was designed based on previous studies that reported improved balance and reduced fall-risk ^{119,157}. All training sessions were supervised by a physical therapist who ensured that the sessions remained safe, yet sufficiently challenging for all the participants. The difficulty of the exercise was manipulated by: reducing support (e.g. hand support, two-legged stance, unipedal stance), using unstable objects with varying degrees of freedom and stability, adding motor and cognitive tasks (e.g., catching a ball or passing it in changing directions), and reducing sensory information (e.g., visual fixation or eyes closed). Each session started with a short warm-up. Solely standing balance exercises, focusing on unipedal stance, were included in the training program ¹⁵⁸ (see supplementary material 1 chapter 3). Group training sessions were 15 minutes longer than individual training sessions. Extra time was required to switch the devices between the training partners in the exercises with equipment.

Data analysis

Balance robustness

The duration the participant maintained balance, averaged over three trials, served to assess the individual's balance robustness.

Balance performance

The trajectory of the center of mass (CoM) was estimated from a full body kinematic model¹⁰². Balance performance was expressed as the mean absolute center of mass velocity in the mediolateral direction (vCoM).

Co-contraction duration (CCD)

Antagonistic co-contraction is the concurrent activation of antagonistic two muscles. It can be expressed as the duration, magnitude or both duration and magnitude of concurrent activation. Co-contraction was derived from three muscle pairs: SOL/TA, TA/PL and SOL/PL. EMG data were high-pass (35 Hz, bidirectional, 2nd order Butterworth) and notch filtered (50 Hz and its harmonics up to the Nyquist frequency, 1 Hz bandwidth, bidirectional, 1st order Butterworth). Subsequently, the filtered data were rectified using the Hilbert transform and low-pass filtered (40 Hz, bidirectional, 2nd order Butterworth). Finally, we determined the percentage of data points during the perturbed and unperturbed tasks at which both muscles in a pair exceeded the mean muscle activity of baseline unipedal stance. Since for Pre and Post 1 time-points the measurements were performed on the same day, the same unipedal trial was used as a reference for these two time-points.

H-reflexes and Paired Reflex Depression

H-reflex gain and PRD were derived from the high-pass filtered (10 Hz, bidirectional, 2nd order Butterworth) EMG activity of the SOL. The H-reflex gain (EQ, 2) was calculated as the mean, over all pulse trains.

Hreflex gain
$$= \frac{H_1}{bEMG}$$
 (EQ. 2)

where H1 was the maximum peak-to-peak amplitude ~ 25 ms after the first stimulus of the paired-pulse train and bEMG was the root-mean-square value of the EMG activity over the 100 ms prior to the pulse train. PRD was quantified as the mean relative depression of the second H-reflex relative to the first one (EQ. 3).

$$PRD\% = \frac{(H_2 - H_1)}{H1} * 100$$
 (EQ. 3)

Statistics

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to test the main effect of time-point (Pre, Post1, Post2, Retention) on balance robustness. Post-hoc comparisons (paired sample t-tests) were performed to investigate the effect of one session of training (Pre vs. Post1), long-term training (Pre vs. Post2), and retention (Pre vs. Retention). In addition, Post1-Post2 and Post2-Retention were compared to obtain insight into the changes over the short- and long-term and in retention.

Two-way repeated-measures ANOVAs were used to identify main effects of time-point (Pre, Post1, Post2) and condition (perturbed/unperturbed or bipedal/unipedal) on vCoM, CCD, H-reflex gain, and PRD. When the assumption of sphericity was violated, the Greenhouse-Geisser method was used. Post-hoc analyses (paired samples t-test) were performed to investigate the effect of one session (Pre vs. Post1) and ten sessions (Pre vs. Post2) of training when a main effect of Time-point or an interaction of Time-point x Condition was observed. For all post-hoc analyses, Holms' correction for multiple comparisons was applied.

Balance performance and the response to training are heterogeneous in older adults¹²⁰. Therefore, cross-sectional and longitudinal correlation analyses were performed to gain more insight into which (changes in) co-contraction, H-reflexes, and PRD were related to (changes in) balance robustness and balance performance. As cross-sectional analyses, the correlations

between balance robustness (duration) and CCD (averaged over perturbed and unperturbed trials) for all muscle pairs, H-reflex, and PRD were calculated. Moreover, the correlations between balance performance (vCoM) and the CCD for all muscle pairs in perturbed and unperturbed trials and between balance performance (vCoM) and H-reflex gains and PRD during unipedal and bipedal stance were calculated for the three time-points. For longitudinal analyses, the correlations between changes in the same parameters after one session and ten sessions of training were calculated. In view of outliers, Spearman's correlation (r) coefficients were calculated. In all statistical analyses, α =0.05 was used.

Only in balance robustness, all participants were included in the analysis. For all other analyses twenty-one participants were included because one participant was not able to fully perform the balance performance trials.

Results

Balance robustness

Balance robustness (duration of balancing) increased as a result of balance training $(F_{1.955,41.060} = 10.637, p < 0.001)$. The mean duration of balancing increased after one session of training (t = 3.325, p = 0.006, Figure 3.4). While, the duration remained unchanged between Post1-Post2 and Post2-Retention (t = - 1.257, p = 0.427; t = - 0.57, p = 0.571, respectively; Figure 3.4), ten sessions of training and retention showed higher robustness than Pre time-point (t = - 4.582, p < 0.001; t = - 5.151, p < 0.001, respectively; Figure 3.4). Overall, these results indicate a rapid improvement in balance robustness after only one session of training, with no further improvement after the subsequent nine training sessions.



Figure 3.4: Balance robustness at different time-points, expressed as the duration of maintaining balance under gradually decreasing surface stiffness.

Balance performance

Perturbed and unperturbed

Balance training led to an increase in balance performance (i.e. decreased vCoM, Figure 3.5, Time-point effect, $F_{1.533,30.655}$ = 10.598, p < 0.001). Participants showed larger vCoM in perturbed compared to unperturbed standing (Figure 3.5.a & 3.5.b, Condition effect, $F_{1,20}$ = 58.285, p < 0.001). Additionally, there was a significant interaction of time-point and condition on vCoM ($F_{2,40}$ = 5.242, p = 0.01). Post-hoc analysis showed that one session of training decreased vCoM in the perturbed condition, but did not change vCoM in the unperturbed condition (t = 3.35, p = 0.011 and t = 1.193, p = 0.715, respectively). On the other hand, ten sessions of training, changed vCoM significantly in both perturbed and unperturbed condition (t = 5.206, p < 0.001; t = 3.394, p = 0.011, respectively; Figure 3.5.a & 3.5.b), even though there were no significant changes in vCoM between Post1 and Post2 measurements in perturbed and unperturbed conditions (t = 1.439, p = 0.783; t = 1.718, p = 0.553, respectively; Figure 3.5.a & 3.5.b).



Figure 3.5: The mean absolute center of mass velocity in mediolateral direction at all three measured time-points. a) in the perturbed condition, b) in the unperturbed condition, c) in H-reflex bipedal stance condition, and d) in H-reflex unipedal stance condition. Circles and connecting lines represent individual results. The red lines indicate averages across subjects.

Bipedal and unipedal (H-reflex trials)

In one participant at time-point Pre, during the bipedal H-reflex measurement, a marker on the left arm was not visible. Therefore, for this participant the arms were excluded in calculating CoM trajectories. There was a significant effect of Time-point on balance performance (F_{1.163,23.267}= 5.233, p = 0.027). Participants showed smaller vCoM in bipedal compared to unipedal standing (Figure 3.5.c & 3.5.d, Condition effect, (F_{1,20}= 63.924, p < 0.001). There was a significant interaction of Time-point x Condition on vCoM (F_{1.249,24.974}= 6.237, p = 0.014). Post-hoc analysis showed that vCoM decreased only in the unipedal condition, after the one session and ten sessions of training (t = 4.101, p = 0.001; t = 4.147, p = 0.001, respectively), even though there were no significant changes between Post1-Post2 time-points (t = 0.046, p = 1).

Duration of Co-contraction

The CCD of the SOL/TA muscle pair was affected by time-point (Table 3.1). Post-hoc comparison showed that the CCD was not changed after the one session but had increased after ten sessions of training (t = 1.623, p = 0.112; t = -2.372, p = 0.045, respectively; Figure 3.6.a). No effects of Time-point and Condition, nor an interaction were observed for the other muscle pairs (Table 3.1). Overall our results showed no changes in SOL/TA CCD after one session of training but an increased SOL/TA CCD after ten sessions of training.

Table 3.1: 1	Results of 1	repeated	-measures 1	4NOVA	of the	duration	of co	o-contraction	of three	muscle p	airs,	in perturbed	and
unperturbed .	standing at	t three 🗅	Time-points	of Pre, 1	Post1,	and Post	2. E	Bold numbers	indicate	e a signifi	icant	effect.	

Paradigm	Muscles	Time-point			Condition			Time-point*Condition		
		df	F	р	df	F	р	df	F	р
CCD	SOL TA	1.512,	8.073	0.003	1,20	0.416	0.526	2,40	0.298	0.726
		30.242								
	TA PL	1.148,	1.285	0.275	1,20	0.005	0.944	1.567,	1.018	0.370
		22.952						31.336		
	SOL PL	1.088,37.665	0.522	0.492	1,20	0.616	0.441	2,40	0.762	0.473



Figure 3.6: Co-contraction index at three time-points in a) perturbed and b) unperturbed standing, for the muscle pairs SOL/TA. Circles and connecting lines represent individual results. The red lines indicate averages across subjects.

Reflexes

There was no effect of Time-point, nor an interaction effect of Time-point x Condition on H-reflex gains ($F_{1.567,31.344}$ = 0.467, p = 0.585, and $F_{2,40}$ = 1.859, p = 0.169, respectively; Figure 3.7). H-reflex gains were significantly higher in bipedal compared to unipedal stance ($F_{1,20}$ = 26.549, p < 0.001). Similarly, there was no effect of Time-point, nor an interaction effect of Time-point x Condition, on PRD ($F_{2,40}$ = 1.043, p = 0.360, and $F_{2,40}$ = 0.204, p = 0.802, respectively; Figure 3.8) but PRD was stronger in bipedal compared to unipedal stance ($F_{1,20}$ = 39.613, p < 0.001). Overall our results did not show any changes in the reflexes as a result of training.



Figure 3.7: H-reflex gains at three time-points a) shows the reflex gain for the bipedal condition b) shows the reflex gain for the unipedal condition. Circles and connecting lines represent individual results. The red lines indicate averages across subjects.

49



Figure 3.8: Paired reflex depression at three time-points. The paired reflex depression is displayed for a) the bipedal condition, and b) unipedal condition. Circles and connecting lines represent individual results. The red lines indicate averages across subjects.

Associations of balance robustness with co-contraction and reflexes

All correlation results are shown in Tables 3.2 and 3.3. For co-contraction, the average of the perturbed and unperturbed SOL/TA CCD was positively correlated with balance robustness at time-point Post2 (r = 0.564, p = 0.007). No correlations were observed between changes after one session or ten sessions of training. For reflexes, H-reflex gains in unipedal stance were negatively correlated with balance robustness (duration) at time-point Post2 (r = -0.585, p = 0.005). No correlations were observed between changes after one session or ten sessions of training.

Table 3.2	?: Results of	f the correlational	l analysis be	etween co	-contraction	(averaged ov	er perturbed an	d unperturbe	d trials),
reflexes in	bipedal and	unipedal with bo	lance robus	tness (dur	ation) at eac	ch Time-point	t. Bold number.	s indicate a si	ignificant
effect.									

	Pre		Pos	st1	Post2		
	Balance robustness		Balance re	obustness	Balance robustness		
	r	р	r	р	r	р	
CCD TAPL	-0.183	0.425	0.326	0.148	0.037	0.873	
CCD SOLTA	-0.015	0.948	0.115	0.617	0.564	0.007	
CCD SOLPL	-0.277	0.221	-0.114	0.621	-0.229	0.317	
H-reflex gain Bi	0.193	0.398	-0.183	0.426	0.050	0.827	
H-reflex gain Uni	0.183	0.425	-0.044	0.849	-0.585	0.005	
PRD Bi	-0.363	0.105	0.119	0.605	0.114	0.621	
PRD Uni	-0.384	0.086	-0.063	0.783	0.113	0.625	

Table 3.3: Results of the correlational analysis between the changes of co-contraction (averaged over perturbed and unperturbed trials), changes of reflexes in bipedal and unipedal with changes of balance robustness (duration) after one session and ten sessions of training.

	One se	ssion	Ten sessions			
	∆balance re	obustness	Δbalance robustness			
	r	р	r	р		
ΔCCD TAPL	0.076	0.743	-0.380	0.089		
ΔCCD SOLTA	0.302	0.182	-0.013	0.957		
ΔCCD SOLPL	0.085	0.713	-0.392	0.079		
ΔH-reflex gain Bi	-0.162	0.481	0.015	0.948		
∆H-reflex gain Uni	0.296	0.191	0.102	0.657		
ΔPRD Bi	-0.352	0.116	0.053	0.819		
ΔPRD Uni	-0.005	0.982	0.100	0.665		

Associations of balance performance with co-contraction and reflexes

All correlation results are shown in Tables 3.4 and 3.5. For co-contraction duration, at timepoint Pre, and Post2, SOL/TA CCD was negatively correlated with vCoM in perturbed standing (r = -0.441, p = 0.046; r = -0.471, p = 0.032, respectively), and at time-point Pre, TA/PL CCD was negatively correlated with vCoM in unperturbed standing (r = -0.453, p = 0.040). Negative correlations indicate that higher duration of co-contraction was associated with better performance (lower sway velocity). No correlations were observed between changes after one session or ten sessions of training (Table 3.5).

For reflexes, at time-point Post1, PRD was positively correlated with vCoM in bipedal stance (r = 0.583, p = 0.006), indicating that stronger PRD was associated with better performance. No correlations were observed between changes after one session or ten sessions of training (Table 3.5).

Table 3.4: Results of the correlational analysis between co-contraction with vCoM in perturbed and unperturbed, and between reflexes in bipedal and unipedal with vCoM in bipedal and unipedal stance at each Time-points of Pre, Post1, and Post2. Bold numbers indicate a significant effect.

	Perturbed								
	Pre v	СоМ	Post1	vCoM	Post2 vCoM				
	r	р	r	р	r	р			
CCD TAPL	-0.306	0.176	-0.426	0.055	0.040	0.863			
CCD SOLTA	-0.441	0.046	-0.340	0.131	-0.471	0.032			
CCD SOLPL	0.270	0.235	-0.071	0.758	0.154	0.501			
	Unperturbed								
CCD TAPL	-0.453	0.040	-0.274	0.228	0.168	0.462			
CCD SOLTA	-0.268	0.237	-0.285	0.208	-0.189	0.408			
CCD SOLPL	0.277	0.221	0.194	0.395	0.288	0.204			
	Bipedal								
H-reflex gain Bi	0.066	0.775	-0.137	0.550	0.310	0.170			
PRD Bi	-0.375	0.094	0.583	0.006	-0.275	0.226			
	Unipedal								
H-reflex gain Uni	0.284	0.210	-0.009	0.970	0.185	0.418			
PRD Uni	-0.045	0.845	0.305	0.178	-0.088	0.702			

Table 3.5: Results of the correlational analysis between changes of co-contraction with changes of vCoM in perturbed and unperturbed, and changes of reflexes in bipedal and unipedal with changes of vCoM in bipedal and unipedal stance after one session and ten sessions of training

	One sessio	on $\Delta v CoM$	Ten sessions $\Delta v CoM$					
	r	р	r	р				
		Per	turbed					
ΔCCD TAPL	-0.089	0.698	-0.258	0.256				
ΔCCD SOLTA	-0.003	0.988	0.001	0.997				
∆CCD SOLPL	0.044	0.85	0.039	0.86				
	Unperturbed							
$\Delta \text{CCD TAPL}$	-0.002	0.993	0.022	0.925				
ΔCCD SOLTA	0.306	0.176	0.085	0.711				
ΔCCD SOLPL	0.374	0.095	0.203	0.373				
	Bipedal							
ΔH-reflex gain Bi	-0.367	0.101	0.347	0.124				
ΔPRD Bi	-0.115	0.616	-0.386	0.085				
	Unipedal							
ΔH-reflex gain Uni	-0.414	0.063	0.234	0.306				
ΔPRD Uni	0.144	0.531	-0.039	0.868				

52

Discussion

We investigated the functional benefits and neural mechanisms associated with functional benefits of one session and ten sessions of balance training in older adults. We found that only one session of balance training increased older adults' balance robustness. Extra training sessions did not further improve but maintained the acquired robustness. In addition, balance performance in perturbed unipedal balancing was improved after only one training session, again with no further improvement over subsequent training sessions. Performance in unperturbed unipedal balancing, significantly improved over a ten sessions training period, in line with previous studies ¹²⁰.

In terms of challenge, the perturbed balance performance test and also the unipedal test during H-reflex stimulation can be considered intermediate to the unperturbed balance test and the test for robustness. We suggest that robustness and perturbed performance outcomes are mainly limited by the ability to deal with near balance loss, while the unperturbed balance test reflects the ability to minimize sway in a situation where balance loss is not likely to occur. The fast changes in the ability to recover balance would be in line with results on perturbation training ^{130,131}. Overall, this suggests that balance training can increase robustness rapidly, while ten sessions of training refines balance performance and maintains the acquired balance robustness and performance. Given the functional relevance of balance robustness, this finding would put into question the predominant use of balance performance in conditions with a low challenge as outcome measures of training. We note here that balance performance during bipedal standing was not affected by training.

Contrary to our hypothesis, co-contraction was not decreased after balance training; one session of training did not change the co-contraction duration, and ten sessions of training even led to an increased co-contraction duration of SOL/TA. Moreover, cross-sectional correlation analysis showed higher co-contraction duration was correlated with higher balance robustness and performance. Co-contraction may be an adaptation, and training could reduce the need for it - older adults show more co-contraction than young adults ⁷⁴. But, training also could increase the use of this adaptation. Co-contraction of antagonistic muscles has been shown to increase joint stiffness and serve a zero-delay corrective response to unexpected disturbances in challenging motor tasks ¹⁵⁹. In addition, co-contraction may reduce electromechanical delays by pre-tensioning tendons, and as such improved feedback control ⁹³ and co-contraction may improve feedback response by allowing dual control of agonist and antagonistic muscles ¹⁶⁰. Therefore, older adults may increase co-contraction to enhance balance control. However, longitudinal analysis did not show any correlation between the changes in co-contraction

duration and changes in balance robustness or performance. Therefore, it seems that increased co-contraction duration is not the mechanism underlying improved balance after one session or ten sessions of training. Possibly, training causes some individuals to use co-contraction more, whereas it reduces the need for co-contractions in others.

Also, in contrast with our hypothesis, neither one session, nor ten sessions of training affected H-reflex gains or PRD. In line with previous studies ^{86,87,139}, H-reflex gains decreased when going from bipedal to unipedal stance. This has been suggested to help in dealing with the higher postural demand of unipedal stance ¹⁶¹, where monosynaptic stretch reflexes may fail to contribute to maintenance of balance. However, we found stronger PRD in bipedal than unipedal stance. It has been suggested that the inhibitory effect of the first H-reflex stimulus is less when more background afferent discharge is present, which could explain the difference between unipedal and bipedal stance ¹⁴⁹. Alternatively, PRD may be affected by descending pathways projecting onto spinal interneurons, resulting in a larger second H-reflex (less depression) in unipedal compared to bipedal stance ¹⁶². Functionally this decreased depression could act to facilitate responses to external perturbation, but this would be at odds with the decreased gain of the first H-reflex. Cross-sectional analyses showed that, in unipedal stance, smaller H-reflex gains were correlated with higher balance robustness, and stronger PRD in bipedal stance correlated with better balance performance. Longitudinal correlational analyses did not show any significant correlation between the neuromuscular mechanisms and the performance or the robustness. All in all, these data support that lower excitability in response to type 1a afference and stronger suppression of responses to such input is beneficial for balance control, in line with outcomes of studies in middle-aged adults ¹⁵², but changes in H-reflex sensitivity or depression do not appear to account for the effect of training.

Limitations

Since multiple randomized controlled trials have shown the efficacy of balance training in older adults, the present study was done without a control group ¹²⁰. This implies however, that we cannot exclude that some of our findings were due to repeated testing, which in itself could be seen as a form of training. The finding that balance robustness did not drop two weeks after the last training session and hence five weeks after initial testing indicates that the improvement was a result of learning. Second, our hypothesis that co-contraction duration will decrease after the balance training in older adults, was based on the findings from our previous study, where we found higher co-contraction duration in older adults compared to younger adults. Hence, we used the method presented in the current study comparable with our first study, which takes the duration of co-contraction as a percentage of when muscles are active, as determined from

a reference activation. This EMG baseline measurements itself could be influenced by training, and higher co-contraction duration after the ten sessions of training resulted in our study could be simply due to lower baseline measurement at Post2 Time-point. Also, co-contraction could be an adaptation mechanism and training could reduce or increase it, considering the impairment and the task. Third, for reflex measurements it is generally recommended to elicit H-reflex between 15-40% of M_{max} ^{123,124}, while we elicited H-reflex at H_{max} , in line with our previous study. However, for 20 out of 22 participants H_{max} was less than 40% of M_{max} (see supplementary material 2 chapter 3). Lastly, we calculated a large amount of correlations, and did not apply a correction for multiple testing while doing so. Hence, our results should be considered as explorative, and future, confirmative studies should be undertaken to confirm our findings.

Perspective

Previous studies showed improved balance performance as a result of balance training in both young and older adults ^{25,120,163}. In young adults improved balance control has been shown to be accompanied with decreased H-reflexes ⁵⁷ and decreased co-contraction ⁷³. In older adults, the mechanisms underlying improvements in balance performance and robustness after the training remain unclear. Our results indicate that one session of training improves balance robustness, while ten sessions of training led to a better balance performance with no further improvement in but potentially contributing to retention of balance robustness. While co-contraction duration was correlated to balance performance cross-sectionally, the neural mechanisms underlying balance improvement after one or ten training sessions were not exclusively the ones we studied here (i.e., co-contraction duration, H-reflex gain and peripherally induced inhibition measured with PRD).

Acknowledgments

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 721577. The research team would like to thank the individuals who participated in the experiment for the purposes of this research. SMB was funded by a VIDI grant (016.Vidi.178.014) from the Dutch Organization for Scientific Research (NWO). RAJK was supported by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program (grant agreement number 715945 Learn2Walk). A part of this study has been presented at American society of biomechanics 2020 congress by the first author.

Chapter 4

Balance training improves feedback control of perturbed balance in older adults

Leila Alizadehsaravi, Sjoerd M. Bruijn, Jaap H. van Dieën

Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

bioRxiv 2021.03.31.437824; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.31.437824

Abstract

Recovering balance after perturbations becomes challenging with aging, but an effective balance training could reduce such challenges. In this study, we examined the effect of balance training on feedback control after unpredictable perturbations by investigating balance performance, recovery strategy, and muscle synergies. We assessed the effect of balance training on unipedal perturbed balance in twenty older adults (>65 years) after short-term (one session) and long-term (3-weeks) training. Participants were exposed to random medial and lateral perturbations consisting of 8-degree rotations of a robot-controlled balance platform. We measured full-body 3D kinematics and activation of 9 muscles (8 stance leg muscles, one trunk muscle) during 2.5 s after the onset of perturbation. The perturbation was divided into 3 phases: phase1 from the onset to maximum rotation of the platform, phase 2 from the maximum angle to the 0-degree angle and phase 3 after platform movement. Balance performance improved after long-term training as evidenced by decreased amplitudes of center of mass acceleration and rate of change of body angular momentum. The rate of change of angular momentum did not directly contribute to return of the center of mass within the base of support, but it reoriented the body to an aligned and vertical position. The improved performance coincided with altered activation of synergies depending on the direction and phase of the perturbation. We concluded that balance training improves control of perturbed balance, and reorganizes feedback responses, by changing temporal patterns of muscle activation. These effects were more pronounced after long-term than short-term training.

Keyword: balance training, balance control, feed forward, feedback, counter-rotation, recovery, synergy, aging

57

Introduction

In theory, the nervous system can use two control mechanisms to recover balance after a perturbation ¹⁶⁴. Reactive or feedback control, occurs after a perturbation and is the only mechanism available when the nervous system has no prior knowledge of a perturbation ^{165,166}. Anticipatory or feedforward control is based on expectations of a perturbation, and aims to minimize the impact of the perturbation on balance by changing joint orientation or stiffness prior to a perturbation ¹⁶⁷. Depending on a perturbation's direction and magnitude, feedforward control is not always sufficient for balance control, and then feedback control comes into play to regain balance. Effective feedforward control minimizes the effect of perturbations and reduces the need for feedback control ^{168,169}.

Three movement strategies are well known to contribute to feedback control of balance after perturbations: the ankle, counter-rotation, and stepping strategies ¹⁷⁰. The stepping strategy aims to displace or expand the base of support beyond the projection of the center of mass by stepping or grabbing a handhold. It is usually seen as a last resort reflecting poorer balance control, and older adults use it more than younger adults ^{171–173}. The ankle strategy aims to accelerate the center of mass towards the base of support through a shift of the center of pressure, the point of application of the ground reaction force, generated by ankle moments ¹⁷⁴. The counter-rotation strategy aims to accelerate the center of mass towards the base of support through horizontal ground reaction forces generated by changes in the angular momentum of body segments relative to the center of mass ^{25,170,174}. Thus, these strategies can be differentiated by distinct kinematics and kinetics but also by distinct patterns of muscle activation reflected in distinct muscle synergies ^{175,176}.

In non-stepping balance control, the counter-rotation strategy has been suggested to be more robust than the ankle strategy ^{177,178}, and the use of counter-rotation strategies relative to the ankle increases with age and the magnitude of perturbations ^{52,179–181}. Older adults rely on the counter-rotation strategy at a lower level of challenge than younger adults, even during unperturbed balancing ^{52,180}. This presumably helps to secure robust balance control regardless of age-related sensory errors ^{55,182}.

Balance training has been shown to result in altered muscle synergies and kinematics after a perturbation ^{183,184}. This may reflect improved feedback control but may also reflect improved feedforward control. Previously, we showed that training of older adults focusing on balance control on unstable surfaces, improved performance in perturbed and unperturbed balance tasks ¹⁸⁵. In addition, we found that the duration of co-contraction of muscles around the ankle increased, and we suggested that this may reflect an improved feedforward control strategy that

contributed to performance improvements. Thus, training may have improved feedforward control resulting in less use of the counter-rotation strategy for balance recovery after a perturbation. However, in spite of the fact that the training program did not contain sudden, unpredictable perturbations, the challenging exercises used in training may also have improved feedback balance control, in which case one might expect the more effective counter-rotation strategy to be used more after training. In this study, we investigated the effects of training on kinematics and muscle synergies of balance recovery after perturbations in more detail to improve our understanding of training effects on feedback control of balance in older adults.

Methods

The data collection and training were described earlier ¹⁸⁵, here we provide a brief summary. In this study twenty older adults (71.9±4.09 years old) participated. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation, and the ethical review board of the Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, approved the experimental procedures (VCWE-2018-171).

Training consisted of balancing on balance boards and foam pads. The first training session was completed individually (30 minutes), and subsequently, a 3-weeks training program was completed in groups of 6-8 participants (45x3 minutes per week). We gradually increased the challenge of exercises by reducing hand support, moving from bipedal to unipedal stance, using more unstable support surfaces, and adding perturbations such as catching and throwing a ball and reducing visual input.

We assessed balance recovery with participants in unipedal stance on their dominant leg on a robot-controlled platform (HapticMaster, Motek, Amsterdam, the Netherlands). Participants performed 5 trials of a perturbed unipedal balance task, in which 12 random perturbations (6 medial and 6 lateral) were induced during 50-60 seconds. The platform rotated over a sagittal axis in the medial or lateral direction (amplitude of 8°) in random order. Participants were given two minutes rest between trials and a randomized 3-5 seconds rest period between perturbations within the trial. Participants were asked to fix their vision on a target in front of them. Full-body 3D kinematics were tracked by one Optotrak camera array (Northern Digital, Waterloo, Canada). Surface electromyography (EMG) data were recorded from nine unilateral muscles of the dominant leg: tibialis anterior (TA), vastus lateralis (VL), lateral gastrocnemius (GsL), soleus (SOL), peroneus longus (PL), rectus femoris (RF), biceps femoris (BF) and gluteus medius (GIM) and erector spinae (ES) muscles (TMSi, Twente, The Netherlands). We collected the data at baseline (Pre), after one training session (Post1), and after ten training sessions (Post2).

Data analysis

Sixty perturbations per participant per time-point (30 medial and 30 lateral) were used to calculate all variables.

Perturbation Onset

The onset of the perturbations was detected through the platform's rotation angle after synchronizing the platform, kinematics, and EMG data. Medial perturbations were defined when the platform started to rotate such that the big toe moved downward (eversion) and lateral when the big toe moved upward (inversion), and this was consistent for right- and left-leg dominant participants. A time window from 0.5 s before the onset of the perturbation to 2.5 s after the onset was selected for further analysis of all variables. For all variables 0.5 s baseline (from the start of the window until perturbation onset) was subtracted. Kinematics data were ensemble-averaged first over perturbations within a trial and then over trials per participant. The selected window was divided into three sub-windows; phase 1 from perturbation onset to the maximum rotation angle of the platform, phase 2 (return to baseline) from maximum angle to 0-degree rotation angle of the platform and phase3 for 1 s after the platform returned to a 0-degree orientation.

Balance recovery, performance and strategy

We averaged the time series of center of mass displacement (CoM [m]), velocity (vCoM [m/s]) and acceleration (aCoM [m/s²]) in the frontal plane over all trials at a given time-point per subject. We calculated the positive and negative areas under the center of mass acceleration curve as an indicator of balance performance¹⁸⁶. Next, we calculated total body angular momentum [kg.m²/s], its integral after division by the instantaneous moment of inertia to obtain a description of body orientation [degree], and the rate of change in total body angular momentum (time derivative of the total body angular momentum [kg.m²/s²]). We calculated the positive areas under the curve of the rate of change of angular momentum as a second indicator of performance. The positive and negative areas were estimated separately for the three phases per direction of perturbation. The counter-rotation strategy is used when the rate of change in angular momentum accelerates the center of mass towards the base of support. Independent of this, angular momentum may be changed to regain upright body orientation. To assess how angular momentum changes were used, we compared the direction and timing of changes in the rate of change of angular momentum with CoM position and with body orientation.

Muscle synergies

EMG data were high-pass (35 Hz, bidirectional, 3rd order Butterworth) and notch filtered (50 Hz and its harmonics up to the Nyquist frequency, 1 Hz bandwidth, bidirectional, 1st order Butterworth). The filtered data were Hilbert transformed, rectified, and low-pass filtered (20 Hz, bidirectional, 3rd order Butterworth). Each rectified EMG signal was normalized to the maximum EMG value obtained over five perturbation trials per participant per time-point. The EMG data were down sampled to the sampling rate of the balance platform (100 Hz) to speed up the calculations. Subsequently, windows were selected from 0.5 s before until 2.5 s after the onset of perturbation. All windows for all participants and time-points were concatenated per perturbation direction. From these concatenated data, synergies were decomposed into a weighting matrix (spatial component) and activation profiles (temporal component) using non-negative matrix factorization (NNMF). Four synergies were extracted per perturbation direction, such that reconstructed EMG data accounted for a minimum of 90% of the variance in the EMG data¹⁸⁷. Subsequently, we reconstructed the temporal activation profiles using pseudo-inverse multiplication of EMG data at the original sampling rate (2000 Hz) with the spatial components resulting from the previous step, per participant per time-point. The baseline values (mean over half a second before onset) were subtracted to focus on changes in muscle activation after perturbation.

We analyzed the activation profiles by estimating the magnitude of the activation and time to the peak activation for both the positive (excitation) and negative (inhibition) parts of the curve. The magnitude of the activation profile was calculated as the positive and negative area under the time dependent activation profiles separately for three phases. Time to the peak was estimated as the time that the maximum and minimum peak of an activation profile occurred in the selected window per synergy, per direction of perturbation. Magnitudes and time to the peak activation were averaged over 30 perturbations per participant and per time-point per direction of perturbation.

Statistics

One-way repeated-measures ANOVAs were used to identify the main effect of Time-point (Pre, Post1, Post2) on all kinematics and synergy variables per phase except for time to the peak. For time to the peak the statistical analysis was performed for the whole perturbation duration, as the peaks could have been shifted between phases after the training. Greenhouse-Geisser corrections were used when the assumption of sphericity was violated. In case of a significant effect of Time-point, post-hoc tests with Holm's correction for multiple comparisons (Pre-Post1 and Pre-Post2) were performed. In all statistical analyses, $\alpha = 0.05$ was used.

Results

Balance performance

In figure 4.1 and 4.2, center of mass displacement, velocity, and acceleration (left panels), as well as orientation, angular momentum, and rate of change of angular momentum (right panels) are displayed. The phases are color-coded. In phase 1, the initial change in angular momentum and center of mass acceleration are in line with the direct effects of the perturbations. However, corrective responses can be observed since acceleration and rate of change of angular momentum changed direction before the platform reached its maximum angle. In phase 2, corrective responses further counteracted the induced angular momentum. These responses did not correct the center of mass position, but rather corrected the upper body orientation to vertical. In phase 3, the platform stopped, and CoM and orientation cross the baseline and some overshoot in both occurs. In all three phases, but most obviously in phases 1 and 2, the sign of the rate of change in angular momentum would not result in accelerations that would correct CoM position as in the counter-rotation strategy, but instead corrected body orientation. This is illustrated in the drawings in figures 4.1 and 4.2. The left drawing illustrates the effect of the perturbation. The right figure illustrates the corrective response of the subject rotating the body in the opposite direction relative to the platform rotation, which induces an acceleration of the CoM in the direction of the perturbation.

The time series in figures 4.1 and 4.2 suggest that corrective responses were less pronounced after training, particularly after long-term training. This could be due to both improved feedforward and feedback control. Feedforward control may have affected the kinematics particularly in phase 1, where perturbation effects seemed somewhat smaller after training, especially visible after medial perturbations. In phase 2, after the training, corrective responses seemed attenuated, resulting in less overshoot in phase 3. Statistical analyses of these effects are reported below for lateral and medial perturbations separately.



Figure 4.1: Linear kinematics (left panel) and rotational kinematics (right panel) are depicted for 0.5 s before onset to 2.5 s after onset of the lateral perturbations. Line types reflect Time-points: Pre (— solid line), Post1 (—• dash-dotted line), and Post2 (• dotted line). The red lines represent lateral perturbations; the blue line represents the rotation angle of the platform and is scaled per figure. Asterisks in 2 bottom subplots indicate a significant effect of training. The drawings illustrate the effect of the perturbation and the initial corrective response on angular momentum. The left drawing illustrates the initial, direct effect of the perturbation. The right figure illustrates the corrective response of the subject.



Figure 4.2: Linear kinematics (left panel) and rotational kinematics (right panel) are depicted for 0.5 s before onset to 2.5 s after onset of the medial perturbations. Lines reflect Time-points: Pre (— solid line), Post1 (—• dash-dotted line), and Post2 (• dotted line). The black lines represent the medial perturbations. The blue line represents the rotation angle of the platform and is scaled per figure. Asterisks in 2 bottom subplots indicate a significant effect of training. The drawings illustrate the effect of the perturbation and the initial corrective response on angular momentum. The left drawing illustrates the initial, direct effect of the perturbation. The right figure illustrates the corrective response of the subject.

Lateral perturbations

The negative area under the acceleration curve in phase 1, in the direction of the platform rotation, was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 3.53$, p = 0.039). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve did not change after short-term (p = 0.236), but decreased after long-term training (t = 2.63, p = 0.036; Figure 4.3.b, left panel). In phase 2, the positive area

under the acceleration curve, in the direction of the platform rotation returning to horizontal, was also affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 7.46$, p = 0.002). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 2.77, p = 0.017; t = 3.71, p = 0.002, respectively; Figure 4.3.a, middle panel). Also, in phase 2, the negative area under the acceleration curve in the direction opposite to the perturbation angle was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 3.90$, p = 0.029). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve did not change after short-term (p = 0.092) but decreased after long-term training (t = 2.66, p = 0.034; Figure 4.3.b, middle panel). In phase 3, the positive area under the acceleration curve was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 9.24$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve is affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 9.24$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 9.24$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve is affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 9.24$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 9.24$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 3.14, p = 0.006; t = 4.11, p < 0.001, respectively; Figure 4.3.a, right panel).



Lateral perturbation Center of mass acceleration

Figure 4.3: Area under center of mass acceleration curve after lateral perturbations at three time-points. Top panel a), represents the positive area, and bottom panel b) represents the negative area. Phase 1, 2 and 3 are shown in left, middle and right panel, respectively.

Lateral perturbation Rate of change of angualar momentum



Figure 4.4: Area under the curve of the rate of change of angular momentum after lateral perturbations at three time-points. Top panel a), represents the positive area, and bottom panel b) represents the negative area. Phase 1, 2 and 3 are shown in left, middle and right panel, respectively.

In phase 1, the initial negative area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, in the direction of the platform rotation, was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 4.52$, p = 0.017). Posthoc testing showed that area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 2.62, p = 0.038; t = 2.59, p = 0.038, respectively; Figure 4.4.b, left panel). In phase 2, the positive area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, in the direction of the platform rotation returning to horizontal, was affected by training ($F_{1.47,28.09} = 11.34$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 3.89, p < 0.001; t = 4.32, p < 0.001, respectively; Figure 4.4.a, middle panel). Also, in phase 2, the negative area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, opposite to platform rotation, was affected by training ($F_{1.32,25.16} = 7.68$, p = 0.006). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and longterm training (t = 3.27, p = 0.005; t = 3.50, p = 0.004, respectively; Figure 4.4.b, middle panel). In phase 3, the positive area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 4.87$, p = 0.013). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 2.69, p =0.03; t = 2.71, p = 0.03, respectively; Figure 4.4.a, right panel).

Medial perturbations

In phase 1, the positive area under the acceleration curve, in the direction of the platform rotation, was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 8.61$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve did not change after short-term (p = 0.07) but decreased after long-term training (t = 4.14, p < 0.001; Figure 4.5.a, left panel). In phase 2, the negative area under the acceleration curve, in the direction of the platform rotation back to horizontal, was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 7.46$, p = 0.002). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve did not change after short-term (p = 0.092) but decreased after long-term training (t = 2.72, p = 0.029; Figure 4.5.b, middle panel). Also, in phase 2, the positive area under the acceleration curve, opposite to the direction of platform rotation, was also affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 3.78$, p = 0.032).

Medial perturbation



Figure 4.5: Area under the curve of the center of mass acceleration after medial perturbations at three time-point. Top panel a), represents the positive area, and bottom panel b) represents the negative area. Phase 1, 2 and 3 are shown in left, middle and right panel, respectively.

Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the acceleration curve did not change after short-term (p = 0.301) but decreased after long-term training (t = 2.74, p = 0.027; Figure 4.5.a, middle panel). In phase 3, the negative area under the acceleration curve was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 8.63$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the acceleration curve of overshoot did not change after short-term (p = 0.195) but decreased after long-term training (t = 4.072, p < 0.001; Figure 4.5.b, right panel).

In phase 1, the initial, positive area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, in the direction of the platform rotation, was affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 7.13$, p = 0.002). Posthoc testing showed that the area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 2.59, p = 0.027; t = 3.67, p = 0.002, respectively; Figure 4.6.a, middle panel).

Medial perturbation Rate of change of



Figure 4.6: Area under the curve of the rate of change of angular momentum after medial perturbations at three time-points. Top panel a), represents the positive area, and bottom panel b) represents the negative area. Phase 1, 2 and 3 are shown in left, middle and right panel, respectively.

In phase 2, the negative area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, in the direction of the platform rotation back to horizontal, was also affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 7.26$, p = 0.002). Post-hoc testing showed that the area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 3.22, p = 0.005; t = 3.36, p = 0.005, respectively; Figure 4.6.b, middle panel). The later positive area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve in phase 2 was also affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 5.67$, p = 0.007). Post-hoc testing showed that area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve decreased after both short- and long-term training (t = 3.12, p = 0.01; t = 2.65, p = 0.023, respectively; Figure 4.6.a, middle panel). In phase 3, no effects of training on the positive or negative area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve were found (p = 0.058, p = 0.298, respectively).

Muscle Synergies

The spatial components, i.e., the weighting factors of muscles per synergy, were largely similar between medial and lateral perturbations (Figure 4.7). The activation profiles in synergy 2 including lateral ankle muscles and in synergy 3 including frontal ankle muscles seemed to be mirrored between lateral and medial perturbations, and therefore might reflect the use of the ankle strategy for mediolateral stabilization. But interestingly, the initial responses in these synergies, which could reflect stretch responses of the ankle muscles, would aggravate the effect of the perturbation. Synergy 1 included GIM and RF showed a fairly similar activation profile for medial and lateral perturbations and may thus be less relevant for mediolateral stabilization. Synergy 4 included the erector spinae on the stance legs side, and was mainly active after medial perturbations and may be relevant for control of upper body orientation.



Figure 4.7: The muscle weighting and average activation profile shown after medial and lateral perturbations for three phases. Phase1 from perturbation onset to the maximum rotation angle of the platform, phase 2 (return to baseline) from maximum angle to 0-degree rotation angle of the platform and phase3 for 1 s after the platform returned to a 0-degree orientation. Lines reflect Time-points: Pre (— solid line), Post1 (—• dash-dotted line), and Post2 (• dotted line). The red color is assigned to lateral and the black color is assigned to medial perturbations. The baseline values in temporal activation in panel right were subtracted after the factorization to identify suppression and excitation relative to baseline values.

Lateral perturbations

In phase 1, no significant changes were observed after training.

In phase 2, although the activation profile was mainly above baseline (excitation), there was a significant effect of training on the negative area under the curve (inhibition) of synergy 1 (F_{2,38} = 3.62, p = 0.036). However, post-hoc testing showed no significant changes after shortnor long-term training (t=2.38, p = 0.066; t=2.27, p = 0.066, respectively; Figure 4.8). Training also affected the negative area under the curve (inhibition) of synergy 4 in phase 2 (F_{2,38} = 4.31, p = 0.02), although the average activation in this phase was positive. Post-hoc testing showed that activation was not changed after short-term training, but was more inhibited after longterm training (t=0.37, p = 0.70; t=2.71, p = 0.03, respectively; Figure 4.8).

In phase 3, there was an effect of training on the positive area under the curve (excitation) of synergy 3 ($F_{2,38} = 3.67$, p = 0.035). Post-hoc testing showed that the activation did not significantly change after short-term but the positive area was larger after long-term training (t = - 2.08, p = 0.088; t = -2.54, p = 0.045, respectively; Figure 4.8).

The time to the peak did not significantly change after the training in any of the synergies.



Lateral perturbation

Figure 4.8: Area under the curve of activation profiles in selected phases after lateral perturbations at three time-points.

Medial perturbations

In phase 1, there was an effect of training on the negative area under the curve (inhibition) of synergy 2 ($F_{2,38} = 3.52$, p = 0.039) which was generally less strong after training, although post-hoc testing showed no significant differences after short-term or long-term training (t= - 0.38, p = 0.70; t= - 2.46, p = 0.055, respectively; Figure 4.9). Training increased the later negative area under the curve of synergy 3 in phase 1 ($F_{2,38} = 7.53$, p = 0.002). Post-hoc testing showed that activation was more inhibited after both short- and long-term training (t=2.71, p = 0.02; t=3.76, p = 0.002, respectively; Figure 4.9). Training also affected the initial negative area under the curve of synergy 4 in phase 1 ($F_{2,38} = 4.99$, p = 0.012). Post-hoc testing showed that activation did not change after short-term training, but was more inhibited after long-term training (t = 0.811, p = 0.422; t = 3.05, p = 0.012, respectively; Figure 4.9).
In phase 2, there was an effect of training on the excitation of synergy 2 ($F_{2,38} = 3.37$, p = 0.045). Post-hoc testing showed that the activation profile did not change after short- nor after long-term training (t= 2.46, p = 0.055; t=1.94, p = 0.119, respectively; Figure 4.9).

In phase 3, training affected the inhibition of synergy 2 in overshoot ($F_{2,38} = 3.96$, p = 0.027). Post-hoc testing showed that the activation profile did not change after short-term but was less inhibited after the long-term training (t= - 0.86, p = 0.39; t= - 2.75, p = 0.027, respectively; Figure 4.9). The inhibition of synergy 1 in overshoot, phase 3, was also affected by training ($F_{2,38} = 3.36$, p = 0.045). Post-hoc showed it was more inhibited after short-term but back to baseline after long-term training (t = 2.53, p = 0.047; t = 1.74, p = 0.177, respectively; Figure 4.9).

The time to the peak in synergy 2 after medial perturbation was affected by training ($F_{2,38}$ = 6.40, p = 0.004). Post hoc showed that time to the peak did not change after short- but was delayed after long-term training (t=-2.10, p = 0.085; t=-3.559, p = 0.003, respectively; Figure 4.9).

Medial perturbation



Figure 4.9: Area under the curve of activation profiles in selected phases after medial perturbations at three time-points.

Discussion

Aging comes with challenges to recover from perturbed balance. An effective balance training could reduce such challenges. Previously we reported that training decreased mean

absolute center of mass velocity and increased ankle muscle co-contraction in perturbed unipedal balancing ¹⁸⁵. We suggested that increased co-contraction might compensate for the age-related deficits in sensory-motor control and as such reflect improved feedforward balance control. Yet, feedforward control is not always sufficient. Moreover, feedforward control in the form of sustained co-contraction requires energy and hence could cause fatigue. In our experiment, participants were expecting a perturbation, but were unaware of its timing and direction, allowing some, but limited feedforward control. When balance was perturbed, consistent responses in muscle activations were observed, indicating that feedback control was still used to regain balance. After training, changes in feedback control and smaller corrective responses to reorient the upper body to the upright position were observed.

Medial and lateral platform perturbations caused corresponding medial and lateral accelerations of the CoM as well as a change in angular momentum in the direction of platform rotation. Subsequent changes in angular momentum did not contribute to moving the center of mass back to the baseline position which indicates that the counter-rotation strategy was not used by our participants. Thus, the rate of change in angular momentum was used to re-orient the body rather than to shift the center of mass position over the base of support. This reorientation of the body was better tuned after training, i.e., the corrective change in angular momentum had a smaller area under the rate of change of angular momentum curve, resulting in less overshoot. This also contributed to better control of the CoM as the adverse effect on CoM acceleration would be smaller. These findings emphasize that balance control, conceptualized as control over CoM position relative to the base of support, is constrained by control of body orientation. While the CoM could be maintained over the base of support with opposite orientations of the upper and lower body oriented, a vertical orientation of both segments seems to be preferred and would of course be less demanding.

Reactive balance control improved after training, as shown by decreased amplitudes of the center of mass acceleration and rate of change of angular momentum. The improvement in center of mass acceleration and in rate of change of angular momentum in phase 1 might partially be caused by better feedforward control or improved reflex-based activity immediately following the perturbation and partially by improved feedback control in generating the corrective response at the end of the phase 1. The significant improvement in balance performance of phase 2 after perturbations indicates that the feedback control of balance improved more notably after long-term training. The improvements in phase 3 are likely an effect of better tuned responses in phase 2, resulting in less overshoot, but could also be due to higher co-contraction leading to a quicker damping of oscillations after the perturbations.

For lateral perturbations, training caused changes in the synergies in phases 2 and 3. After training and most notably after long-term training, participants inhibited synergy 4, comprising ES, VL and BF muscles, more in phase 2. This may have reduced the overshoot of CoM movement augmented by an increase in co-contraction of TA and SOL as evidenced by enhanced excitation of synergy 3 in phase 3.

For medial perturbations, training caused less inhibition in phase 1 of synergy 2 including the PL and GsL muscles. Since this initial inhibition may aggravate the perturbation, the training adaptation is likely beneficial. In the same phase the inhibition of synergy 4 including the ES, VL and BF muscles became more pronounced. The inhibition of the ES may have limited upper body rotation towards medial. Later in phase 1, synergy 3 including the TA and SOL was more inhibited and this inhibition likely helped balance recovery by the simultaneous excitation of synergy 2. In phase 2, synergy 2 was less activated after training, which may have reduced the overshoot of CoM movement, which in turn could explain the decreased inhibition of this synergy in phase 3.

Conclusion

We investigated the effect of balance training on feedback control after expected but unpredictable balance perturbations in older adults. Our results indicate that balance training improves performance and improves the corrective responses after a perturbation. The improvement was observed in reduced amplitudes of the rate of change of angular momentum and center of mass acceleration. The rate of change of angular momentum did not correct the center of mass position, as we expected from the definition of the counter-rotation strategy, but reoriented the body to the vertical. These kinematic changes appeared to be linked to altered temporal activation of muscles grouped in ankle and upper body synergies.

Acknowledgments

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 721577. The research team would like to thank the individuals who participated in the experiment for the purposes of this research. SMB was funded by a VIDI grant (016.Vidi.178.014) from the Dutch Organization for Scientific Research (NWO).

Chapter 5

Neuromuscular control of gait stability in older adults is adapted to environmental demands but not improved after standing balance training

Leila Alizadehsaravi, Sjoerd M. Bruijn, Wouter Muijres, Ruud A.J. Koster, Jaap H. van Dieën

Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Submitted to PLOS ONE: bioRxiv 2020.10.28.358788; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.28.358788

74

Abstract

Balance training aims to improve balance and transfer acquired skills to real-life tasks and conditions. How older adults adapt gait control to different conditions, and whether these adaptations are altered by balance training remains unclear. We investigated adaptations in neuromuscular control of gait in twenty-two older adults (72.6 \pm 4.2 years) between normal (NW) and narrow-base walking (NBW), and the effects of a standing balance training program shown to enhance unipedal balance control in the same participants. At baseline, after one session and after 3-weeks of training, kinematics and EMG of NW and NBW on a treadmill were measured. Gait parameters and temporal activation profiles of five synergies extracted from 11 muscles were compared between time-points and gait conditions. No effects of balance training or interactions between training and walking condition on gait parameters or synergies were found. Trunk center of mass (CoM) displacement and velocity (vCoM), and the local divergence exponent (LDE), were lower in NBW compared to NW. For synergies associated with stance of the non-dominant leg and weight acceptance of the dominant leg, full width at half maximum (FWHM) of the activation profiles was smaller in NBW compared to NW. For the synergy associated with non-dominant heel strike, FWHM was greater in NBW compared to NW. The Center of Activation (CoA) of the activation profile associated with dominant leg stance occurred earlier in NBW compared to NW. CoAs of activation profile associated with non-dominant stance and non-dominant and dominant heel strikes were delayed in NBW compared to NW. The adaptations of synergies to NBW can be interpreted as related to a more cautious weight transfer to the new stance leg and enhanced control over CoM movement in the stance phase. However, control of mediolateral gait stability and these adaptations were not affected by balance training.

Keywords: Balance training, postural balance, aging, skill transfer, gait control, narrow-base walking, muscle synergy

Introduction

Falls in older adults mostly occur during walking ¹⁸⁸. Therefore, skills acquired during standing balance training should transfer to gait and improve gait stability ¹⁸⁹. While on one hand effects of balance training have been described as task specific ¹⁵⁸, on the other hand, transfer from standing balance training to gait stability has been suggested by improved clinical balance scores and gait parameters ^{190,191}. Consequently, the existence of skill transfer from standing balance training as well as the mechanisms underlying such transfer, if present, are insufficiently clear.

Increased variability and decreased local dynamic stability of steady-state gait were shown to be associated with a history of falls in older adults ¹⁹². From a mechanical perspective, larger mediolateral center of mass excursions and velocities would be expected to cause an increased fall risk ¹⁹³ and both these parameters as well as their variability are larger in older than young adults ¹⁹⁴. When facing environmental challenges, such as when forced to walk with a narrow step width, individuals need to adapt their gait. Older adults show more pronounced adaptations to narrow-base walking compared to young adults ¹⁹⁴, possibly because they are more cautious in the presence of postural threats ¹⁹⁵. Transfer of standing balance training to gait would be expected to result in increased gait stability, decreased CoM displacement and velocity, and decreased CoM displacement variability. In addition, an interaction between training and stabilizing demands may be expected. Increased confidence after training may result in less adaptation to a challenging condition. On the other hand, balance training may enhance the ability to adapt to challenging conditions.

The central nervous system is thought to simplify movement by activating muscles in groups, called muscle synergies, with the combination of synergies shaping the overall motor output ^{37,196}. Muscle synergies consist of time-dependent patterns (activation profiles) and time-independent factors (muscle weightings). Human gait has been described with four to eight muscle synergies ^{197–199} and reactive balance control was found to have four shared synergies with walking ¹⁹⁹, which could be important for transfer from balance training to gait. Due to aging and changes in sensory and motor organs, adapted synergies are likely required to maintain motor performance ^{200,201}. Synergy analyses of gait revealed either fewer synergies in older adults than in young adults ²⁰² or no differences ²⁰³. Motor adaptation is assumed to result from altering synergies in response to task and environmental demands ^{40,204}. For example, widened activation profiles appear to be used to increase the robustness of gait in the presence of unstable conditions or unpredictable perturbations ^{40,41}. Long-term balance training might

alter synergies in gait, and adaptation of synergies to task demands as has been shown in dancers ^{75,205} to achieve the alterations in CoM kinematics.

We investigated the adaptations in neuromuscular control of gait in older adults between normal and narrow-base walking, and the effect of short- and long-term standing balance training on this. To this aim, we used data from a previous study on standing balance training, from which we previously reported positive effects of training on standing balance robustness and performance, both after a single training session and after three weeks of training ²⁰⁶. Here, we evaluate skill transfer to normal walking and narrow-base walking on a virtual beam, both on a treadmill. We used foot placement error to assess performance of narrow-base walking ²⁰⁷. We focused on mediolateral balance control, as larger mediolateral instability has been shown to be associated with falls in older adults ^{208,209} and beam walking challenges mediolateral stability. We calculated the CoM displacement and CoM displacement variability, CoM velocity and the LDE as measures of gait stability and extracted muscle synergies to characterize effects on the neuromuscular control of gait and of adaptations to narrow-base walking.

Methods

The methods described here in part overlap with our previous paper ²⁰⁶, as data were obtained in the same cohort.

Participants

Twenty-two older (72.6 \pm 4.2 years old; mean \pm SD, 11 females) healthy volunteers participated in this study. Participants were recruited through a radio announcement, contacting older adults who previously participated in our research, flyers and information meetings. Individuals with obesity (BMI > 30), cognitive impairment (MMSE<24), peripheral neuropathy, a history of neurological or orthopedic impairment, use of medication that may negatively affect balance, inability to walk for 4 minutes without aid, and performing sports with balance training as an explicit component (e.g., Yoga or Pilates) were excluded. All participants provided written informed consent before participation and the procedures were approved by the ethical review board of the Faculty of Behavioural & Movement Sciences, VU Amsterdam (VCWE-2018-171).

Experimental procedures

Participants completed an initial measurement to determine baseline values (Pre), a singlesession balance training (30-minutes), a second measurement (Post1) to compare to baseline to assess short-term training effects, a 3-week balance training program (9 sessions x 45 minutes training), and a third measurement (Post2) to compare to baseline to assess of long-term training effects (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1: Block diagram of the study; training and gait assessment.

The measurements consisted of one experimental condition on a robot-controlled platform (balance robustness) and two experimental conditions performed on a treadmill: virtual-narrow-base walking (Figure 5.2) and normal walking.



Figure 5.2: Narrow-base walking on a treadmill. Participant is wearing the EEG cap and in future work we will analyze the EEG data collected, to investigate changes at the supraspinal level.

The training sessions consisted of exercises solely focused on unipedal balancing with blocks of 40-60 second exercises in which balance was challenged by different surface conditions, static vs dynamic conditions, perturbations, and dual tasking (e.g. catching, throwing and passing a

ball) ²¹⁰. Participants performed the exercises in a group of two (except for the first, individual session) and always under supervision of the physiotherapist in our research team.

Instrumentation and data acquisition

Balance robustness and performance were evaluated using a custom-made balance platform controlled by a robot arm (HapticMaster, Motek, Amsterdam, the Netherlands) and results were reported previously ²⁰⁶. To quantify transfer to gait, participants were instructed to walk for 4.5 minutes at a constant speed of 3.5 km/h on a treadmill with an embedded force plate. For safety reasons, handrails were installed on the either side of the treadmill, and an emergency stop button was placed within easy reach (MotekForcelink, Amsterdam, the Netherlands). We assessed walking in two conditions, normal walking and narrow-base walking, in a randomized order, with a minimum of 2 minutes seated rest in between conditions. In narrow-base walking, participants were instructed to placing their entire foot inside the beam as accurately as possible over a green light-beam path (12 cm width) projected in the middle of the treadmill (Bonte Technology/ForceLink, Culemborg, The Netherlands) ²⁰⁷.

Kinematics data were obtained by two Optotrak 3020 camera arrays at 50 Hz (Northern Digital, Waterloo, Canada). 10 active marker clusters (3 markers each) were placed on the posterior surface of the thorax (1), pelvis (1), arms (2), calves (4), and feet (2) (Figure 5.2). Positions of anatomical landmarks were digitized by a 4-marker probe and a full-body 3D-kinematics model of the participant was formed relating clusters to the neighboring landmarks ¹⁵⁶. The position of the foot segments was obtained through cluster markers on both feet, digitizing the medial and lateral aspects of the calcaneus, and the heads of metatarsals one and five ²⁰⁷. Additionally, to calculate the foot placement error in narrow-base walking, position and orientation of the projected beam was determined by digitizing the four outer bounds of the beam on the treadmill.

Surface electromyography (EMG) data were recorded from 11 muscles; 5 unilateral muscles of the dominant leg: tibialis anterior (TAD), vastus lateralis (VLD), lateral gastrocnemius (GLD), soleus (SOD), peroneus longus (PLD) and, 6 bilateral muscles: rectus femoris (RFD, RFN), biceps femoris (BFD, BFN) and gluteus medius (GMD, GMN) muscles. Bipolar electrodes were placed in accordance with SENIAM recommendations ⁹⁵. EMG data were sampled at a rate of 2000 Hz and amplified using a 16-channel TMSi Porti system (TMSi, Twente, The Netherlands). The dominant leg was the leg preferred for single-leg stance. Focus was on this leg, because we extensively assessed unipedal balance control on this leg as reported earlier ²⁰⁶.

Data analysis

Gait events

The first 30 seconds of all gait trials were removed, to discard the habituation phase. Heelstrikes were detected through a peak detection algorithm based on the center of pressure ²¹¹. This algorithm proved to be precise when the center of pressure moved in a butterfly pattern. However, for narrow-base walking, the feet share a common area in the middle of the treadmill, therefore, identification of which leg touched the surface was problematic. Hence, heel-strikes were detected based on the center of pressure peak detection, but the associated leg was identified based on kinematic data of the foot marker. 160 strides per participant per condition were used to calculate all gait variables (i.e. stability variables and muscle synergies).

Gait stability

To evaluate gait performance, foot placement errors were determined as the mean mediolateral distance of the furthest edge of the foot from the edge of the beam. If the foot was within the beam the error equals zero.

The trajectory of the center of mass (CoM) of the trunk was estimated from mediolateral trunk movement ^{212,213}. As gait stability variables, we calculated mean and standard deviation of the peak-to-peak mediolateral trunk CoM displacement and mean of CoM velocity per stride. In addition, local dynamic stability was evaluated using the local divergence exponent, LDE, based on Rosenstein's algorithm ^{214,215}. We used the time normalized time-series (i.e. 160 strides of data were time normalized to 16000 samples, preserving between stride variability) of trunk vCoM to reconstruct a state space with 5 embedding dimensions at 10 samples time delay ²¹³. The divergence for each point and its nearest neighbor was calculated and the LDE was determined by a linear fit over half a stride to the averaged log transformed divergence.

Muscle synergies

EMG data were high-pass (50 Hz, bidirectional, 4th order Butterworth)⁴⁰ and notch filtered (50 Hz and its harmonics up to the Nyquist frequency, 1 Hz bandwidth, bidirectional, 1st order Butterworth). The filtered data were Hilbert transformed, rectified and low-pass filtered (10 Hz, bidirectional, 2nd order Butterworth). Each channel was normalized to the maximum activation obtained for an individual per measurement point per trial. Synergies were extracted from 11 muscles using non-negative matrix factorization. Five synergies were extracted from the whole dataset, to account for a minimum of 85% of the variance in the EMG data (Figure 5.6). It has been shown that perturbations during walking change the temporal activation profiles as compared to normal walking, while muscle weightings are preserved ²¹⁶. Therefore, in the current study we fixed muscle weightings between conditions and time-points. These

muscle weightings were extracted from the concatenated EMG data of both conditions at all time-points. This allowed for objective comparison of synergy activation profiles between normal and narrow-base walking and between time-points. Consequently, the time-normalized EMG data of the muscles $E_{11x(2x100x160)}$, was factorized to two matrices: time-invariant muscle weightings, W_{11x5} , and temporal activation profiles of the factorization, $A_{5x(2x100x160)}$, where 11 was the number of muscles, 5 the number of synergies, 2 the number of conditions, 100 the number of samples in each stride and 160 the number of strides. Afterwards, we reconstructed the temporal activation profiles using pseudo-inverse multiplication, for the comparison of activation profiles between conditions and time-points.

To compare activation profiles, we evaluated the full width at half maximum, FWHM, per stride for each activation profile (defined as the number of data points above the half maximum of activation profile, after subtracting the minimum activation ²¹⁷). In addition, we evaluated the center of activity, CoA, per stride defined as the angle of the vector that points to the center of mass in the activation profile transformed to polar coordinates ^{40,218}. FWHM and CoA were averaged over 160 strides per participant per condition. For CoA data, circular averaging was used.

Statistics

Effects of time-point (Pre, Post1, Post2) on foot placement errors were tested using a oneway repeated measures ANOVA. Post-hoc comparisons (paired sample t-tests), with Holm's correction for multiple comparisons were performed to investigate the effect of short- and longterm training (Pre vs Post1 and Pre vs Post2, respectively).

Two-way repeated-measures ANOVAs were used to identify main effects of time-point (Pre, Post1, Post2) and condition (normal and narrow-base walking) on trunk kinematics CoM displacement, CoM displacement variability, vCoM and LDE, as well as, on the FWHM. When the assumption of sphericity was violated, the Greenhouse-Geisser method was used. In case of a significant effect of time-point, or an interaction of time-point x condition, post hoc tests with Holm's correction for multiple comparisons were performed. To identify effects on CoA, parametric two-way ANOVA for circular data was used using the Circular Statistic MATLAB toolbox ²¹⁹. In all statistical analyses $\alpha = 0.05$ was used.

Results

One participant was not able to perform the treadmill walking trials for the full duration and data for this participant were excluded.

81

Gait performance

In contrast with robustness and performance in unipedal balancing ²⁰⁶, performance in narrow-base walking, as reflected in foot placement errors, did not improve as a result of training ($F_{1.267,25.347}$ = 0.31, p = 0.63; Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3: Foot placement error in narrow-base walking at time-points Pre, Post1, and Post2. Thin lines represent individual subject data. Red horizontal lines indicate means over subjects.

Training did also not significantly affect CoM displacement, CoM displacement variability, and vCoM ($F_{2,40} = 2.729$, p = 0.082; $F_{2,40} = 0.469$, p = 0.628; $F_{2,40} = 2.024$, p = 0.145). Condition significantly affected all three variables, with lower CoM and vCoM ($F_{1,20} = 96.007$, p < 0.001; $F_{1,20} = 168.26$, p < 0.001, respectively, Figure 5.4), but larger CoM variability ($F_{1,20} = 4.678$, p = 0.042), in narrow-base compared to normal walking. No significant interactions of time-point x condition were found (p > 0.05).



Figure 5.4: Mediolateral center of mass displacement, variability, and center of mass velocity in narrow-base and normal walking at time-points Pre, Post1, and Post2. Thin lines represent individual subject data. Thick horizontal lines indicate means over subjects. Black; normal walking, red; narrow-base walking.

Training did not significantly affect LDE ($F_{2,40} = 0.205$, p = 0.814), but condition did, with lower values in narrow-base compared to normal walking ($F_{1,20} = 26.223$, p < 0.001, Figure 5.5). No significant interaction of time-point x condition was found ($F_{1.3,24.699} = 3.112$, p = 0.078).



Figure 5.5: Local divergence exponents in narrow-base and normal walking at time-points Pre, Post1, and Post2. Thin lines represent individual subject data. Thick horizontal lines indicate means over subjects. Black; normal walking, red; narrow-base walking.

Muscle synergies

Five muscle synergies were extracted with a fixed muscle weighting matrix H (Figure 5.6) and activation profiles per individual per condition and time-point (Figure 5.7). This accounted for $87\pm2\%$ of the variance in the EMG data.

Based on muscle weightings and activation profiles, the first synergy appeared to be functionally relevant in the stance phase of the dominant leg, with major involvement of soleus and gastrocnemius lateralis. The second synergy appeared to be related to the weight acceptance phase of the dominant leg, where the quadriceps (vastus lateralis, rectus femoris) muscles were mostly engaged. The third synergy resembled partial mirror images of synergies 1 and 2 for the non-dominant leg, but differed due to the fact that only a subset of muscles was measured. It was mainly active in the non-dominant leg's stance phase, with major involvement of gluteus medius and rectus femoris. It lacks muscle activation related to push-off (represented in synergy 1), because lower leg muscles were not measured and represented thigh muscle activity related to weight acceptance (represented in synergy 2). The fourth synergy appeared to anticipate dominant leg heel-strike with engagement mostly of the dominant leg's biceps femoris. Finally, the fifth synergy appeared to be the mirror image of the fourth synergy, with pronounced engagement of the biceps femoris of the non-dominant leg



Muscle weighting

Figure 5.6: Time-invariant muscle weightings of synergies extracted from concatenated data, over all individuals, conditions and time-points. Muscles monitored unilaterally on the dominant side (D): tibialis anterior (TA), vastus lateralis (VL), lateral gastrocnemius (GLD, soleus (SO), peroneus longus (PLD), and muscle collected on the dominant (D) and nondominant side (N): rectus femoris (RFD, RFN), biceps femoris (BFD, BFN), and gluteus medius (GMD, GMN) muscles.



Figure 5.7. Activation profiles of the extracted synergies as time series and in polar coordinates in narrow-base and normal walking at time-points Pre (solid), Post1 (dash-dot), and Post2 (dotted). The x-axis in the Cartesian coordinates represent one gait cycle. One gait cycle in polar coordinate is $[0 2_{\Pi}]$. Black; normal walking, red; narrow-base walking.

FWHM

None of the FWHMs were significantly affected by training. FWHMs were found to be smaller in narrow-base compared to normal walking in the synergies associated with weight acceptance of the dominant leg and the stance phase of the non-dominant leg (synergies 2 & 3;

(F_{1,20} = 92.86, p < 0.001; F_{1,20} = 17.06, p < 0.001, respectively, Figure 5.8). In contrast, FWHM of synergies associated with heel strike appeared to be greater in narrow-base compared to normal walking, but only significantly so for the non-dominant leg (synergies 4 & 5, F_{1,20} = 2.198, p = 0.153; F_{1,20} = 8.603, p = 0.008 respectively, Figure 5.8). In none of the synergies, FWHM was significantly affected by the interaction of time-point x condition (P > 0.05).

CoA

None of the CoAs were significantly affected by training (p > 0.05). CoA of synergy 1, associated with dominant leg stance, occurred significantly earlier in narrow-base compared to normal walking ($F_{1,20} = 6.005$, p = 0.015, Figure 5.8). CoAs of synergy 3 associated with non-dominant stance leg and synergies 4 and 5, associated with heel strike, were delayed in narrow-base compared to normal walking ($F_{1,20} = 9.832$, p = 0.002; $F_{1,20} = 22.109$, p < 0.001; $F_{1,20} = 18.308$, p < 0.001, respectively, Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8: FWHM and CoA of five synergies, in narrow-base and normal walking at time-points Pre, Post, and Post2. Thin lines represent individual subject data. Thick horizontal lines indicate means over subjects. Black; normal walking, red; narrow-base walking. One gait cycle in polar coordinate is $[0 \ 2\Pi]$.

Discussion

We investigated the transfer of the effects of standing balance training to gait control, by studying gait adaptations to narrow-base walking. We previously reported improvements in robustness and performance of standing balance after short- and long-term standing balance training ²⁰⁶, but here we found no improvements due to training in foot placement error and CoM kinematics during normal or narrow-base walking. Participants adapted their CoM

85

kinematics to foot placement constraints, despite not managing to step consistently within the virtual beam. These adaptations to narrow-base walking did not show an interaction with training. Furthermore, participants adapted to narrow-base walking by modifying activation profiles of their synergies. Standing balance training did not affect these activation profiles, nor their adaptation to narrow-base walking.

In line with literature ¹⁹⁴, our participants appeared to control CoM movements more tightly during narrow-base walking than during normal walking, as reflected in a lower CoM displacement and velocity. However, again in line with literature ¹⁹⁴, variability of CoM displacement was larger in narrow-base walking. This larger variability might reflect on-line corrections of the CoM trajectory to match it to the constrained foot placement. Confronted with a narrower base, older adults reduced mediolateral CoM displacement and velocity more than young adults ¹⁹⁴. This stronger response might be caused by more cautious behavior, and apparently our balance training did not alter it. Possibly, gait training has more potential to affect balance confidence in gait ²²⁰.

Five synergies described leg muscle activity across narrow-base and normal walking, together accounting for 87% of the variation in muscle activity. In spite of differences in muscles measured, participant age and walking conditions between studies, (the number of) these synergies resemble results reported in previous literature ^{37,43,221–224}. In our analysis, we kept the muscle weighting in these synergies, constant between conditions and time-points. Participants adapted the activation profiles of these synergies to the gait condition, but no effects of training were observed.

The FWHM of the activation profiles were different between conditions but were not affected by training. An increase of FWHM has been suggested to increase the robustness of gait ⁴⁰, but in narrow-base walking our participants only increased the FWHM of the activation profile associated with non-dominant leg heel strike (synergy 5), although a similar tendency could be observed for the dominant leg (synergy 4). These adaptations of the activation profiles may reflect increased activity to enhance control over foot placement or to enhance robustness of the new stance leg in preparation for weight transfer. In contrast, participants shortened the FWHM of the activation profiles associated with the stance phase of the non-dominant leg and weight acceptance of the dominant leg. These synergies share muscle activation related to weight acceptance and the change in the activation profiles is mainly visible in a slower build-up of muscle activity (Figure 5.7). This may reflect a slower weight acceptance by the new support leg, possibly related to the lower activation peak during push-off observable in synergy 1.

The CoA of the activation profiles was different between conditions but was not affected by training. Narrowing step width led to an earlier CoA of the activation profile associated with dominant leg stance (synergy 1) and delayed CoAs of the activation profile associated with dominant and non-dominant leg heel strikes (synergies 4 and 5). Earlier CoA in the dominant leg stance phase appears to be a consequence of the reduction in activation during the second peak of the activation profile (Figure 5.7). This reduction in activation would reflect a decrease in muscle activity related to push-off and possibly reflects a more cautious gait. The earlier CoA of the activation profile associated with heel strike reflects a more sustained activation following a slower build-up (Figure 5.7). Again, this may be related to a more cautious walking but also to active control over CoM movement during the stance phase. The latter is supported by the fact that muscles that would contribute to mediolateral control, specifically tibialis anterior, peroneus longus and gluteus medius are part of these synergies. To check that changes in CoA and FWHM of the activation profiles were not due to changes in duration of gait phases, we assessed single support and double support times as percentages of the stride times and no effects of condition were found.

We studied effects of a balance training program of only 3-weeks. For transfer of acquired skills to a new task, it may be necessary that a high skill level is achieved and possibly more than 3 weeks are needed. Improved gait parameters were reported after 12 weeks of balance training ¹⁹¹. Therefore, a longer duration of training might have led to changes in mediolateral gait stability.

In conclusion, older adults adapted mediolateral CoM kinematics during gait to narrowbase walking and this was associated with changes in synergies governing the activation of leg muscles. However, we found no evidence of a change in control of mediolateral gait stability, nor of these adaptations as a result of balance training.

Acknowledgment

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 721577. The research team would like to thank the individuals who participated in the experiment for the purposes of this research. SMB was funded by a VIDI grant (016.Vidi.178.014) from the Dutch Organization for Scientific Research (NWO). RAJK was supported by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program (grant agreement number 715945 Learn2Walk).

87

Chapter 6

Summary and General Discussion



88

Summary

Maintaining balance during daily-life activities appears easy, but a complicated and extensive active control system is established in our body to make it possible. The system becomes less accurate, slower, and less precise as we age, but the control is adaptive, which may allow us to deal with this. The extent to which the aging balance control system can cope determines the safety of movement in daily life, and depends on health conditions, level of physical activity, and environmental challenges. In chapter two, adaptations to balance challenges were compared between young and older adults. We compared the center of mass velocity in unipedal standing, as an indicator of balance performance, between age groups and between surfaces differing in compliance. We found that center of mass velocity was significantly higher in older adults than young adults and increased with increasing surface compliance in both groups. Furthermore, we found that between bipedal and unipedal standing, both young and older adults depressed their Soleus H-reflex gains. With increasing surface compliance in unipedal stance, young adults decreased H-reflex gains and increased co-contraction of their ankle muscles. In contrast, older adults did not adapt H-reflex gains or co-contraction to surface compliance. Overall, older adults showed higher co-contraction duration and lower H-reflex gains compared to young adults. This may suggest that older adults are more challenged, even when standing unipedally on a rigid surface. Hence, they show decreased H-reflex gains and increased co-contraction, but cannot further adapt them when surface compliance increases.

The findings of chapter two indicate that high co-contraction and low H-reflexes in older adults are insufficient for proper balance control on compliant surfaces. Co-contraction stiffens the ankle joint and, as such, may reduce unwanted oscillations at the ankle ¹¹⁸. It serves as a feedforward strategy to compensate for delays in neural transmission and sensory-motor processing, and it may decrease electromechanical delays to allow faster corrective responses ⁹³. Lower H-reflex gains are thought to reflect reliance on supraspinal control associated with cortical engagement and attention to the balance task ⁹⁷. This may be needed in older adults to compensate for sensory and motor losses and may be needed in young adults when balancing on more compliant surfaces. Our results suggest that modulating H-reflex gains and co-contraction are not sufficient for proper balance control when balance is challenged. Lower H-reflex gains and higher co-contraction at more compliant surfaces in younger adults coincided with a larger center of mass velocity (poorer performance). Overall, H-reflex gains were lower and co-contraction was higher in older adults than young adults. This raises the question of

whether these two aspects of balance control (co-contraction and H-reflex gain) can be modified in older adults by balance training?

In chapter three, we reported the results of a study on balance training using unstable and compliant surfaces in older adults. Mediolateral balance robustness during unipedal stance (time to balance loss in unipedal standing on a robotic platform with decreasing rotational stiffness) improved after a single training session with no further improvement after three weeks of training. This improvement was maintained at the final measurement point two weeks after the last training session. Balance performance (mediolateral velocity of the center of mass during unipedal balancing) was also improved, in a challenging condition (perturbed stance) already after a single session and in a less challenging condition (unperturbed stance) after three weeks.

The co-contraction duration of the ankle muscles was increased after long-term training in both unipedal conditions. H-reflex gains and paired reflex depression did not significantly change with training. Cross-sectional analyses showed that lower H-reflex gains and higher cocontraction duration coincided with higher robustness and better performance at several measurement timepoints. However, changes in robustness and performance were uncorrelated with changes in co-contraction duration, H-reflex gain, or paired reflex depression after shortor long-term training. Therefore, H-reflex gain and paired reflex depression of the Soleus muscle and co-contraction duration of the ankle muscles could not be identified as determinants of improved balance. Although the increased ankle muscle co-contraction suggests its functional role in balance control, the lack of associations between changes in balance robustness and performance and changes in control at the ankle level may suggest that balance improvements may additionally be determined by changes in reactive balance control.

For this reason, in chapter four, we studied in more detail the effects of training on reactive or feedback control after perturbations of unipedal balance. We assessed the (rate of change of the) whole-body angular momentum and center of mass acceleration, and, activity of axial, proximal and distal muscles in responses to balance perturbations. Perturbations were anglecontrolled surface rotations applied while subjects were in unipedal stance. After training, center of mass acceleration following the perturbations was decreased, indicating improved performance. In addition, the rate of change in angular momentum was decreased, indicating a more efficient recovery from the perturbation. However, the changes in angular momentum did not contribute to repositioning the center of mass position by a counter-rotation strategy as expected, but were used to reorient the upper body to a vertical orientation with upper and lower body aligned. Changes in the temporal activation of the muscle synergies coinciding with

⁹⁰

changes in kinematics revealed an altered temporal activation in synergies including ankle and trunk muscles suggesting that after training, participants optimized their muscle activation depending on the direction of the perturbation. This implies an improved feedback in addition to feedforward control.

Finally, in chapter five, we assessed whether improved standing balance control would transfer to gait in normal or challenging conditions. We studied adaptations in neuromuscular control of gait between normal and narrow-base walking. We found no effects of balance training or interactions between training and walking conditions on gait stability parameters or synergies. We conclude that changes in synergies and gait stability parameters to narrow-base walking may be related to a more cautious weight transfer to the new stance leg to enhance control over the center of mass movement in the stance phase.

To summarize, this thesis showed that:

- Older adults are less able to adapt their balance control to environmental demands.
- Balance control can be trained in older adults.
- Acquired balance control does not transfer to gait.

Regarding the underlying mechanisms we found that:

- Co-contraction modulation was different between age groups, it was not adapted to differences in surface compliance in older adults, but it increased with training. Cocontraction was higher in older adults with a better balance performance, but changes in co-contraction were not associated with changes in balance performance or robustness.
- H-reflex gains were lower in older than young adults, and unlike young adults, older adults did not adapt the H-reflex gain to differences in surface compliance. Although, both H-reflex and paired reflex depression were modulated between stance conditions in older adults, H-reflex and paired reflex depression did not change with training in older adults, and changes in H-reflex and paired reflex depression were not associated with changes in performance or robustness.
- Synergy activation and strategy of balance recovery were changed by training. Altered
 activation of ankle and upper body, and reduced rate of change of angular momentum
 were observed. Changes suggested improved feedback control and were not coincided
 with accelerating the center of mass, but with reorienting the upper body to a vertical
 orientation with upper and lower body aligned.

Most balance control studies compare groups with different levels of skill, health, or age in a cross-sectional design. Cross-sectional studies might give us an insight into the factors that coincide with proper balance performance. However, neural and mechanical adaptations in older adults may compensate for balance impairments. Therefore, such a cross-sectional approach can mask intrinsic balance impairments and be misleading when findings are used to guide the design of training protocols. Therefore, a longitudinal approach, as used in chapters 3-5 of this thesis may be more useful to obtain insight into mechanisms that contribute to proper balance control. For example, based on chapter 2, one might conclude that high levels of cocontraction as found in older adults are disadvantageous for balance performance. However, combined with results in chapter 3, one would conclude that this high level of co-contraction is likely adaptive and performance in older adults would probably be worse without it. Significant correlations between changes in neuromuscular control and changes in balance performance and robustness would provide support for the importance of the control aspects involved as determinants of proper balance control. However, such statistically significant correlations were not found. This may be because improvements in balance robustness and performance are multifactorial and different changes in the control may have been dominant in different participants. This would require a multivariate analysis and, consequently, a much higher number of participants than realized in the present thesis. In the following, I will discuss the findings on aspects of balance control studied in this thesis as well as reflect on aspects not studied here.

Reflexes

In chapter 2, we found lower H-reflex gains in older adults than young adults and worse balance performance in older adults. In addition, in older adults, we found no H-reflex modulation in unipedal stance on surfaces with increasing compliance, while young adults down-modulated H-reflex gains with increasing compliance. In chapter 3, we found a negative correlation between H-reflex gains and balance robustness and performance. All in all, these data suggest that lower H-reflex gains are beneficial in balancing tasks such as studied here. This is in line with previous studies on the effect of balance challenges and on learning balance tasks in young adults ^{72,97,109}. However, older adults seemed unable to further down-modulate their H-reflex gains in response to an increased challenge, nor did the H-reflexes changes as a result of training. This could be because a further decrease in gains is impossible to achieve or because the necessary plasticity is lacking in the short-term (adaptation to surface compliance) and long-term (training). Decreases in the H-reflex are thought to reflect a reduced effect of spinal feedback circuitry on motor control, coinciding with increased supraspinal control ^{56,148}.

However, supraspinal mechanisms also affect the excitability of the alfa motoneuron pool and therefore the H-reflex gain. This hampers the interpretation of the H-reflex. Therefore, measurements of paired reflex depression were added in chapter 3 to provide an insight into peripherally induced inhibition which would more exclusively reflect changes in peripheral feedback. However, we also did not find any changes in paired reflex depression. Furthermore, H-reflex conditioned by Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in young adults reduced after four weeks of balance training ⁵⁶. Reduced H-conditioned coincided with improved perturbed stance balance control, suggesting that mainly supraspinal adaptations caused improved balance control after the training. Therefore, in future studies on balance training, adding Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation to study changes in corticospinal excitability would have added value ⁵⁶.

Co-contraction

In chapter 2, we found more co-contraction in older adults than young adults but worse balance performance in older adults. In addition, in older adults, we found no modulation of co-contraction in unipedal stance on surfaces with increasing compliance, while young adults increased co-contraction with increasing compliance. In chapter 3, we found an increase in cocontraction with training, which coincided with improved balance performance and robustness. However, the changes in co-contraction were not correlated with the changes in balance performance and robustness. Higher co-contraction on more compliant surfaces in younger adults suggests that higher co-contraction is a compensatory strategy used already at lower levels of challenge in older adults. So again, we might suggest that higher co-contraction in older adults is compensatory. However, older adults were unable to quickly adjust the level of co-contraction to differences in surface compliance. On the other hand, with training, cocontraction did increase, which may have contributed to the increased robustness and performance. All in all, these findings suggest that co-contraction is a compensation strategy that older adults use (and can learn to use) to improve their balance.

Muscle synergies and balance strategy

Since trunk and ankle muscle responses were altered after the training and these responses precede those of the hip muscles, results may suggest that the ankle strategy became more effective. Possibly, the increased ankle co-contraction allowed for better initial responses to the perturbations. While in the present thesis, these strategies were not studied in young adults, it has been found that young adults rely more on the ankle strategy and less on the counterrotation strategy than older adults¹⁸⁰. Furthermore, in chapter two young adults were found to increase ankle muscle co-contraction with increased challenge in unipedal balancing, while

older adults did not show such a modulation. With training, older adults did increase ankle muscle co-contraction in a similar unipedal balancing task. It is still unclear if increased co-contraction was helpful or not, however the increased co-contraction resembled what young adults did. So, overall results suggest that after training the participants used a recovery strategy that might be closer to that in young adults.

Other mechanisms

Although we studied several aspects of balance control, a comprehensive analysis was not possible. We observed changes in co-contraction, muscle synergies and strategies after the longterm training. However, changes in these control aspects were not significantly correlated to changes in robustness and performance, possibly because these aspects are not the only ones affected by training.

Training effects could be co-determined by changes in supraspinal balance control mechanisms. Therefore, in future work we will analyze the EEG data collected, to investigate changes at the supraspinal level. We aim to assess whether changes in balance performance and balance strategies after training are related to changes in cortico-muscular coherence.

Aging leads to a reduction in explosive force production due to loss of fast-twitch muscle fibers ^{225,226} and this negatively affects balance control ²²⁷. Balance training has been shown to improve muscle force production and specifically increase the rate of force generation ²²⁸. This may have contributed to balance improvements found, but was not addressed in this thesis.

Balance training also was shown to result in sensory reweighting in young adults. An initial and very fast improvement in balance control with balance training was associated with upweighting of visual information, while further improvement seemed associated with downweighting of proprioceptive information gains ²⁵. The latter may be related to the decreases in H-reflex amplitudes with training that were shown previously in young adults ^{72,97,109}, but this was not found here in older adults, neither in H-reflex gains nor in paired reflex depression. The effects of training on visual and vestibular reweighting were not addressed in this thesis.

Several studies showed a strong correlation between concern of falling and balance performance ^{229,230}. It has been shown that poor balance performance is mediated by changes in the allocation of attention in the presence of concern of falling ²²⁹. The concern of falling is reduced after training in older adults, which is associated with improved balance performance ^{230,231}. We used the Falls Efficacy Scale International (FES-I) questionnaire at pre, post2, and retention time-points ²³²(pre and post1 measurements were performed on the same day). FES-I outcomes are on a scale of 16 to 64, with 16 indicating minimum concern about falling and 64 severe concern about falling.

A repeated measures ANOVA indicated that concern of falling was affected by balance training ($F_{2,42}$ = 4.37, P = 0.039; Figure6.1). Post-hoc analysis showed that concern of falling was not significantly changed immediately after the training program but was decreased at retention (t = 2.16, p = 0.072; t = 2.82, p = 0.022, respectively)



Figure 6.1: FES-I scores at different time points. Each of the lines between timepoints represents the score of a single participant.

It has previously been shown that less fear is correlated with better performance ²²⁹, and we found a decreased concern of falling in older adults between the first and the last measurement. Our findings suggest that decreased concern of falling after the balance training may explain why balance control was improved. At baseline, we found that older adults with a lower concern of falling showed higher robustness (r = 0.554, p = 0.007). However, we did not find a correlation between the change in concern of falling and the changes in robustness and performance after training.

Implication for clinical practice

The training program studied in this thesis was focused on standing balance, and our results showed the task specificity of the outcomes. Older adults with different characteristics and in a different range of ages require specific functionality. Some very old adults seek to function appropriately at their home, stand up, sit down, and get out of bed. Others with an active lifestyle might look for more control and stability in mobility to be socially engaged or even participate in sports. Given the specificity of effects, training protocols should be designed to fit the needs of the participants.

This thesis showed that balance training improves balance control in older adults in line with a large body of literature ^{120,233,234} and proper balance control is crucial in the daily-life activity of older adults. Without proper balance control, falls may occur and these can have a

large impact. Moreover, balance training leads to a lower level of concern of falling in older adults, as addressed above. This likely improves the quality of life and may lead to higher physical activity, which in itself may protect against falls and fall-related injuries ²³⁵.

While some may argue that older adults with a higher level of activity expose themselves to the risk of falls, others may argue that staying active even when involving higher risk may be better than being inactive, isolated, but physically secured. There is no comprehensive overview of the health benefits of exercising and physical activity versus the risk of falls in older adults. However, several studies showed the benefits of having an active lifestyle ^{236–239}, and an occasional fall that does not result in an injury might be an acceptable outcome. Notably, older adults are vulnerable to infections, with high mortality, as is clear in the current pandemic ²⁴⁰. Hospitalization after injury strongly elevates the risk of infection ²⁴¹. Therefore, fracture and other major injuries associated with fall may be the more relevant outcome. Physical activity has been shown to reduce fracture risk after falls in older adults ^{236–238}. A supervised training program within an appropriate range of challenges might compromise between risks and benefits of physical activity in older adults. Future studies should address effects of training on neuromuscular control of balance in a range of activities and preferably also assess on fall-related injury as an outcome.

Supplementary material; chapter 2.

Supplementary material 2.1

In the experiment, arm markers moving forward were blocked from view in a few participants. Therefore, for consistency, all data on arm movement were omitted from analysis. To make sure that this has not affected our conclusions, the analysis has been redone with arms included for those subjects without missing markers for trials with peripheral nerve stimulation $(n_{old} = 8, n_{young} = 10)$ and without peripheral nerve stimulation $(n_{old} = 7, n_{young} = 8)$. The effect of surface compliance and age on vCOM (arms included) for the trials without/with peripheral nerve stimulation are mentioned below:

For trials without peripheral nerve stimulation (Surface Compliance, $F_{(3,39)} = 4.540$, p = 0.008; Age, $F_{(1,13)} = 12.206$, p = 0.004).

For trial with peripheral nerve stimulation (Surface Compliance, $F_{(3,48)} = 7.010$, p < 0.001; Age, $F_{(1,16)} = 16.758$, p < 0.001).

Moreover, results for trials analyzed with and without inclusion of the arms were highly correlated as shown in the figure below.



Figure S2.1. supplementary: Scatter plot of the trials without peripheral nerve stimulation, x-axis vCoM of the whole body, y-axis vCoM of the whole-body excluding arms.

Supplementary material 2.2

As an alternative explanation of down-modulation of H-reflex gains with stance condition and surface compliance, the decreased H-reflex could be due to increased bEMG. To test this explanation, we normalized the bEMG to bEMG during Bipedal standing (Figure S2.2.). The normalized bEMG did not support the alternative interpretation, as there were no significant age and stance effects, nor an interaction effect of age and stance condition on normalized bEMG (F (1,18) = 0.408, p =0.531, F (1,18) = 3.603, p = 0.074, F (1,18) = 0.408, p =0.531 respectively).



Figure S2.2. Normalized bEMG in 2 stance conditions and in young and older adults

We also repeated the analysis by normalizing bEMG to bEMG at 10% mgh, which is the condition with the highest EMG amplitudes and hence closest to the MVC. Again, no effects of age or stance condition or an interaction of age and stance condition were observed on bEMG (F (1,17) = 0.496, p = 0.491, F (1,17) = 0.104, p = 0.752, F (1,17) = 1.243, p = 0.280 respectively).

Moreover, we normalized the bEMG at all surface compliances to bEMG during Bipedal standing. The results did not support the alternative explanation of the down-modulation in young adults, as there were no age or surface effects, nor an interaction effect of age and surface compliance on normalized bEMG (F (1,17) = 0.010, p =0.921, F (3,51) = 2.703, p = 0.055, F (3,51) = 2.632, p = 0.06 respectively; Figure S2.3.).



Figure S2.3. Normalized bEMG at 4 surface compliances and in young and older adults.

Supplementary material; chapter 3

Supplementary material 3.1

Progression criteria were based on the researcher's observation during the training sessions; if participants were able to perform the task for 60 seconds, the difficulty level would be increased (Figure. S3.1.). The progression plan was as follows:



Figure. S3.1. Balance training materials.

Number	Exercise	Duration/Frequency
Warm-up		
1	head rotations	rotate head to either side 5 x
		3 repetitions
2	back stretching	stretch 3 x
		3 repetitions
3	trunk rotations	5 rotations to both sides
		3 repetitions
Exercises		
4	balancing	3 x 60 seconds
	- one leg stance (when	2 repetitions
	possible)	
	- switch the legs	
	- unstable surfaces	<u> </u>
C	balancing eyes-closed	3 X 00 seconds
	- one leg stance (when	
	- switch the leas	
	- unstable surfaces	
6	displacement of weight	3 x 60 seconds
	- one leg stance	2 repetitions
	- switch the legs	
	- unstable surfaces	
7	passing/throwing around a ball in	5 rounds both directions
	groups of 4	3 repetitions
	fitness ball	
	- one leg	
	- unstable surface	
	2 kg ball	
	- one leg	
	- unstable surface	
	alternative approaches:	
	- make the circle higger	
	- with back towards each other	
	in order to induce more	
	trunk rotations.	
8	pass the big ball around while	5 rounds both directions
	stopping it on foot and role it to the	3 repetitions
	other person.	
	fitness ball	
	- one leg	
	- unstable surface	
	2 kg ball	
	- one leg	
	- unstable surface	

Table S3.1. Guideline for training progression

Supplementary material 3.2

For reflex measurement it is generally recommended to elicit H-reflex between 15-40% of M_{max} ^{123,124}, while we elicited H-reflex at H_{max} , in line with our previous study. However, for 20 out of 22 participants H_{max} was at less than %40 of M_{max} (see Figure S3.2. supplementary).



Figure S3.2. supplementary: H_{max}/M_{max} ratio obtained from the recruitment curve (RC) for all participants at 3 time points, indicates H_{max} less than %40 of the M_{max} for 20 out of 22 subjects.

Bibliography

- van Dieën JH, Pijnappels M. Balance control in older adults BT locomotion and posture in older adults: the role of aging and movement disorders. In: Barbieri FA, Vitório R, eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017:237-262. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-48980-3_16
- Gibson E. Exploratory behavior in the development of perceiving, acting, and the acquiring of knowledge. *Annu Rev Psychol.* 1988;39(1):1-41. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.39.1.1
- 3. Bonner FA. Transitions in the development of locomotion. *Gift Child Today*. 2005;28(2):19-25. doi:10.4219/gct-2005-168
- 4. Adolph KE, Bertenthal BI, Boker SM, Goldfield EC, Gibson EJ. Learning in the development of Infant locomotion. 1997;62(3). doi:10.2307/1166199
- Berger W, Quintern J, Dietz V. Afferent and efferent control of stance and gait: developmental changes in children. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*. 1987;66(3):244-252. doi:10.1016/0013-4694(87)90073-3
- 6. Taube W, Gollhofer A. Postural control and balance training. *Routledge Handb Mot Control Mot Learn*. 2013:252-280.
- Rine RM, Schubert MC, Whitney SL, et al. Vestibular function assessment using the NIH Toolbox. *Neurology*. 2013;80(11 Suppl 3):25-31. doi:10.1212/wnl.0b013e3182872c6a
- 8. Maki BE. Is center of mass a controlled parameter. In: Satellite to the Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience (Identifying Control Mechanisms for Postural Behaviors), Los Angeles.; 1998.
- 9. Pai Y-C. Movement termination and stability in standing. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2003;31(1):19-25. doi:10.1097/00003677-200301000-00005
- Magnusson M. Posture, balance control, movement: Involvement in vestibular rehabilitation. *Neurophysiol Clin Neurophysiol.* 2016;46(4):238. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2016.09.006
- Pasma JH, Engelhart D, Maier AB, Schouten AC, Kooij H Van Der, Meskers CGM. Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *J Neurophysiol.* 2015;114:3220-3233. doi:10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Lizama LEC, Pijnappels M, Faber GH, Reeves PN, Verschueren SM, Van Dieën JH. Age effects on mediolateral balance control. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(10). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110757
- Woollacott MH, Shumway-cook A, Nashner LM. Aging and posture control: changes in sensory organization and muscular coordination. 1986;23(2). doi:10.2190/VXN3-N3RT-54JB-X16X
- 14. Pasma JH, Bijlsma AY, Klip JM, et al. Blood pressure associates with standing balance in elderly outpatients. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(9). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106808
- Beuter A, Hernández R, Rigal R, Modolo J, Blanchet PJ. Postural sway and effect of levodopa in early Parkinson's disease. Can J Neurol Sci Le J Can des Sci Neurol. 2008;35(1):65-68. doi:10.1017/s0317167100007575
- 16. Dąbrowska A, Olszewska-Karaban MA, Permoda-Białozorczyk AK, Szalewska DA. The postural control

Indexes during unipodal support in patients with idiopathic scoliosis. *Biomed Res Int.* 2020;2020:7936095. doi:10.1155/2020/7936095

- 17. Eurostat AE. Ageing Europe. Look lives older people EU Digit Publ Prieiga per internetą https//ec Eur eu/eurostat/cache/digpub/ageing. 2019.
- 18. Pijnappels M, Bobbert MF, Van Dieën JH. How early reactions in the support limb contribute to balance recovery after tripping. *J Biomech.* 2005;38(3):627-634. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.03.029
- 19. Pijnappels M, van der Burg JCE, Reeves ND, van Dieën JH. Identification of elderly fallers by muscle strength measures. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2008;102(5):585-592. doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0613-6
- 20. Andersen GJ. Aging and vision: changes in function and performance from optics to perception. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci.* 2012;3(3)(3(3)):403-410. doi:doi:10.1002/wcs.1167
- 21. WHO. Active ageing through preventing falls: "Falls prevention is everyone's business." *Prev Falls Netw Dissem.* 2015:1-8.
- 22. Mack KA, Noonan R. Slipping and tripping: fall injuries in adults associated with rugs and carpets. 2013;5(1):61-65. doi:10.5249/jivr.v5i1.177
- 23. van Dieën JH, Pijnappels M. Falls in older people. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2008;18(2):169-171. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2007.06.001
- 24. Owen F. Adaptation to altered support and visual conditions during stance: patients with vestibular deficits. 1982;2(5):536-544. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.02-05-00536.1982
- 25. van Dieën JH, van Leeuwen M, Faber GS. Learning to balance on one leg: motor strategy and sensory weighting. *Am J Physiol Circ Physiol.* 2015;114:2976-2982. doi:10.1152/jn.00434.2015
- 26. Eikema DJA, Hatzitaki V, Tzovaras D, Papaxanthis C. Age-dependent modulation of sensory reweighting for controlling posture in a dynamic virtual environment. *Age (Omaha)*. 2012;34(6):1381-1392. doi:10.1007/s11357-011-9310-9
- 27. Wiesmeier IK, Dalin D, Maurer C. Elderly use proprioception rather than visual and vestibular cues for postural motor control. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2015;7:1-14. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2015.00097
- Honeycutt CF, Gottschall JS, Nichols TR. Electromyographic responses from the hindlimb muscles of the decerebrate cat to horizontal support surface perturbations. *J Neurophysiol.* 2009;101(6):2751-2761. doi:10.1152/jn.91040.2008
- Artoni F, Fanciullacci C, Bertolucci F, et al. Unidirectional brain to muscle connectivity reveals motor cortex control of leg muscles during stereotyped walking. *Neuroimage*. 2017;159:403-416. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.07.013
- Petersen TH, Willerslev-Olsen M, Conway BA, Nielsen JB. The motor cortex drives the muscles during walking in human subjects. *J Physiol.* 2012;590(10):2443-2452. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.227397
- Papegaaij S, Taube W, Baudry S, Otten E, Hortobágyi T. Aging causes a reorganization of cortical and spinal control of posture. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2014;6:1-15. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00028
- 32. Papegaaij S, Taube W, van Keeken HG, Otten E, Baudry S, Hortobágyi T. Postural challenge affects motor cortical activity in young and old adults. *Exp Gerontol.* 2016;73:78-85. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2015.11.015
- 33. McIlroy WE, Bishop DC, Staines WR, Nelson AJ, Maki BE, Brooke JD. Modulation of afferent inflow during the control of balancing tasks using the lower limbs. *Brain Res.* 2003;961(1):73-80. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(02)03845-3

- 34. Chalmers GR, Knutzen KM. Soleus H-reflex gain in healthy elderly and young adults when lying, standing, and balancing. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2002;57(8):321-329. doi:10.1093/gerona/57.8.B321
- 35. Reuter-Lorenz PA, Cappell KA. Neurocognitive aging and the compensation hypothesis. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* 2008;17(3):177-182. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Park DC, Reuter-Lorenz P. The adaptive brain: Aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annu Rev Psychol.* 2009;60:173-196. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656
- Bizzi E, Cheung VCK, d'Avella A, Saltiel P, Tresch M. Combining modules for movement. *Brain Res Rev.* 2008;57(1):125-133. doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.08.004
- 38. Patla AE. Some characteristics of EMG patterns during locomotion: implications for the locomotor control process. *J Mot Behav.* 1985;17(4):443-461. doi:10.1080/00222895.1985.10735360
- Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, Lacquaniti F. Motor control programs and walking. Neurosci a Rev J bringing Neurobiol Neurol psychiatry. 2006;12(4):339-348. doi:10.1177/1073858406287987
- 40. Santuz A, Ekizos A, Eckardt N, Kibele A, Arampatzis A. Challenging human locomotion: Stability and modular organisation in unsteady conditions. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):1-13. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21018-4
- 41. Martino G, Ivanenko YP, Avella A, et al. Neuromuscular adjustments of gait associated with unstable conditions. 2020;(2011):2867-2882. doi:10.1152/jn.00029.2015
- 42. Allen JL, Franz JR. The motor repertoire of older adult fallers may constrain their response to balance perturbations. *J Neurophysiol.* 2018;120(5):2368-2378. doi:10.1152/jn.00302.2018
- 43. Ghionzoli A, Micera S. Age-related modifications of muscle synergies and spinal cord activity during locomotion. *J Neurophysiol*. 2010;104(4):2092-2102. doi:10.1152/jn.00525.2009.
- 44. Bru L, Ekizos A, Kibele A, Schwenk M, Santuz A, Bru L. Neuromotor dynamics of human locomotion in challenging settings. 2020;23(1). doi:10.1016/j.isci.2019.100796
- 45. Gebel A, Lüder B, Granacher U. Effects of increasing balance task difficulty on postural sway and muscle activity in healthy adolescents. *Front Physiol.* 2019;10(September):1-13. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.01135
- 46. Iwamoto Y, Takahashi M, Shinkoda K. Muscle co-contraction in elderly people change due to postural stability during single-leg standing. *J Physiol Anthropol.* 2017;36(1):1-7. doi:10.1186/s40101-017-0159-1
- 47. Benjuya N, Melzer I, Kaplanski J. Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2004;59(2):M166-M171. doi:10.1093/gerona/59.2.m166
- 48. Maurer C, Mergner T, Peterka RJ. Multisensory control of human upright stance. *Exp brain Res.* 2006;171(2):231-250. doi:10.1007/s00221-005-0256-y
- Winter DA, Patla AE, Prince F, Ishac M, Gielo-perczak K. Stiffness control of balance in quiet standing. *J Neurophysiol.* 1998;80(3):1211-1221. doi:10.1152/jn.1998.80.3.1211
- 50. Hof AL, Duysens J. Responses of human ankle muscles to mediolateral balance perturbations during walking. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2018;57:69-82. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2017.11.009
- Reimann H, Fettrow T, Thompson ED, Jeka JJ. Neural control of balance during walking. *Front Physiol.* 2018;9:1-13. doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.01271
- 52. Manchester D, Woollacott M, Zederbauer-hylton N, Marin O. Visual , vestibular and somatosensory contributions to balance control in the older adult. 1989;44(4):118-127. doi:10.1093/geronj/44.4.m118
- 53. Hof AL. The equations of motion for a standing human reveal three mechanisms for balance. *J Biomech*.

2007;40(2):451-457. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.12.016

- 54. Afschrift M, De Groote F, Verschueren S, Jonkers I. Increased sensory noise and not muscle weakness explains changes in non-stepping postural responses following stance perturbations in healthy elderly. *Gait Posture*. 2018;59:122-127. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.10.003
- Hsu W, Chou L, Woollacott M. Age-related changes in joint coordination during balance recovery. 2013;35:1299-1309. doi:10.1007/s11357-012-9422-x
- 56. Taube W, Gruber M, Beck S, Faist M, Gollhofer A, Schubert M. Cortical and spinal adaptations induced by balance training: Correlation between stance stability and corticospinal activation. *Acta Physiol.* 2007;189(4):347-358. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2007.01665.x
- 57. Keller M, Pfusterschmied J, Buchecker M, Müller E, Taube W. Improved postural control after slackline training is accompanied by reduced H-reflexes. *Scand J Med Sci Sport.* 2012;22(4):471-477. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01268.x
- 58. Donath L, Roth R, Rueegge A, Groppa M, Zahner L, Faude O. Effects of slackline training on balance, jump performance & muscle activity in young children. Int J Sports Med. 2013;34(12):1093-1098. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1337949
- 59. Hirase T, Inokuchi S, Matsusaka N, Okita M. Effects of a balance training program using a foam rubber pad in community-based older adults: a randomized controlled trial. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2015;38(2):62-70. doi:10.1519/JPT.00000000000023
- 60. Mille M-L, Johnson-Hilliard M, Martinez KM, Zhang Y, Edwards BJ, Rogers MW. One step, two steps, three steps more... directional vulnerability to falls in community-dwelling older people. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biomed Sci Med Sci.* 2013;68(12):1540-1548. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt062
- Mansfield A, Peters AL, Liu BA, Maki BE. A perturbation-based balance training program for older adults: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr.* 2007;7(1):12. doi:doi:10.1186/1471-2318-7-12
- 62. Ogaya S, Ikezoe T, Soda N, Ichihashi N. Effects of balance training using wobble boards in the elderly. *Strength Cond.* 2011;25(9):2616-2622. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31820019cf
- Martinez-Amat A, Hita-Contreras F, Lomas-Vega R, Caballero Martinez I, Alvarez PJ, Martínez-Lopez E. Effects of 12-week proprioception training program on postural stability, gait, and balance in older adults: A controlled clinical trial. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2013;27(8):2180-2188. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31827da35f
- 64. Commissaris D, Nieuwenhuijzen P, Overeem S, De Vos A, Duysens JEJ, Bloem BR. Dynamic posturography using a new movable multidirectional platform driven by gravity. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2002;113(1):73-84. doi:10.1016/s0165-0270(01)00477-0
- 65. Tsai Y-C, Hsieh L-F, Yang S. Age-related changes in posture response under a continuous and unexpected perturbation. *J Biomech.* 2014;47(2):482-490. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2013.10.047
- 66. Maeda Y, Tanaka T, Nakajima Y, Shimizu K. Analysis of postural adjustment responses to perturbation stimulus by surface tilts in the feet-together position. *J Med Biol Eng.* 2011;31(4):301-305. doi:10.5405/JMBE.867
- 67. Maki BE, McIlroy WE. Postural control in the older adult. Clin Geriatr Med. 1996;12(4):635-658.
- 68. Kümmel J, Kramer A, Giboin LS, Gruber M. Specificity of balance training in healthy individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* 2016;46(9):1261-1271. doi:10.1007/s40279-016-0515-z

- Taubert M, Lohmann G, Margulies DS, Villringer A, Ragert P. Long-term effects of motor training on resting-state networks and underlying brain structure. *Neuroimage*. 2011;57(4):1492-1498. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.05.078
- 70. Taubert M, Draganski B, Anwander A, et al. Dynamic properties of human brain structure: Learningrelated changes in cortical areas and associated fiber connections. *J Neurosci.* 2010;30(35):11670-11677. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2567-10.2010
- 71. Taubert M, Mehnert J, Pleger B, Villringer A. Rapid and specific gray matter changes in M1 induced by balance training. *Neuroimage*. 2016;133:399-407. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.03.017
- Trimble MH, Koceja DM. Modulation of the triceps surae h-reflex with training. *Int J Neurosci.* 1994;76(3-4):293-303. doi:10.3109/00207459408986011
- Schinkel-Ivy A, Duncan CA. The effects of short-term and long-term experiences on co-contraction of lower extremity postural control muscles during continuous, multi-directional support-surface perturbations. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2018;39(September 2017):42-48. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2018.01.008
- 74. Nagai K, Yamada M, Uemura K, Yamada Y, Ichihashi N, Tsuboyama T. Differences in muscle coactivation during postural control between healthy older and young adults. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2011;53(3):338-343. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2011.01.003
- Sawers A, Allen JL, Ting LH. Long-term training modifies the modular structure and organization of walking balance control. *J Neurophysiol.* 2015;114(6):3359-3373. doi:10.1152/jn.00758.2015
- 76. Hayes HB, Chvatal SA, French MA, Ting LH, Trumbower RD. Neuromuscular constraints on muscle coordination during overground walking in persons with chronic incomplete spinal cord injury. *Clin Neurophysiol.* 2015;125(10):2024-2035. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2014.02.001.Neuromuscular
- 77. Routson RL, Kautz SA, Neptune RR. Modular organization across changing task demands in healthy and poststroke gait. *Physiol Rep.* 2014;2(6):1-14. doi:10.14814/phy2.12055
- Schut IM, Engelhart D, Pasma JH, Aarts RGKM, Schouten AC. Compliant support surfaces affect sensory reweighting during balance control. *Gait Posture*. 2017;53:241-247. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.02.004
- 79. Raymakers JA, Samson MM, Verhaar HJJ. The assessment of body sway and the choice of the stability parameter(s). *Gait Posture*. 2005;21(1):48-58. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2003.11.006
- 80. Ivanenko YP, Levik YS, Talis VL, Gurfinkel VS. Human equilibrium on unstable support: the importance of feet-support interaction. *Neurosci Lett.* 1997;235(3):109-112. doi:10.1016/s0304-3940(97)00721-0
- Kiers H, Brumagne S, Van Dieen J, van der Wees P, Vanhees L. Ankle proprioception is not targeted by exercises on an unstable surface. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2012;112(4):1577-1585. doi:10.1007/s00421-011-2124-8
- 82. Taube W, Gruber M, Gollhofer A. Spinal and supraspinal adaptations associated with balance training and their functional relevance. *Acta Physiol.* 2008;193(2):101-116. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2008.01850.x
- Koceja DM, Markus CA, Trimble MH. Postural modulation of the soleus H reflex in young and old subjects. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Mot Control.* 1995;97(6):387-393. doi:10.1016/0924-980x(95)00163-f
- Kawaishi Y, Domen K. The relationship between dynamic balancing ability and posture-related modulation of the soleus H-reflex. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2016;26:120-124. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.11.010
- 85. Tokuno CD, Taube W, Cresswell AG. An enhanced level of motor cortical excitability during the control of human standing. *Acta Physiol.* 2009;195(3):385-395. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2008.01898.x
- Kim K, Hart JM, Hertel J. Influence of body position on fibularis longus and soleus Hoffmann reflexes. *Gait Posture*. 2013;37(1):138-140. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.06.009
- Pinar S, Kitano K, Koceja DM. Role of vision and task complexity on soleus H-reflex gain. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2010;20(2):354-358. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2009.03.002
- 88. Koceja DM, Mynark RG. Comparison of heteronymous monosynaptic Ia facilitation in young and elderly subjects in supine and standing positions. Int J Neurosci. 2000;104(1):1-15. doi:10.3109/00207450009035005
- Cham R, Perera S, Studenski SA, Bohnen NI. Striatal dopamine denervation and sensory integration for balance in middle-aged and older adults. *Gait Posture*. 2007;26(4):516-525. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.11.204
- 90. Kahya M, Moon S, Ranchet M, et al. Brain activity during dual task gait and balance in aging and agerelated neurodegenerative conditions: A systematic review. *Exp Gerontol.* 2019;128(July):110756. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2019.110756
- 91. Tucker MG, Kavanagh JJ, Morrison S, Barrett RS. Voluntary sway and rapid orthogonal transitions of voluntary sway in young adults, and low and high fall-risk older adults. *Clin Biomech*. 2009;24(8):597-605. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.06.002
- 92. Melzer I, Benjuya N, Kaplanski J. Age-related changes of postural control: Effect of cognitive tasks. *Gerontology*. 2001;47(4):189-194. doi:10.1159/000052797
- 93. Oomen NMCW, Reeves NP, Priess MC, Dieën JH Van. Trunk muscle coactivation is tuned to changes in task dynamics to improve responsiveness in a seated balance task. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2015;25(5):765-772. doi:doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.07.001
- 94. Angulo-Kinzler RM, Mynark RG, Koceja DM. Soleus H-reflex gain in elderly and young adults: Modulation due to body position. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 1998;53(2):120-125. doi:10.1093/gerona/53A.2.M120
- 95. Hermens HJ, Freriks B, Disselhorst-Klug C, Rau G. Development of recommendations for SEMG sensors and sensor placement procedures. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2000;10(5):361-374. doi:10.1016/S1050-6411(00)00027-4
- 96. Zehr PE. Considerations for use of the Hoffmann reflex in exercise studies. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2002;86(6):455-468. doi:10.1007/s00421-002-0577-5
- 97. Gruber M, Taube W, Gollhofer A, Beck S, Amtage F, Schubert M. Training-specific adaptations of H-and stretch reflexes in human soleus muscle. *J Mot Behav.* 2007;39(1):68-78. doi:10.3200/JMBR.39.1.68-78
- Neptune RR, McGowan CP. Muscle contributions to frontal plane angular momentum during walking. *J Biomech.* 2016;49(13):2975-2981. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.07.016
- 99. Cohen JW, Gallina A, Ivanova TD, T. V, J. MD, Garland SJ. Regional activation of the ankle plantarflexor muscles associated with standing external perturbations in different direction (submitted). J Neurophysiol. 2018;238(1):39-50. doi:10.1007/s00221-019-05696-8
- 100. Sozzi S, Honeine JL, Do MC, Schieppati M. Leg muscle activity during tandem stance and the control of body balance in the frontal plane. *Clin Neurophysiol.* 2013;124(6):1175-1186.

doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2012.12.001

- 101. Capaday C, Stein RB. Amplitude modulation of the soleus H-reflex in the human during walking and standing. *J Neurosci.* 1986;6(5):1308-1313. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.06-05-01308.1986
- 102. Kingma I, de Looze MP, Toussaint HM, Klijnsma HG, Bruijnen TBM. Validation of a full body 3-D dynamic linked segment model. *Hum Mov Sci.* 1996;15(6):833-860. doi:10.1016/S0167-9457(96)00034-6
- 103. Hoffman MA, Koceja DM. The effects of vision and task complexity on Hoffmann reflex gain. Brain Res. 1995;700(1-2):303-307. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(95)01082-7
- 104. Bove M, Trompetto C, Abbruzzese G, Schieppati M. The posture-related interaction between Ia-afferent and descending input on the spinal reflex excitability in humans. *Neurosci Lett.* 2006;397:301-306. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.12.049
- 105. Verrier MC. Alterations in H reflex magnitude by variations in baseline EMG excitability. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol.* 1985;60(6):492-499. doi:10.1016/0013-4694(85)91109-5
- 106. Funase K, Miles TS. Observations on the variability of the H reflex in human soleus. *Muscle and Nerve*. 1999;22(3):341-346. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4598(199903)22:3<341::AID-MUS6>3.0.CO;2-R
- 107. Taube W, Leukel C, Schubert M, Gruber M, Rantalainen T, Gollhofer A. Differential modulation of spinal and corticospinal excitability during drop jumps. *J Neurophysiol.* 2019;99:1243-1252. doi:10.1152/jn.01118.2007.
- 108. Muehlbauer T, Mettler C, Roth R, Granacher U. One-leg standing performance and muscle activity: Are there limb differences? *J Appl Biomech*. 2014;30(3):407-414. doi:10.1123/jab.2013-0230
- Llewellyn M, Yang JF, Prochazka A. Human H-reflexes are smaller in difficult beam walking than in normal treadmill walking. *Exp Brain Res.* 1990;83(1):22-28. doi:10.1007/BF00232189
- 110. deVries HA, Wiswell RA, Romero GT, Heckathorne E. Changes with age in monosynaptic reflexes elicited by mechanical and electrical stimulation. *Am J Phys Med.* 1985;64(2):71-81.
- Earles DR, Koceja DM, Shively CW. Environmental changes in soleus H-reflex excitability in young and elderly subjects. *Int J Neurosci.* 2000;105(1-4):1-13. doi:10.3109/00207450009003261
- 112. Solopova IA, Kazennikov O V, Deniskina NB, Levik YS, Ivanenko YP. Postural instability enhances motor responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation in humans. *Neurosci Lett.* 2003;337(1):25-28. doi:10.1016/s0304-3940(02)01297-1
- Papegaaij S, Baudry S, Négyesi J, Taube W, Hortobágyi T. Intracortical inhibition in the soleus muscle is reduced during the control of upright standing in both young and old adults. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2016;116(5):959-967. doi:10.1007/s00421-016-3354-6
- Selen LPJ, Van Dieën JH, Beek PJ. Impedance modulation and feedback corrections in tracking targets of variable size and frequency. *J Neurophysiol.* 2006;96(5):2750-2759. doi:10.1152/jn.00552.2006
- 115. Baudry S, Maerz AH, Enoka RM. Presynaptic modulation of Ia afferents in young and old adults when performing force and position control. *J Neurophysiol.* 2010;103(2):623-631. doi:10.1152/jn.00839.2009
- 116. Thompson JD, Plummer P, Franz JR. Age and falls history effects on antagonist leg muscle coactivation during walking with balance perturbations. *Clin Biomech.* 2018;59(September):94-100. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2018.09.011
- 117. Acuña SA, Francis CA, Franz JR, Thelen DG. The effects of cognitive load and optical flow on antagonist leg muscle coactivation during walking for young and older adults. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2019;44:8-14. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2018.11.003

- Selen LPJ, Beek PJ, Van Dieën JH. Can co-activation reduce kinematic variability? A simulation study. *Biol Cybern.* 2005;93(5):373-381. doi:10.1007/s00422-005-0015-y
- Lesinski M, Hortobágyi T, Muehlbauer T, Gollhofer A, Granacher U. Dose-response relationships of balance training in healthy young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* 2015;45(4):557-576. doi:10.1007/s40279-014-0284-5
- 120. Lesinski M, Hortobágyi T, Muehlbauer T, Gollhofer A, Granacher U. Effects of balance training on balance performance in healthy older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* 2015;45(12):1721-1738. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0375-y
- 121. Ruffieux J, Mouthon A, Keller M, Wälchli M, Taube W. Behavioral and neural adaptations in response to five weeks of balance training in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *J Negat Results Biomed.* 2017;16(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/s12952-017-0076-1
- 122. Tucker KJ, Tuncer M, Türker KS. A review of the H-reflex and M-wave in the human triceps surae. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2005;24(5-6):667-688. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2005.09.010
- 123. Crone C, Hultborn H, Mazières L, Morin C, Nielsen J, Pierrot-Deseilligny E. Sensitivity of monosynaptic test reflexes to facilitation and inhibition as a function of the test reflex size: a study in man and the cat. *Exp Brain Res.* 1990;81(1):35-45. doi:10.1007/BF00230098
- 124. Knikou M. The H-reflex as a probe: Pathways and pitfalls. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2008;171(1):1-12. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.02.012
- 125. Lagerquist O, Zehr EP, Docherty D. Increased spinal reflex excitability is not associated with neural plasticity underlying the cross-education effect. *J Appl Physiol.* 2006;100(1):83-90. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00533.2005
- 126. Giboin LS, Loewe K, Hassa T, et al. Cortical, subcortical and spinal neural correlates of slackline traininginduced balance performance improvements. *Neuroimage*. 2019;202:116061. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116061
- 127. World Health Organization. WHo Global Report on Falls Prevention in Older Age. Vol 15.; 2007. doi:10.1353/jowh.2004.0010
- 128. Chiba R, Takakusaki K, Ota J, Yozu A, Haga N. Human upright posture control models based on multisensory inputs; in fast and slow dynamics. *Neurosci Res.* 2016;104:96-104. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2015.12.002
- 129. Inglis JT, Horak FB, Shupert CL, Jones-Rycewicz C. The importance of somatosensory information in triggering and scaling automatic postural responses in humans. *Exp Brain Res.* 1994;101(1):159-164. doi:10.1007/BF00243226
- Liu X, Bhatt T, Wang S, Yang F, Pai YC (Clive). Retention of the "first-trial effect" in gait-slip among community-living older adults. *GeroScience*. 2017;39(1):93-102. doi:10.1007/s11357-017-9963-0
- 131. Rieger MM, Papegaaij S, Pijnappels M, Steenbrink F, van Dieën JH. Transfer and retention effects of gait training with anterior-posterior perturbations to postural responses after medio-lateral gait perturbations in older adults. *Clin Biomech.* 2020;75(September 2019):104988. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2020.104988
- 132. Coats RO, Wilson AD, Snapp-Childs W, Fath AJ, Bingham GP. The 50s cliff: perceptuo-motor learning rates across the lifespan. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(1):e85758. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085758
- 133. Berghuis KMM, Veldman MP, Solnik S, Koch G, Zijdewind I, Hortobágyi T. Neuronal mechanisms of

motor learning and motor memory consolidation in healthy old adults. Age (Omaha). 2015;37(3):1-18. doi:10.1007/s11357-015-9779-8

- 134. Cadore EL, Casas-Herrero A, Zambom-Ferraresi F, et al. Multicomponent exercises including muscle power training enhance muscle mass, power output, and functional outcomes in institutionalized frail nonagenarians. *Age (Omaha)*. 2014;36(2):773-785. doi:10.1007/s11357-013-9586-z
- Yu CH, Piao YJ, Kim K, Kwon TK. The effects of an 8-weeks training on postural control for the elderly. Int J Precis Eng Manuf. 2014;15(1):161-168. doi:10.1007/s12541-013-0320-7
- Leiros-Rodríguez R, García-Soidan JL. Balance Training in Elderly Women Using Public Parks. *J Women Aging*. 2014;26(3):207-218. doi:10.1080/08952841.2014.888220
- 137. Houdijk H, Brown SE, Van Dieën JH. Relation between postural sway magnitude and metabolic energy cost during upright standing on a compliant surface. *J Appl Physiol.* 2015;119(6):696-703. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00907.2014
- 138. Koelewijn A, van den Bogert A. Antagonistic co-contraction can minimise muscular effort in systems with uncertainty. 2020:1-23. doi:10.1101/2020.07.07.191197
- 139. Alizadehsaravi L, Bruijn SM, Maas H, Dieën JH Van. Modulation of soleus muscle H reflexes and ankle muscle co - contraction with surface compliance during unipedal balancing in young and older adults. *Exp Brain Res.* 2020;(0123456789). doi:10.1007/s00221-020-05784-0
- Payton OD. Introduction to motor behavior: A neuropsychological approach. *Phys Ther.* 1978;58(5):646. doi:10.1093/ptj/58.5.646
- 141. Koceja DM, Mynark RG. Comparison of heteronymous monosynaptic Ia facilitation in young and elderly subjects in supine and standing positions. Int J Neurosci. 2000;104(1):1-15. doi:10.3109/00207450009035005
- 142. Mynark RG, Koceja DM. Effects of age on the spinal stretch reflex. 2001;17(3):188-203. doi:10.1123/jab.17.3.188
- 143. Trimble MH, Koceja DM. Effect of a reduced base of support in standing and balance training on the soleus H-reflex. Int J Neurosci. 2001;106(1-2):1-20. doi:10.3109/00207450109149734
- 144. Taube W, Kullmann N, Leukel C, Kurz O, Amtage F, Gollhofer A. Differential reflex adaptations following sensorimotor and strength training in young elite athletes. Int J Sports Med. 2007;28(12):999-1005. doi:10.1055/s-2007-964996
- 145. Mynark RG, Koceja DM. Down training of the elderly soleus H reflex with the use of a spinally induced balance perturbation. *J Appl Physiol*. 2002;93(1):127-133. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00007.2001
- Scaglioni G, Ferri A, Minetti AE, et al. Plantar flexor activation capacity and H reflex in older adults: Adaptations to strength training. *J Appl Physiol.* 2002;92(6):2292-2302. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00367.2001
- 147. Lauber B, Keller M, Gollhofer A, Müller E, Taube W. Spinal reflex plasticity in response to alpine skiing in the elderly. *Scand J Med Sci Sport*. 2011;21:62-68. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01343.x
- Baudry S, Collignon S, Duchateau J. Influence of age and posture on spinal and corticospinal excitability. *Exp Gerontol.* 2015;69:62-69. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2015.06.006
- 149. Trimble MH, Du PF, Brunt D, Thompson FJ. Modulation of triceps surae H-reflexes as a function of the reflex activation history during standing and stepping. *Brain Res.* 2000;858(2):274-283. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(00)01956-9

- 150. Sefton JM, Hicks-Little CA, Koceja DM, Cordova ML. Modulation of soleus H-reflex by presynaptic spinal mechanisms during varying surface and ankle brace conditions. *Neurophysiol Clin*. 2007;37(1):15-21. doi:10.1016/j.neucli.2007.01.007
- 151. Jeon HS, Kukulka CG, Brunt D, Behrman AL, Thompson FJ. Soleus H-reflex modulation and paired reflex depression from prone to standing and from standing to walking. *Int J Neurosci.* 2007;117(12):1661-1675. doi:10.1080/00207450601067158
- Guan H, Koceja DM. Effects of long-term Tai Chi practice on balance and H-reflex characteristics. Am J Chin Med. 2011;39(2):251-260. doi:10.1142/S0192415X11008798
- 153. Bisson E, Contant B, Sveistrup H, Lajoie Y. Functional balance and dual-task reaction times in older adults are improved by virtual reality and biofeedback training. *Cyberpsychology Behav.* 2007;10(1):16-23. doi:10.1089/cpb.2006.9997
- 154. Nagy E, Feher-Kiss A, Barnai M, Domján-Preszner A, Angyan L, Horvath G. Postural control in elderly subjects participating in balance training. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2007;100(1):97-104. doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0407-x
- 155. Kiers H, Van Dieën J, Dekkers H, Wittink H, Vanhees L. A systematic review of the relationship between physical activities in sports or daily life and postural sway in upright stance. *Sport Med.* 2013;43(11):1171-1189. doi:10.1007/s40279-013-0082-5
- 156. Cappozzo A, Catani F, Della Croce U, Leardini A. Position and orientation in space of bones during movement: anatomical frame definition and determination. *Clin Biomech.* 1995;10(4):171-178. doi:10.1016/0268-0033(95)91394-T
- 157. Sherrington C, Michaleff ZA, Fairhall N, et al. Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(24):1749-1757. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096547
- Giboin LS, Gruber M, Kramer A. Task-specificity of balance training. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2015;44:22-31. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2015.08.012
- 159. Chambers AJ, Cham R. Slip-related muscle activation patterns in the stance leg during walking. *Gait Posture*. 2007;25(4):565-572. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.06.007
- 160. Saliba CM, Rainbow MJ, Selbie WS, Deluzio KJ, Scott SH. Co-contraction uses dual control of agonistantagonist muscles to improve motor performance. *bioRxiv*. January 2020:2020.03.16.993527. doi:10.1101/2020.03.16.993527
- Kim K-M, Ingersoll CD, Hertel J. Altered postural modulation of Hoffmann reflex in the soleus and fibularis longus associated with chronic ankle instability. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2012;22(6):997-1002. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2012.06.002
- Cardona A, Rudomin P. Activation of brainstem serotoninergic pathways decreases homosynaptic depression of monosynaptic responses of frog spinal motoneurons. *Brain Res.* 1983;280(2):373-378. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(83)90070-7
- 163. Cadore EL, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Sinclair A, Izquierdo M. Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: A systematic review. *Rejuvenation Res.* 2013;16(2):105-114. doi:10.1089/rej.2012.1397
- 164. Aruin AS. Enhancing anticipatory postural adjustments: a novel approach to balance rehabilitation. 2016;6(2). doi:10.4172/2165-7025.1000e144.

- 165. Nashner LM, Cordo PJ, Hospital GS. Relation of automatic postural responses and reaction-time voluntary movements of human leg muscles. 1981;43(3-4):395-405. doi:10.1007/BF00238382
- Park S, Horak FB, Kuo AD. Postural feedback responses scale with biomechanical constraints in human standing. 2004;154:417-427. doi:10.1007/s00221-003-1674-3
- 167. Massion J. Movement, posture and equilibrium: interaction and coordination. *Prog Neurobiol*. 1992;38(1):35-56. doi:10.1016/0301-0082(92)90034-c
- Santos MJ, Kanekar N, Aruin AS. The role of anticipatory postural adjustments in compensatory control of posture: 1 . Electromyographic analysis. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2010;20(3):388-397. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2009.06.006
- Santos MJ, Kanekar N, Aruin AS. The role of anticipatory postural adjustments in compensatory control of posture: 2. Biomechanical analysis. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* 2011;20(3):398-405. doi:doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.01.002
- Hof AL. The equations of motion for a standing human reveal three mechanisms for balance. *J Biomech*. 2007;40(2):451-457. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.12.016
- 171. Afschrift M, Deursen R Van, Groote F De, Jonkers I. Increased use of stepping strategy in response to medio-lateral perturbations in the elderly relates to altered reactive tibialis anterior activity. *Gait Posture*. 2019;68:575-582. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2019.01.010
- 172. Mcllroy WE, Maki BE. Age-related changes in compensatory stepping in response to unpredictable perturbations. 1996;51(6):289-296. doi:10.1093/gerona/51a.6.m289
- 173. Mille M, Johnson ME, Martinez KM, Rogers MW. Age-dependent differences in lateral balance recovery through protective stepping. 2005;20:607-616. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2005.03.004
- 174. Nashner LM. The organization of human postural movements: A formal basis and experimental synthesis. 1985;8:135-172. doi:10.1017/S0140525X00020008
- 175. Welch TDJ, Ting LH. A feedback model reproduces muscle activity during human postural responses to support-surface translations. *J Neurophysiol.* 2008;99(2):1032-1038. doi:10.1152/jn.01110.2007
- 176. Chvatal SA, Ting LH. Voluntary and reactive recruitment of locomotor muscle synergies during perturbed walking. *J Neurosci.* 2012;32(35):12237-12250. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6344-11.2012
- 177. Kuo AD, Zajac FE. Human standing posture: multi-joint movement strategies based on biomechanical constraints. *Prog Brain Res.* 1993;97:349-358. doi:10.1016/s0079-6123(08)62294-3
- 178. Horak FB, Nashner LM, Diener HC. Postural strategies associated with somatosensory and vestibular loss. *Exp Brain Res.* 1990;82(1):167-177. doi:10.1007/BF00230848
- 179. Alcock L, Brien TDO, Vanicek N. Association between somatosensory, visual and vestibular contributions to postural control, reactive balance capacity and healthy ageing in older women. *Health Care Women Int.* 2018;39(12):1368-1382. doi:10.1080/07399332.2018.1499106
- Amiridis IG, Hatzitaki V, Arabatzi F. Age-induced modifications of static postural control in humans. 2003;350:137-140. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(03)00878-4
- Afschrift XM, Jonkers I, Schutter J De, Groote F De. Mechanical effort predicts the selection of ankle over hip strategies in nonstepping postural responses. 2020;116:1937-1945. doi:10.1152/jn.00127.2016
- Shaffer SW, Harrison AL. Perspective aging of the somatosensory system: a translational perspective. 2007;87:193-207. doi:10.2522/ptj.20060083
- 183. Oliveira AS, Silva PB, Lund ME, Farina D, Kersting UG. Balance training enhances motor coordination

during a perturbed sidestep cutting task. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2017;47(11):853-862. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.6980

- 184. Routson RL, Clark DJ, Bowden MG, Kautz SA, Neptune RR. The influence of locomotor rehabilitation on module quality and post-stroke hemiparetic walking performance. *Gait Posture*. 2013;38(3):511-517. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.01.020
- 185. Alizadehsaravi L, Koster R, Muijres W, Maas H, Bruijn S, Dieen JH van. The underlying mechanisms of improved balance after short- and long-term training in older adults. *bioRxiv*. 2020. doi:10.1101/2020.10.01.322313
- 186. Yu E, Abe M, Masani K, et al. Evaluation of postural control in quiet standing using center of mass acceleration: comparison among the young, the elderly, and people with stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89(6):1133-1139. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.10.047
- Chvatal SA, Torres-Oviedo G, Safavynia SA, Ting LH. Common muscle synergies for control of center of mass and force in nonstepping and stepping postural behaviors. *J Neurophysiol.* 2011;106(2):999-1015. doi:10.1152/jn.00549.2010
- Rubenstein LZ, Josephson KR, Robbins AS. Falls in the nursing home. Ann Intern Med. 1994;121(6):442-451. doi:0.7326/0003-4819-121-6-199409150-00009
- Berg WP, Alessio HM, Mills EM, Tong C. Circumstances and consequences of falls in independent community-dwelling older adults. *Age Ageing*. 1997;26(4):261-268. doi:10.1093/ageing/26.4.261
- 190. Granacher U, Muehlbauer T, Bridenbaugh S, Bleiker E, Wehrle A, Kressig RW. Balance training and multi-task performance in seniors. *Int J Sports Med.* 2010;31(5):353-358. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1248322
- 191. Martínez-Amat, Antonio; Hita-Contreras, Fidel; Lomas-Vega, Rafael; Caballero-Martínez, Isabel; Alvarez, Pablo J.; Martínez-López E. Effects of 12-week proprioception training program on postural stability, gait, and balance in older adults: A controlled clinical trial. *J Strength Cond.* 2013;27(8):2180-2188. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31827da35f
- 192. Toebes MJP, Hoozemans MJM, Furrer R, Dekker J, Van Dieën JH. Local dynamic stability and variability of gait are associated with fall history in elderly subjects. *Gait Posture*. 2012;36(3):527-531. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.05.016
- 193. Hof AL, Gazendam MGJ, Sinke WE. The condition for dynamic stability. *J Biomech.* 2005;38(1):1-8. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.03.025
- 194. Arvin M, Mazaheri M, Hoozemans MJM, et al. Effects of narrow base gait on mediolateral balance control in young and older adults. *J Biomech*. 2016;49(7):1264-1267. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.03.011
- 195. Kluft N, Bruijn SM, Luu MJ, Dieën JH va., Carpenter MG, Pijnappels M. The influence of postural threat on strategy selection in a stepping-down paradigm. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):1-9. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-66352-8
- 196. D'Avella A, Saltiel P, Bizzi E. Combinations of muscle synergies in the construction of a natural motor behavior. Nat Neurosci. 2003;6(3):300-308. doi:10.1038/nn1010
- 197. Ivanenko YP, Cappellini G, Poppele RE, Lacquaniti F. Spatiotemporal organization of α-motoneuron activity in the human spinal cord during different gaits and gait transitions. Eur J Neurosci. 2008;27(12):3351-3368. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06289.x
- 198. Janshen L, Santuz A, Ekizos A, Arampatzis A. Fuzziness of muscle synergies in patients with multiple sclerosis indicates increased robustness of motor control during walking. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):1-14.

doi:10.1038/s41598-020-63788-w

- Chvatal SA, Ting LH. Common muscle synergies for balance and walking. *Front Comput Neurosci.* 2013;7:1-14. doi:10.3389/fncom.2013.00048
- 200. Baggen RJ, Dieën JH va., Roie E Van, et al. Age-related differences in muscle synergy organization during step ascent at different heights and directions. *Appl Sci.* 2020;10(6). doi:10.3390/app10061987
- 201. da Silva Costa AA, Moraes R, Hortobágyi T, Sawers A. Older adults reduce the complexity and efficiency of neuromuscular control to preserve walking balance. *Exp Gerontol.* 2020;140:111050. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2020.111050
- 202. Allen JL, Franz JR, Hill C, Carolina N. Control of Movement The motor repertoire of older adult fallers may constrain their response to balance perturbations. 2020;2368-2378. doi:10.1152/jn.00302.2018
- 203. Monaco V, Ghionzoli A, Micera S. Age-related modifications of muscle synergies and spinal cord activity during locomotion. *J Neurophysiol.* 2010;104(4):2092-2102. doi:10.1152/jn.00525.2009
- 204. d'Avella A. Modularity for motor control and motor learning. In: *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*. Vol 957. Springer, Cham; 2016:3-19. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-47313-0_1
- 205. Wang Y, Watanabe K, Asaka T. Effect of dance on multi-muscle synergies in older adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Geriatr.* 2019;19(1):340. doi:10.1186/s12877-019-1365-y
- 206. Alizadehsaravi L, Koster R, Muijres W, Maas H, Bruijn S, Dieen JH van. The underlying mechanisms of improved balance after short- and long-term training in older adults. *bioRxiv*. 2020. doi:10.1101/2020.10.01.322313
- 207. Kluft N, van Dieën JH, Pijnappels M. The degree of misjudgment between perceived and actual gait ability in older adults. *Gait Posture*. 2017;51:275-280. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2016.10.019
- 208. Hilliard MJ, Martinez KM, Janssen I, et al. Lateral balance factors predict future falls in community-living older adults. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2008;89(9):1708-1713. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2008.01.023
- 209. Maki BE, Holliday PJ, Topper AK. A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journals Gerontol.* 1994;49(2):M72-M84. doi:10.1093/geronj/49.2.M72
- 210. Sherrington C, Tiedemann A, Fairhall N, Close JCT, Lord SR. Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: an updated meta-analysis and best practice recommendations. *N S W Public Health Bull*. 2011;22(3-4):78-83. doi:10.1071/nb10056
- 211. Roerdink M, Coolen BH, Clairbois BHE, Lamoth CJC, Beek PJ. Online gait event detection using a large force platform embedded in a treadmill. *J Biomech.* 2008;41(12):2628-2632. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2008.06.023
- 212. Hurt CP, Rosenblatt N, Crenshaw JR, Grabiner MD. Variation in trunk kinematics influences variation in step width during treadmill walking by older and younger adults. *Gait Posture*. 2010;31(4):461-464. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.02.001
- 213. Bruijn SM, Van Dieën JH, Daffertshofer A. Beta activity in the premotor cortex is increased during stabilized as compared to normal walking. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2015;9(October):1-13. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00593
- 214. Rosenstein MT, Collins JJ, De Luca CJ. A practical method for calculating largest Lyapunov exponents from small data sets. *Phys D Nonlinear Phenom.* 1993;65(1):117-134. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2789(93)90009-P

- 215. Bruijn S. SjoerdBruijn/LocalDynamicStability: First release. May 2017. doi:10.5281/ZENODO.573285
- 216. Oliveira ASC, Gizzi L, Kersting UG, Farina D. Modular organization of balance control following perturbations during walking. *J Neurophysiol*. 2012;108(7):1895-1906. doi:10.1152/jn.00217.2012
- 217. Cappellini G, Ivanenko YP, Martino G, et al. Immature spinal locomotor output in children with cerebral palsy. *Front Physiol.* 2016;7(478):1-21. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00478
- 218. Santuz A, Ekizos A, Janshen L, Baltzopoulos V, Arampatzis A. The influence of footwear on the modular organization of running. *Front Physiol.* 2017;8(958). doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00958
- Harrison D, Kanji GK. The development of analysis of variance for circular data. J Appl Stat. 1988;15(2):197-223. doi:10.1080/02664768800000026
- 220. Park S-K, Kim S-J, Yoon TY, Lee S-M. Effects of circular gait training on balance, balance confidence in patients with stroke: a pilot study. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2018;30(5):685-688. doi:10.1589/jpts.30.685
- 221. Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, Lacquaniti F. Five basic muscle activation patterns account for muscle activity during human locomotion. *J Physiol.* 2004;556(1):267-282. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.057174
- 222. Clark DJ, Va MR. Motor modules of human locomotion : influence of EMG averaging , concatenation , and number of step cycles. 2014;8(335). doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00335
- 223. Cappellini G, Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, Lacquaniti F. Motor patterns in human walking and running. J Neurophysiol. 2006;95(6):3426-3437. doi:10.1152/jn.00081.2006
- 224. van den Hoorn W, Hodges PW, van Dieen JH, Hug F. Effect of acute noxious stimulation to the leg or back on muscle synergies during walking. *J Neurophysiol.* 2015;113(1):244-254. doi:10.1152/jn.00557.2014
- 225. Brooks S V, Faulkner JA. Skeletal muscle weakness in old age: underlying mechanisms. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1994;26(4):432-439.
- 226. Bemben MG, Massey BH, Bemben DA, Misner JE, Boileau RA. Isometric muscle force production as a function of age in healthy 20- to 74-yr-old men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1991;23(11):1302-1310.
- 227. Izquierdo M, Aguado X, Gonzalez R, Lopez JL, Häkkinen K. Maximal and explosive force production capacity and balance performance in men of different ages. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*. 1999;79(3):260-267. doi:10.1007/s004210050504
- 228. Granacher U, Gruber M, Strass D, Gollhofer A. The impact of sensorimotor training in elderly men on maximal and explosive force production capacity. *Dtsch Z Sportmed*. 2007;58(12):446-451.
- 229. Young WR, Mark Williams A. How fear of falling can increase fall-risk in older adults: Applying psychological theory to practical observations. *Gait Posture*. 2015;41(1):7-12. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.09.006
- 230. Thiamwong L, Suwanno J. Effects of simple balance training on balance performance and fear of falling in rural older adults. *Int J Gerontol.* 2014;8(3):143-146. doi:10.1016/j.ijge.2013.08.011
- 231. Kumar A, Delbaere K, Zijlstra GAR, et al. Exercise for reducing fear of falling in older people living in the community: Cochrane systematic review and Meta-Analysis. Age Ageing. 2016;45(3):345-352. doi:10.1093/ageing/afw036
- 232. Kempen GIJM, Zijlstra GAR, Van Haastregt JCM. The assessment of fear of falling with the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I). Development and psychometric properties in Dutch elderly. 2007;38(4):204-212. doi:10.1007/bf03074847
- 233. Lesinski M, Muehlbauer T, Gollhofer A. Effects of balance training on balance performance in healthy older adults : A systematic review and meta-analysis. 2015;45(12):1721-1738. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-

0375-у

- 234. Dunsky A. The effect of balance and coordination exercises on quality of life in older adults: A minireview. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2019;11(318):1-10. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2019.00318
- 235. Physical activity guidelines for Americans. Okla Nurse. 2008;53(4):25. doi:10.1249/fit.00000000000472
- 236. Kemmler W, Haberle L, Stengel S von. Effects of exercise on fracture reduction in older adults. Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(7):1937-1950. doi:10.1007/s00198-012-2248-7
- Qu X, Zhang X, Zhai Z, et al. Association between physical activity and risk of fracture. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2014;29(1):202-211. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2019
- 238. Rong K, Liu X, Wu X, et al. Increasing level of leisure physical activity could reduce the risk of hip fracture in older women. 2016;95(11):1-7. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000002984
- 239. Health Council of the Netherlands. Physical activity and risk of chronic diseases. Backgroud document to the Dutch physical activity guidelines 2017. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2017; publication no. 2017/08B.
- 240. Powell T, Bellin E, Ehrlich AR. Older adults and Covid-19: The most vulnerable, the hardest hit. *Hastings Cent Rep.* 2020;50(3):61-63. doi:10.1002/hast.1136
- 241. Nguyen LH, Drew DA, Graham MS, et al. Risk of COVID-19 among front-line health-care workers and the general community: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Public Heal.* 2020;5(9):475-483. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30164-X



